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OUR VALUES

We strive to be a GREAT company in all of our operations
and dealings with people. The GREAT values are

the foundation of our Company, and provide a core
commitment to achieve the best we can for all of
G-Resources’ stakeholders.

GREAT VALUES

G in value for all our stakeholders

R for our people, our communities and
for all stakeholders

E in everything we do

A to deliver on our commitments

T openness, honesty and

good governance
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G-Resources is a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange focusing on financial services business, principal
investment business, money lending business and real property
business (HKEx: 1051).
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Director(s)”) of G-Resources Group Limited (the “Company”
or “G-Resources”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“Group”), | hereby present to our shareholders the annual
results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023 (the “Year”). In 2023, the economy continued to be
dampened by the lingering effects of the COVID-19 pandemic,
geopolitical landscapes and trade tensions. Despite facing
economic challenges and persistent global uncertainties,
G-Resources continued to maintain stable business
development and strive to strengthen our market position to
expand our business in the long term.

During 2023, the Group continued to focus on our three main
businesses, namely financial services business, principal
investment business and real property business.

For our financial services business, the Group was pleased
to record a net profit during the Year. 2023 has been a
demanding Year for the financial services industry in Hong
Kong as we continued to face various challenges both globally
and regionally. Globally, there were ongoing geopolitical
issues, tightening monetary policies, and escalating
trade tensions between major economies, particularly the
continuation of the Sino-United States disputes which led
to increased volatility and lower investor sentiment. As a
result, the Hong Kong securities market remained in a tough
situation. Despite efforts to reopen the border between Hong
Kong and mainland China, signs of recovery remained slow,
and the initial public offering (the “IPO”) market in Hong
Kong continued to be sluggish in 2023. Many expected IPOs
in the pipeline were further delayed to 2024 or later. Amidst
such adverse market conditions, with great efforts from our
experienced management team, a well-established securities
trading infrastructure, strong client loyalty and multiple
sales channels, the Group’s financial services business
has demonstrated resilience and adaptability during such
challenging times and has remained in a steady position,
making unremitting efforts to improve itself.
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Despite the challenges in the past few years, Hong Kong
remains an attractive investment destination due to its strategic
location, well-developed financial infrastructure, and strong
ties to Mainland China. In 2024, as the global economy
and trade activities continue to recover from the impact of
the COVID-19 pandemic, along with the reopening of the
border and the resumption of international travel, there is an
expectation of improved economic conditions in 2024 which
will stimulate economic activities and facilitate cross-border
transactions. The Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
government has also shown its commitment to support the
securities market and promote IPO activities by implementing
various measures to enhance the competitiveness of the
securities market, including tax incentives, regulatory reforms,
and initiatives to attract more international companies to list in
Hong Kong. Hong Kong’s status as an international financial
center, coupled with its proximity to Mainland China, positions
it well to attract investors seeking exposure to both regional
and global growth opportunities. With the above, the Group
anticipates that the IPO market in Hong Kong will gradually
resume, enhancing liquidity and having a positive impact on
the overall financial market in Hong Kong. We will continue
to further strengthen our business competitiveness, optimise
resources allocation, and enhance our service quality.

For our principal investment business, the Group continued to
review its existing investment portfolio which we have invested
in over the past years. The Year remained difficult given the
global political and economic issues, including geopolitical
tensions, supply chain disruptions, inflationary pressures,
and tightened monetary policies, which led to uncertainties
in the macroeconomic environment. Our professional and
experienced investment team will continue to review our
existing investment portfolio and whenever suitable and
beneficial opportunities arise which can elevate the Group’s
overall profitability and returns, the Group may invest in the
same.
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For our real property business, the Group’s property
investments in Hong Kong brought us stable rental income
during the Year. With the lifting of restrictive travel measures
and the reopening of the China-Hong Kong border in 2023,
the Group actively explored quality and upscale properties
and real property investment opportunities in Hong Kong, as
well as in other countries and regions such as the Greater
Bay Area, North America and Europe. The Group grasped
an attractive opportunity during the Year to invest in a quality
commercial property in Canada which is expected to generate
stable income and long-term capital appreciation through
operational enhancement. This investment would also help to
diversify the Group’s property portfolio geographically.

Looking ahead, G-Resources remains confident in the Group’s
business operations and highly optimistic about our business
development and future performance. The management of the
Group will continue to review and adjust its business strategies
and focus on a regular basis to maximise returns and value
for all its shareholders. The Group is committed to explore all
possibilities to enhance our financial services business for
both individual and institutional clients, strengthening our asset
management capabilities, optimising resources allocation,
providing extensive corporate financial services. Our goal
is to become an integrated financial services provider with
international competitiveness to offer comprehensive services
and utmost benefits to all our loyal clients.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to thank our
management team and the entire staff team for their devoted
service during the Year, and express our sincere gratitude to
our shareholders for their continuing support for G-Resources.
| look forward to continuing to work with them to achieve
further development and greater success for the Company.

Li Zhongye, Cindy
Chairperson
Hong Kong, 27 March 2024
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The principal business segments of the Group are described below:

1.

FINANCIAL SERVICES BUSINESS

The Group is continuing to extend the scope of its
principal activities to offer a wide range of financial
services, including securities brokerage services,
placing and underwriting services, corporate finance
advisory services, provision of margin financing, money
lending business and investment advisory and asset
management services.

(a) Securities Dealing, Margin Financing and
Asset Management

The Group currently holds type 1 (dealing in
securities), type 2 (dealing in futures contracts), type
4 (advising on securities), type 5 (advising on futures
contracts), type 6 (advising on corporate finance),
and type 9 (asset management) licences under the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFQO”).

(b) Money Lending

The Company engaged in money lending
business in Hong Kong through its subsidiaries,
namely Global Access Development Limited and
Funderstone Finance Limited. Both companies
are incorporated in Hong Kong and hold a
money lender’s licence under the Money Lenders
Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong
Kong). The Group will continue to adopt a prudent
approach to manage risk and maintain the
profitability of the business.

PRINCIPAL INVESTMENT BUSINESS

The goal of our principal investment business is to
identify investment opportunities and to invest in different
industries, to provide better risk weighted return and
capital value to the Group.

The executive committee of the Company (“Executive
Committee”) is responsible for identifying, reviewing,
considering and approving different investment
opportunities taking into account the Group’s liquidity
requirements, risk to capital and reasonable returns on
investment with the risk taken.

We are also diversifying our investment portfolio under
our principal investment business. During the Year, the
Group invested in funds, bonds and equity investments
(including listed and unlisted).

REAL PROPERTY BUSINESS

The Group intends to continue to expand its property
portfolio on commercial properties in Hong Kong and
other countries and regions, but also in other types
of properties as and when appropriate investment
opportunities arise.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Li Zhongye, Cindy

Ms. Li Zhongye, Cindy, aged 55, was appointed as a chairperson
of the Company and non-executive Director on 12 October
2018. Ms. Li has twenty years of experience in finance and
information technology industry and possesses extensive
corporate management experience. She has been a board
director of WeAreHAH since January 2019, and a director of ZHRH
Corporation (a company listed on the OTC market of the United
States) since March 2022. Ms. Li also served as a director of
Sunny Education Inc.. Ms. Li obtained a medical degree in Capital
Medical University, the People’s Republic of China in 1992.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Leung Oi Kin

Mr. Leung Oi Kin, aged 49, was appointed as an executive
Director and company secretary of the Company on 8
November 2016 and 16 December 2016, respectively.
Mr. Leung is a director of various subsidiaries of the
Company. He has more than twenty years of experience in
accounting and financial management. He is a professional
accountant and a fellow member of the CPA Australia.
He is currently an independent non-executive director
of Austar Lifesciences Limited (whose shares are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)). Mr. Leung also worked in
PricewaterhouseCoopers audit and assurance services team.
Mr. Leung graduated from University of Adelaide, Australia
in 1997 with a bachelor’'s degree in commerce and obtained
the degree of master of business administration with honors
from the University of Chicago Booth School of Business in the
United States in 2022.

Leung Wai Yiu, Malcoln

Mr. Leung Wai Yiu, Malcoln, aged 42, was appointed as an
executive Director on 16 April 2018. Mr. Malcoln Leung is also
a member of the executive committee of the Board and Chief
Investment Officer of the Company. He is primarily responsible
for the Group’s investment, asset management and strategic
planning, as well as formulating the Group’s overall business
development directions and asset allocation strategy. He is
also responsible for the day-to-day operations and overall
management and development of the Group’s business. He is
a director of various subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Malcoln
Leung has over twenty years of extensive experience in asset
management, investment banking and technology industry,
based in the United States, Singapore and Hong Kong. Prior
to joining the Group in 2017, Mr. Malcoln Leung held key
positions in various multinational financial institutions and
investment banks, including Bank of America Merrill Lynch,
Standard Chartered and HSBC, and he was responsible for
leading global private equity investments and cross-border
merger and acquisition transactions, covering different
industries such as technology, real estate, financials, insurance
and healthcare. Mr. Malcoln Leung obtained a master’s degree
in business administration from the Massachusetts Institute of
Technology in the United States in 2008.

8 G-RESOURCES GROUP LIMITED 2023 ANNUAL REPORT

EHITES

ZFoh

FTHEELZL 555 RZE—/\F+A+=A8
BEZAARARAIXEFERIENTES - T+
ReREEAMBTERE-_TSL&R I
EREELXBEELR KB _T—hF—H
BAWeAreHAHEFEEEEERA T
% = A#E M ZHRH Corporation (7 E B 5 5h 32
SMELETHRARNERES - TLLTNhEA
LB BEXEEREBRAAGAIZES - F
TETR—NMNZFEFEARLNME G E 2
BINMSREEE T2 o

BITES

Rig @

RISHRSE - 495 RZE—X"F+—ANHB
RZE-—RF+ZA+ BRI EZEAHIT
EERARBzREIWE - BREERBERRFE
THBRARAMES BRI LUBERE
HEEA—_THELR HAEESITMER
MNEFMAEEFTSE BRAAREAHH
HRERRRI(EROREBEBEEXIMBERA
BB ER EMZBLIERITES -
REANMEREEF KESHMEBMEZ
MREFERG NDACTE - BREER—NANLESF
ERMAEREREERE  EEHESLE
i WRZEZZFEERZMIFIKRER IS
ERNESIRERELBE LS4 -

RIEE

RIETZERA 425 R-ZE—N\FEWA+ B
BEZAEENITEE - REELENBARF
BEETHITZEGKERARFREEREE °
BEFEBEAEEAOKEE  EETEMNBER
g LAEAAEBHETEEBESEREARANLE
EHATRERE - BAAEAEBEEKNAE
LENMERBEEMER - FAAAAE THE
NAMEE REZXLENREEERE  RE
RO RTEFABRER _TFLEELE
BIBRER - FNEEES R-ZZT—+F
MAREB AT REZLEDEFBEEMN -
BITMELEZREE BB RIEERTT
EITER  HEHESBELEREDIREE
MEFEFERS  BEBETRITEOR -
EihE @M REKEBEES REZL4E
R N\ FEEZEAMEABISERNEIRE
FERE T BT



INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Lo Wa Kei, Roy

Mr. Lo Wa Kei, Roy, aged 52, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 17 July 2017. Mr. Lo
is a practicing accountant in Hong Kong and is a certified
public accountant in Hong Kong, a fellow member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow
member of CPA Australia and a fellow of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. He serves as
the managing partner of SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited, which
is a full service accounting and consulting firm engaged in the
provision of, among other things, audit and business advisory
services. He is also a member of the 14" Shanghai Committee
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference,
the President of the Hong Kong Independent Non-Executive
Director Association from 2021 to 2022 and the Divisional
President 2019 — Greater China of CPA Australia. Mr. Lo
has over thirty years of experience in auditing, accounting,
risk management and finance and has been serving as an
independent non-executive director of Quam Plus International
Financial Limited (formerly known as China Tonghai
International Financial Limited) (a company listed on the
Stock Exchange). Mr. Lo also acts as an independent director
of New Hope Dairy Company Limited (a company listed on
Shenzhen Stock Exchange). He also served as an independent
non-executive director of a number of companies listed on the
Stock Exchange, including Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited,
China Oceanwide Holdings Limited (which was ordered to
be wound up on 20 December 2023), Sun Hing Vision Group
Holdings Limited, China Zhongwang Holdings Limited (which
was delisted on 13 April 2023) and Xinming China Holdings
Limited. Mr. Lo received a bachelor's degree of business
administration from The University of Hong Kong in 1993 and
a master’s degree of professional accounting from The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University in 2000.

Chen Gong

Mr. Chen Gong, aged 53, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 3 February 2017. Mr. Chen has
more than twenty years of extensive experience in finance
management, mergers & acquisitions, financing, negotiation
and restructuring in a cross-culture environment. Mr. Chen
has participated in cross-border merger & acquisition and
financing transactions. Mr. Chen is the founder and managing
director of DoubleOcean Financial Group, a financial advisory
company that facilitates the cross-border investments between
North America and China. He had also been involved in
the management of various public companies listed on the
Toronto Stock Exchange, in the capacity of director and/or
chief executive officer/chief financial officer. Mr. Chen was
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an independent director of Ord Mountain Resources Corp.
(whose shares are listed on TSX Venture Exchange NEX) and
Newmac Resources Inc. (whose shares are listed on TSX
Venture Exchange), respectively. Mr. Chen also worked in
various financial management positions at two Fortune 100
companies in the United States for about eight years. Mr. Chen
received a bachelor’'s degree in International Economics from
Peking (Beijing) University in 1992 and a master of business
administration (MBA) from the University of Arizona in 1997. He
is a Certified Public Accountant (CPA) in the United States.

Martin Que Meideng

Mr. Martin Que Meideng, aged 62, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 3 February 2017. Mr.
Que has over twenty-six years of extensive experience of
North American financial investment and management, and
as a Certified Financial Planner in North America, covering
tax planning, investment and risk management. Mr. Que is
a president and owner of Allvista Financial and Planning
Services Inc., British Columbia, Canada and a vice-president
of Marketing of Citistar Financial, British Columbia, Canada.
Mr. Que also served as a chief financial officer of Blue-O
Technology Inc., British Columbia, Canada, a fuel cell
technology company. He is also a member of the Million
Dollar Round Table (MDRT) of The Premier Association of
Financial Professionals®, a Certified Financial Planner of the
Financial Planning Standards Council and a Chartered Life
Underwriter of The American College of Financial Services. Mr.
Que received a bachelor of engineering from Wuhan College
of Geology in 1983 and a master of science from China
University of Geosciences in China in 1986.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Chan Chun Fung

Mr. Chan Chun Fung, aged 40, is a director and general
manager of Funderstone Securities Limited (“FSL"),
Funderstone Futures Limited (“FFL’) and Funderstone Asset
Management (HK) Limited (“FAML’). Mr. Chan has over ten
years of experience in the financial services industry. Since
2012, he has been licensed under the SFO as a responsible
officer for type 1, type 2, type 4, type 5 and type 9 regulated
activities, and licensed responsible officer for FSL, FFL
and FAML. With extensive financial industry experience
in various Chinese capital companies such as Dongxing
Securities (Hong Kong) Financial Holdings Limited, iFAST
Financial (HK) Limited, Ping An of China Securities (Hong
Kong) Company Limited, Huatai Financial Holdings (Hong
Kong) Limited, Huarong International Securities Limited and
Bright Smart Securities & Commodities Group Limited (whose
shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange),
Mr. Chan has built his strongest expertise in middle to back
office operations, information technology, client services and
business development. Mr. Chan obtained his bachelor’s
degree in commerce from Curtin University of Technology (now
known as “Curtin University”), Australia in 2007.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

BUSINESS REVIEW AND RESULTS EUEBERRSE
Below is a summary of the financial information: NTAEUBERE :
2023 2022
—EC-= —E-CF
USD’000 USD’000
FET FETT
Revenue W 2= 89,059 26,873
Other income Eplt A 25,055 9,086
Administrative expenses THRAX (7,533) (10,878)
Fair value changes of financial assets and R A FE:T 8 AL & szt A
investments in perpetual notes at fair BaceMBEERKAER
value through profit or loss BIREZATFEZD (100,528) (106,724)
Provision for expected credit losses on BEemEERPEEBE
financial assets, net FRE (2,126) (2,643)
Decrease in fair value of investment HEMERAFERD
properties (728) (281)
Other gain/(loss) Helzs,(EB8) 3,882 (2,632)
EBITDA EBITDA 7,839 (88,601)
Profit/(loss) before taxation (Note) Bt 1A B (& 18) (M 5%) 7,087 (89,434)
Profit/(loss) for the year FEMB(EEB) 7,087 (89,434)
Analysis of external revenue by BREEsEIASZ
operating segment: S BB W 25 53 4T ¢
(i)  Financial Services Business iy SBRBES 2,001 2,034
(i)  Principal Investment Business iy BEEREED 85,606 23,391
(iii) Real Property Business (i) BHEZEB 1,452 1,448
Analysis of results by operating BREEsBEIASZ
segment: EERH:
(i)  Financial Services Business iy SBRBED 11,025 1,764
(i)  Principal Investment Business iy BEEREER (3,582) (88,169)
(iii) Real Property Business (i) BHEZER 1,488 1,485
Note: The profit/loss before taxation included segment results, Wisr: BATFE EEREIEESE  KAoEHET

WA ROBECERIRBREVEZATE

28 -

unallocated other income, unallocated corporate expenses and
fair value changes of investment properties.

— % — —

=

AEBAFEMNFNBA7TIEEET(
F:FEHIBCIIEEEL) c HEFZEREE
BAFE ZFBEEZRBERKG) W KIEEN
622A B XL (NEFEWRAKEFTE LKA
BS54 B XL (VKA FEFEEHEE
FHFABZ(RAFEF=EEEEHFAR
B2 eRMBERKAZERENQATES
BRAVGIAEET  (VETWZRIEZIN6SEE
EN ERVITHRAIRA34EEET -

The Group had a profit for the Year of USD7.1 million (2022:
loss for the year of USD89.4 million). The change from a loss in
the last year to a profit for the Year was mainly attributable to
(i) a significant increase in revenue of USD62.2 million; (i) an
increase in income generated from fixed income investments
of USD15.4 million; (iii) a decrease in fair value losses of
financial assets and investments in perpetual notes at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL") of USD6.1 million; (iv) an
increase in other gains of USD6.5 million; and (v) a decrease in
administrative expenses of USD3.4 million.

BEEREBMBERAT 2023F K 11



BUSINESS REVIEW ¥ 7 [0 B

Revenue was USD89.1 million (2022: USD26.9 million), which
was mainly generated by the dividend and distribution income
as well as interest income from financial products; interest
income from financial institutions and margin financing;
commission income and handling charges from financial
services; as well as rental income. The increase in revenue
was attributed to (i) a significant increase in dividend and
distribution income of the Group’s principal investment
business, amounting to USD46.6 million. The increase was
primarily due to a significant increase in distribution income
received from our unlisted investments; and (ii) a significant
increase in interest income from financial institutions’ deposit,
as well as interest income from financial products under the
Group’s principal investment business amounting to USD15.6
million.

Other income for the Year was USD25.1 million (2022: USD9.1
million) and mainly comprises interest income generated from
fixed income investment which amounted to USD24.6 million
(2022: USD8.6 million).

A decrease in fair value changes of financial assets and
investments in perpetual notes at FVTPL for the Year was
due to a combination of (i) netting off the distributions of
investments; (ii) fair value gain or loss; and (iii) payment for the
commitments.

The fair value of the investment properties has decreased
by USDO.7 million due to a slight decline in the prices of
commercial properties located in Wanchai in 2023.

The other gain for the Year amounted to USD3.9 million (2022:
loss of USD2.6 million). This gain was primarily attributed
to an exchange gain of USD1.2 million, which resulted from
a change in the exchange rate for the year-end balance.
Additionally, there was an over-provision for liabilities arising
from the disposal of mining business, amounting to USD2.6
million.

Administrative expenses for the Year were USD7.5 million,
representing a significant decrease of USD3.4 million as
compared to USD10.9 million for the corresponding year. This
significant decrease can be attributed to the effective and
stringent cost control measures implemented by the Group
during the Year.

1 2 G-RESOURCES GROUP LIMITED 2023 ANNUAL REPORT

WmABIIEEEL(ZE-_F:26988%
L) EFERECRERIIGRERS IR
AREFIBERA  RESHEBRLRREFSHRE
MFBERA RELHBRENBE K ARFE

Z: LMSZ?H%H&UK Y 28 i‘)JDIEEEEBA()K
SEEEREXBHORE kIR A KRS
n46.6E EXTT i“bﬂ%%%)?l%itiﬁ?ﬁ

BH D IRBRAREBEZN: R()AEBEELERE
EBTRESRBBERONEWAARKE
ERMEMONBWAKRBEMIGEEET -

AEFAETBARBIBEETL(ZE_Z
IIEEXRT) TERRABEERAREMESL

MA B A4 6BEET(ZE-__F:868
BXEIT) e

AREEZRAFEFEAEEZHFABREZS
MEERKAZBEREZAFEEZH RN
RAEBEOMBRIEE DR (i)A FE U =8
B R (i) EE -

BREVERAFERPOTESETRBAR T
TZHFEUNEFNRERAYEERER TR -

AEEHEKHZRIIBEETL(ZE_Z
EBE26EEXT) RPN BEETZREANFERE
MRIEXREHRSE L WaE1.288EKTT » B
HERBEBMELANABBERRE /268
BXTT-

AEENITERXA/TSAEERT BEFH
HM10 9B BEXTARBAPIA4AERT ° &
RERDABARAEERAFEERA X
H OB A% B9 AR AR HE 1 38 5



General description on the Group’s investment strategies

The Group has been continuously reviewing its business and
investment strategies, especially for its principal investment
business pursuant to the Group’s financial needs and change
of market circumstances. The Group generates profit from
interest income, dividend income and distribution income from
financial assets held by the Group in its principal investment
business. The Group adopts a prudent approach in allocating
its financial assets. Apart from equity investments which are
usually subject to higher market risks, the Group has been
exploring different fixed income investment portfolios as part
of its asset allocation plan, including the selection of fixed
income assets and the vehicles the Group uses to access
them.

Since 2018, considering the trend of interest rates, risk
tolerance, capital preservation, liquidity and yield, the Group
constructed its fixed income investment portfolios by pairing
its bond investment with cash investment. The Group believes
that a strong fixed income component serves as a safety net
for the Group’s overall investment portfolios.

The Group has allocated approximately 40% of its financial
assets to fixed income investment, divided equally between
bond investment and cash investment (including deposits
with financial institutions), as part of its on-going investment
strategies to eliminate the impact from market fluctuations that
are typical in equity investment.

Segment analysis
(i) Financial Services Business

The Group focuses on four key financial services
business areas mainly in the Hong Kong market, which
are (i) securities trading and brokerage; (ii) margin
financing; (iii) money lending; and (iv) asset management.
Funderstone Securities Holdings Limited is the corporate
vehicle of the Group engaging in the provision of a wide
range of licensed financial services. These services
mainly include underwriting, securities and futures
brokerage, corporate finance, investment advisory, and
other related financial services in Hong Kong and other
countries.
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2023 has been a demanding year for Hong Kong
financial services industry as we continued to face
various challenges both globally and regionally. Despite
reopening of the China-Hong Kong border, signs of
recovery remained slow. The Group continued to uphold
its prudent and conservative approach, adapting
its business strategies to effectively cater to market
changes. The Group’s focus remained on optimising
existing product offerings while actively identifying new
opportunities to expand its high-quality client base.
The Group’s experienced management team dedicated
significant efforts to our margin financing, securities and
brokerage services, and asset management business,
leveraging its well-established securities trading
infrastructure, strong client loyalty, and diverse sales
channels. The Group believes it has maintained its niche
in the margin financing market, serving both corporate
and retail clients in achieving their financial needs.
The Group’s commitment to delivering professional
and personalised financial services has contributed
to its renowned reputation. Moving forward, the Group
will remain committed to seeking out new business
opportunities and diversifying into new lines of business.
Its goal is to offer a wide range of financial services to
cater to the evolving needs of its customers.

Revenue generated from the financial services business
mainly consists of (i) commission income and handling
charges from financial services; (ii) interest income from
margin financing and money lending; and (iii) asset
management fee income.

The segment results was USD11.0 million (2022: USD1.8
million), which was mainly contributed by other income for
the Year.

Commission income and handling charges

During the Year, the commission income and handling
charges from financial services were USD0.9 million
(2022: USD1.3 million). The decrease in the commission
income and handling charges was primarily due to a
decrease in trading volume, which was mainly resulted
from the adverse Hong Kong stock market conditions
during the Year.
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Interest income from margin financing and money lending
businesses

The interest income from margin financing was USDO0.5
million (2022: USDO0.6 million). The accounts receivables
from clients were USD1.2 million as at 31 December
2023 (as at 31 December 2022: USD2.4 million). Such
decreases were due to the adverse Hong Kong IPO
market environment, which in turn affected our margin
financing business. During the Year, the Group’s loan
advanced for money lending business was USD5.0
million and the outstanding loan balance as at 31
December 2023 was USD5.0 million (as at 31 December
2022: nil). The interest income from money lending
business was USDOQ.6 million (2022: nil).

Adhering to the transformation plan, the Group has
ceased to offer unsecured loan which is considered to
be of higher credit risk, and accentuated our secured
and mortgaged loans business since the second
quarter of 2019 which are backed by collaterals with a
comparatively lower credit risk.

The Group has established a more stringent risk control
and management system, including optimised loan
approval and monitoring procedures, as well as adjusted
interest rate and loan-to-value (“LTV”) ratio, which allows
the Group to be better structured to serve existing and
new clients and minimise the Group’s risk exposure.

In addition, the Group consistently implemented cautious
and prudent internal control measures in its margin
financing and money lending businesses, including but
not limited to:

- periodic review of collateral value and quality;

- stress testing on borrowers’ repayment ability and
collateral value;

- on-going loan portfolio monitoring and management;

- watch list mechanism;

- overdue loan collection management; and

- loan impairment provision.

The Group has assessed the clients’ risk profiles
according to its internal credit control procedures and
remains prudent in minimising the credit risk that they
are exposed to and has been consistent in following its
approach in developing the money lending business to
achieve a risk-gain balance. Despite the difficulties and
challenges ahead, the Group will continue to leverage our
professionalism and solid experience in money lending
business.

The Group had no bad debts during the Year.
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(i)

Principal Investment Business

During the Year, the Group invested USD62.3 million
in unlisted financial assets, which mainly comprised
payment for capital commitments of the unlisted
investment funds and unlisted equity investments.
Additionally, the Group (i) invested USD82.4 million in
listed bonds; (ii) disposed of listed bonds or having
the same being redeemed or reaching maturity in the
aggregate value of USD33.8 million; and (iii) had a
decrease in the aggregate market value of listed shares
of USD9.3 million. Other than the abovementioned
reasons, the net decrease of USD53.9 million in non-cash
financial assets was primarily due to the net effect of
return of capital from the unlisted investments, and the
net realised and unrealised fair value loss on the listed
shares, listed bonds and unlisted investments mainly
acquired in previous years.

The segment results of principal investment business had
a loss of USD3.6 million for the Year, primarily driven by
a fair value loss of financial assets and investments in
perpetual notes at FVTPL of USD100.5 million. This loss
was partially offset by interest income and dividend and
distribution income from the financial assets, amounting
to USD85.6 million and increase in other income
amounting to USD13.0 million. The significant increase in
dividend and distribution income was mainly attributed to
a significant increase in distribution income from unlisted
investments during the Year.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group held non-cash
financial assets of USD485.9 million, as follows:

(i)

BEREER

REE  AEBREIAEEXTNIHF
theREE EPTXTEREXMNIEL
MRERE RIFLTRARE K E AR
¥ oo tsh  REBE()REB2ABBETR
tHEHF (NVHELTESFH LEWES
1% o =k B B 48 {E33.8F & & T+ (i)
EmRpEHERDIIEERT ° KL
MIRAI - FEBRE S REEFR 539
BEXT TEZRANKEIFLTRE
MEALHENFZE URTERNBEHRE
FEBEW LMD - EHEFRIELT
REMNABRARARABRAFEBRFE -

REER BEREXBIBEZEEBES
B6EBXET TERAREATEE
BEEHFAEBRZEMEERKAE
BREZAFEEERI005AERETT ° &%
BEBOBRESHEENT B KRAMR
KB Ry KB ABEEETRAT
WAEIB0BEEXTHMEHE - RER
DIRBARBENEERBRAFE I
EHHRENDIKKAKEZ N -

R-E-_=F+_-_A=+—0 x£EHF
B4 0B EEZ LB eMEE N
T:

2023 2022

—E'-= —F-—
USD’000 USD’000
FERT FEx
Listed shares FREE 36,802 46,138
Listed bonds EWES 133,745 81,914
Unlisted investment funds LM EES 261,999 350,768
Unlisted equity investments FEEMRAKRE 53,398 36,966
Convertible notes Al IR R = 24,096
Total 4858 485,944 539,882
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(iii)

Significant Investments

There was no single investment (for example, financial
assets at FVTPL and investments in debt instruments
measured at amortised cost) in the Group’s diversified
investment portfolio that was considered a significant
investment, given that none of the investments had a
carrying amount accounting for more than 5% of the
Group’s total assets as at 31 December 2023.

Real Property Business

The Group owns three floors of commercial office
premises (including 17th, 18th and 19th floor) and
ten car parking spaces located at Capital Centre,
No. 151 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The
Group utilises a portion of the commercial offices as
its head office, while the remaining portion has been
leased to third parties for office use under leases not
exceeding three years. The rental income generated
and the segment results of the real property business
were USD1.4 million and USD1.5 million for the Year,
respectively (2022: USD1.4 million and USD1.5 million).
These figures were relatively stable when compared to
the corresponding period.

The Group continued to seek investment opportunities
for quality and upscale commercial properties, as well as
other types of properties. Since the lifting of restrictive
travel measures and the reopening of the China-Hong
Kong border in 2023, the Group was active in exploring
quality and upscale real property investments
opportunities in Hong Kong and other countries and
regions, including the Greater Bay Area, North America
and Europe. The Group grasped an attractive opportunity
during the Year to invest in a quality commercial property
in Canada which is expected to generate stable income
and long-term capital appreciation through operational
enhancement. This investment would also help to
diversify the Group’s property portfolio geographically.

(iii)
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REVIEW OF GROUP FINANCIAL POSITION 7 &= B B 75 4K 5 5 B
2023 2022
—Eg-= —_E-_F
USD’000 USD’000
FER FEx
Current Assets mEEE
Cash and cash equivalents BeMIRE&EFEMEEE 130,308 854,253
Time deposits with original maturities over R X/ BB @ = AK
three months FHFER 567,231 30,000
Financial assets at FVTPL RAFHEFEEHE
AABRZEMEE 27,838 39,383
Investments in debt instruments measured (R #E K AN E 2
at amortised cost BHEIAKE 26,119 20,111
Accounts and other receivables FEU K H v e WBR 3K 39,888 14,807
Others HEy 33,285 48,037
Non-current Assets EMBEE
Long-term time deposits RAEIEHER 200,000 =
Financial assets at FVTPL EATEFEAHE
FAERZEREE 324,361 418,585
Investments in debt instruments measured (R # K AN E 2
at amortised cost B TAEKE 82,972 36,396
Investments in perpetual notes at FVTPL A FE=BHEEFHTAE
mZKAZRBRE 21,637 22,586
Investment properties "EME 63,514 64,381
Others He 51,090 51,732
Total Assets BERME 1,568,243 1,600,271
Other Liabilities HeafE (31,279) (60,140)
Net Assets BEFE 1,536,964 1,540,131

As at 31 December 2023, the non-current assets were
USD743.6 million (2022: USD593.7 million), representing an
increase of USD149.9 million. This increase was primarily due
to the growth in long-term time deposits, which amounted
to USD200.0 million. Additionally, there was an increase in
investments in debt instruments measured at amortised cost,
totaling USD46.6 million. However, these increases were
partially offset by a net decrease in investment in financial
assets at FVTPL, amounting to USD94.2 million, as well as a
decrease in investments in perpetual notes at FVTPL, which
amounted to USD1.0 million. Current assets amounted to
uUSD824.7 million (2022: USD1,006.6 million), representing
a decrease of USD181.9 million. This decrease can be
attributed to a net decrease in cash and cash equivalents,
totaling USD7283.9 million. There was an increase in the time
deposits with original maturities over three months, amounting
to USD537.2 million, an increase in investments in debt
instruments measured at amortised cost, totaling USD6.0
million, an increase in accounts and other receivables and
loans receivable, amounting to USD30.1 million. However,
there was a decrease in bank trust account balances of
USD19.8 million and a decrease in financial assets at FVTPL,
totaling USD11.6 million.
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NET ASSETS VALUE

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s net assets amounted
to USD1,537.0 million, representing a decrease of USD3.1
million as compared to USD1,540.1 million as at 31 December
2022. The decrease in net assets was primarily driven by the
payment of dividends totaling USD6.9 million.

CASH FLOW, LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL
RESOURCES
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Cash Flow Summary HE2REME
2023 2022
—E-Z=F -
UsSD’000 USD’000
FER FETT
Net cash from Operating Activities KEFEBMIS2H T FE 71,115 19,211
Net cash used in Investing Activities KEETHFRA RS FE (785,108) (60,085)
Net cash used in Financing Activities B & EB AT A Zﬁfi‘%-?’r*ﬁ (8,101) (8,088)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents JR& &I &S EHE R D FHE (722,094) (48,962)
Cash and cash equivalents FYHRekREFEEE
at the beginning of the year 854,253 900,845
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes INEEXREH B (1,851) 2,370
Cash and cash equivalents FRRS MRS FMEEE
at the end of the year 130,308 854,253

The Group’s cash balance as at 31 December 2023 was
USD130.3 million (2022: USD854.3 million). The net cash
from operating activities for the Year of USD71.1 million. This
amount was primarily resulted from a profit for the Year of
USD7.1 million, adjusted for non-cash and non-operating items
of USD49.9 million, movements in working capitals of USD6.2
million, interest received of USD19.7 million, and dividend
received of USDO0.6 million. Net cash used in investing
activities was USD785.1 million, which mainly included net
cash outflows for investments of USD68.0 million and net
placing of bank deposits of USD737.2 million. However, this
was partially offset by USD19.9 million from interest received.

The Group's gearing ratio, being the percentage of the Group’s
total borrowings over shareholders’ equity, was nil as at 31
December 2023 and 31 December 2022. The Group had no
outstanding bank borrowings as at 31 December 2023.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE OF THE GROUP

As at 31 December 2023, the equity attributable to owners of
the Company was USD1,536.8 million. There was no material
change in the capital structure of the Group since 30 June
2023, being the end of the reporting period of the Group’s
interim report.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITY

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have contingent
liability.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

On 20 January 2023, True Colour Group Limited (“True
Colour”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
has served a request for redemption of 8,000 class A1
shares in Shaolin Capital Partners International Fund, Ltd.
(the “Shaolin Fund”) at an estimated aggregate redemption
proceeds of approximately USD7.7 million. The Shaolin Fund
is an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and an opportunistic and cross-asset value strategy hedge
fund that uses a top-down thematic framework to capitalise on
market inefficiencies. After completion of the redemption, True
Colour ceased to hold any shares in the Shaolin Fund.

On 20 January 2023, Max Strength Holdings Limited, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, ZQ Capital Services
Limited (“ZQ Capital”) (being the general partner) and Ms. Wang
Jue (“Ms. Wang”) (being the initial limited partner) entered into
the limited partnership agreement to subscribe for the limited
partner interest in Range 22 Investors L.P. (the “Range 22
Fund”) for a capital commitment of USD32.0 million (equivalent
to approximately HKD250.6 million). The Range 22 Fund is an
exempted limited partnership established in accordance with the
Exempted Limited Partnership Act (2021 Revision) of the Cayman
Islands on 12 December 2022. The primary focus of the Range
22 Fund is to make investments, directly or indirectly, in the
securities of mature businesses in the global healthcare industry to
achieve long term capital appreciation. ZQ Capital is an exempted
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and it shall be
responsible for the management and day-to-day operations of
the Range 22 Fund. ZQ Capital is wholly-owned by Mr. Shen
Zheqing (“Mr. Shen”). Mr. Shen is the founding member of ZQ
Capital. He has extensive experience in the healthcare industry
and Asia capital markets, with a special area of expertise and
network in China. Prior to founding ZQ Capital in 2017, Mr. Shen
was the managing director and the head of the China Financial
Institutions Business at Barclays PLC from 2011 to 2015. From
2004 to 2010, he worked with The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc.
("Goldman Sachs”) as an investment banker in its New York and
Hong Kong offices. Mr. Shen has worked with many corporations
in Asia. He also worked with a number of corporations in the
United States during the early stages of his career at Goldman
Sachs and Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. in New York. Mr. Shen
obtained a Bachelor of Arts in Mathematics and Economics from
Wesleyan University. Ms. Wang is a merchant. Upon execution of
the limited partnership agreement, Ms. Wang has withdrawn from
the Range 22 Fund and has ceased to be a limited partner. For
further details, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 20 January 2023. As at 31 December 2023, the Range 22
Fund has made one investment into an international commercial
biotechnology company focused on the treatment and diagnosis of
allergic disorders.
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During the period from 13 April 2023 to 14 April 2023, GC
HCM (BVI) Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, disposed of an aggregate of 2,162,290
shares of USD0.00001 each in the share capital of Beisen
Holding Limited (“Beisen Shares”), on the open market
through the Stock Exchange at an aggregate consideration
of approximately USD6.4 million (equivalent to approximately
HKD50.2 million) (excluding stamp duty and related expenses).
The average selling price of each Beisen Share was
approximately USD3.0 (equivalent to approximately HKD23.2).
The aggregate consideration of the disposal represented the
prevailing market price of the Beisen Shares at the time of the
disposal. Beisen Holding Limited is a company incorporated
in the Cayman lIslands with limited liability, the shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 9669), providing cloud-based human capital
management solutions in China through its subsidiaries.

On 19 May 2023, (i) True Colour has served a request for
redemption of 58,309.62 class | shares in Ski Time Square
Limited (“Ski Time Fund”) at an estimated aggregate
redemption proceeds of approximately USD7.0 million; and (ii)
Dazzling Youth Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, has served a request for redemption of
24,340.239064 class B unrestricted — series 0621 shares
in Pinpoint Multi-Strategy Offshore Feeder Fund (“Pinpoint
Fund”) at an estimated aggregate redemption proceeds
of approximately USD7.9 million. Both Ski Time Fund and
Pinpoint Fund are exempted companies incorporated under
the laws of the Cayman Islands with limited liability. Ski Time
Fund is focused on the management of discounted cash
flow, mortgage-backed and other securities and derivatives
with investment goal to produce both high absolute and
risk-adjusted returns. Ski Time Fund also invests in long or
short positions in derivative and equity instruments for hedging
and speculative purposes. Pinpoint Fund is a multi-manager
platform hedge fund that focuses on alpha generation as well
as capital preservation. Pinpoint Fund invests in a basket of
less correlated, Asia equity-centric strategies, including equity
long/short, convertible bond and quantitative strategies. After
the completion of redemption in Ski Time Fund and Pinpoint
Fund, True Colour and Dazzling Youth Limited ceased to hold
any shares in Ski Time Fund and Pinpoint Fund, respectively.
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On 19 May 2023, Resilient Global Group Limited, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and Sixty Degree
Capital Fund Il GP Inc. (“Sixty Degree GP”) (being the
general partner) entered into the subscription agreement to
subscribe for 30,000,000 units in Sixty Degree Capital Fund
I L.P. (“Sixty Degree Fund”) as a limited partner for a capital
commitment of USD30 million (equivalent to approximately
HKD234.3 million). Sixty Degree Fund was formed as a limited
partnership under the laws of Ontario, Canada on 6 May
2022. Sixty Degree Fund will conduct its affairs in a manner
consistent with the primary purpose of achieving superior
returns for its investors, principally through long-term capital
appreciation, by making, holding and disposing of equity and
equity-related investments in companies in the healthcare and
technology sectors and originating principally in Canada and
the United States and, from time to time, in Europe or Asia.
Sixty Degree GP is a company incorporated in Canada with
limited liability and it shall be responsible for the management
and day-to-day operations of Sixty Degree Fund. Sixty Degree
GP is owned by Mr. Guo Jian (“Mr. Guo”) and Ms. Zu Feng
(“Ms. Zzu”). Sixty Degree GP has the full unrestricted power
and exclusive authority to represent Sixty Degree Fund and
to carry on its business and to do and to perform all things
necessary for, incidental to or connected with carrying on the
business of Sixty Degree Fund. Mr. Guo and Ms. Zu are also
the directors of Sixty Degree GP and lead the investment team
of Sixty Degree Fund. Mr. Guo is a seasoned and insightful
venture capital/private equity investor with over 20 years of
experience investing in the healthcare and technology sectors.
He is a business leader, having served at the executive level
as an advisor to and on the board of various international
public and private companies. Mr. Guo has obtained a degree
of master of business administration from the Schulich School
of Business at York University, Toronto, Canada. Ms. Zu is the
secretary of Sixty Degree GP and is involved in the activities of
Sixty Degree GP. Ms. Zu has obtained an engineering degree
from York University, Toronto, Canada and postgraduate
certificate in International Business Management. For further
details, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 19 May 2023. As at 31 December 2023, Sixty Degree
Fund had invested in ten portfolio companies, including i)
a cloud native cybersecurity company; ii) a fast growing
cybersecurity company; iii) a network security company; iv) a
data privacy service provider; v) software platform company;
vi) a cloud-based document editing software company; vii)
cloud-native Kubernetes management solution provider; viii) a
kidney care service provider; ix) an online travel and expense
management company; and x) a company focusing on
research and development on new drug for cancer.
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On 21 July 2023, Smart League (Canada) Investments
Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
and Garden City (WPG) GP Inc. (“Garden City GP”) (being
the general partner) entered into the limited partnership
agreement to subscribe for 48 class A units in Garden
City (WPG) Limited Partnership (“Garden City Fund”) as a
limited partner at the capital commitment of CAD12.0 million
(equivalent to approximately HKD71.2 million). Garden City
Fund was formed as a limited partnership under the laws of
the province of Ontario, Canada on 9 May 2023. Garden City
Fund will engage in the retail shopping centre project, which
involves the acquisition, ownership, operation and leasing
and otherwise dealing with the Garden City Shopping Centre
located at Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada, including without
limitation, the management and possible enhancement,
development, expansion or redevelopment of the same.
Garden City GP is a company incorporated in Canada with
limited liability and it shall be responsible for the management
and day-to-day operations of Garden City Fund. Garden City
GP is wholly-owned by Mr. Gu Renting (“Mr. Gu”). Mr. Gu
is an accomplished entrepreneur and real estate investor,
serving as the Chairman of Unisync Group (TSX: UNIL.TO),
one of Canada’s largest uniform companies. His leadership
and strategic vision contribute greatly to Unisync's stature
in the industry. Simultaneously, Mr. Gu is the president of
E. Star International Inc., an extensive domestic and import
apparel manufacturing company. His acumen extends beyond
apparel into a diverse range of investments including the
educational sector, with ownership in Willowood School. Mr.
Gu’s profound expertise in real estate shines through his role
as principal owner of Smart Investment Ltd. As an active real
estate investment and management firm, the company has a
proven track record of success, with a team of experienced
professionals adept in acquisition, development, property
management, and leasing. They are committed to delivering
exceptional value and results for their clients, forging long-term
relationships built on trust and integrity. With a master of
business administration degree from the Rotman School,
University of Toronto, and over two decades of diverse
business experience, Mr. Gu offers exceptional strategic
investment insights. His multi-sector involvement and robust
portfolio make him a highly respected figure in Canada’s
business landscape. For further details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 21 July 2023. As at
31 December 2023, Garden City Fund has completed the
acquisition of the Garden City Shopping Centre as disclosed in
the announcement of the Company dated 21 July 2023.
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On 27 October 2023, (i) Blaise Castle Limited (“Blaise Castle”),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, has
served a request for redemption of class 2RE redeemable
shares in Boothbay Diversified Alpha Fund Ltd (“Boothbay
Fund”) at an estimated total amount of proceeds of
approximately USD5.4 million; (ii) Cheer Spirit Investments
Limited (“Cheer Spirit”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, has served a request for redemption of class B
interests in Schonfeld Fundamental Equity Offshore Fund Ltd.
(“Schonfeld Fund”) at an estimated total amount of proceeds of
approximately USD8.6 million; and (iii) Joyful Moments Limited
(“Joyful Moments”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, has served a request for redemption of class
C shares in SEG Partners Offshore, Ltd. (“SEG Fund”) at an
estimated total amount of proceeds of approximately USD7.8
million. Blaise Castle, Cheer Spirit and Joyful Moments are
exempted company incorporated with limited liability under the
laws of the Cayman Islands. Boothbay Fund is a multi-strategy
multi-manager fund that aims to combine non-correlated
positive expectancy strategies into a cohesive portfolio, which
is further enhanced by operational and structural alphas.
Boothbay Fund seeks to generate absolute returns with low
volatility and low correlations to traditional asset classes
through all market conditions and it employs a range of
investment strategies with broad industry, sector, style and
geographic diversification. Schonfeld Fund is a multi-strategy
multi-manager fund that seeks to achieve capital appreciation
at superior risk-adjusted rates of return through a fundamental
equity strategy with low net and low beta. SEG Fund invests
in companies across the market cap spectrum with long/short
equity strategies. SEG Fund can invest globally, but generally
over 80% of the investments are in US-domiciled companies.
After the completion of redemption in Boothbay Fund,
Schonfeld Fund and SEG Fund, Blaise Castle, Cheer Spirit and
Joyful Moments ceased to hold any shares in Boothbay Fund,
Schonfeld Fund and SEG Fund, respectively.

Save as disclosed above, there was no material acquisition or

disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during
the Year and up to the date of this annual report.
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EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE
RATES AND HEDGING POLICIES

The Group conducted most of its business in United States
dollars ("USD”) and Hong Kong dollars (“HKD”). The foreign
currency exposure of HKD to USD is minimal as HKD is
pegged to USD.

The management will continue to monitor the Group’s foreign
currency exposure and consider other hedging policies should
the need arise.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, no assets of the Group had been
pledged.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

Leveraging on our existing solid capital base, we actively
optimise the allocation of resources and uphold our prudent
and diligent investment approach. We strongly believe
that this strategy enables us to remain cautious in view of
the complexities and challenges in the current economic
landscape, while maximising the Group’s business and
financial performance in 2024, thereby yielding greater return
and value.

Financial services business. The Group will continue to
focus on our key financial services business areas, including
securities trading and brokerage and margin financing, asset
management and corporate finance advisory services. Our
competitive commission rates, quality and efficient services,
strong financial resources, and reliable trading system shall
enable our financial services business to maintain strong client
loyalty and sustain stable growth in our client base.

Looking ahead to 2024, the Group anticipates a positive
business and investment environment following the recovery
of the global economy and trade activities from the impact
of the COVID-19 pandemic, along with the reopening of the
China-Hong Kong border in 2023. With expectations of an
interest rate cut in the United States and the gradual recovery
of economic activities, the outlook remains stable. Although
the IPO market in Hong Kong remained sluggish in 2023, it
is expected to gradually improve in 2024 as the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region Government is implementing
various measures, including tax incentives, regulatory reforms,
and initiatives to attract more international companies to list
in Hong Kong to support the securities market and promote
IPO activities. When the IPO market revitalises, the Group
will seize the opportunity to promote and expand its IPO
margin financing business through various channels, including
existing clients, brokerage firms and its network of account
executives. The Group will also benefit from interest income
and related handling charges derived from margin financing
for both IPO and non-IPO transactions.
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In line with its prudent and balanced approach, the Group
will continuously adjust its business strategies to effectively
respond to market changes in a flexible and timely manner.
Efforts will be made to strengthen the margin financing
business and expand client coverage in securities trading and
brokerage. This will be achieved through multiple channels,
such as advertisements, marketing campaigns, brand building
and brand awareness activities, and incentive measures. The
Group will closely monitor the securities market and actively
review the implemented strategies to maximise benefits.

For our money lending business, the Group will continue
to minimise credit risk to a low exposure level and maintain
a risk-gain balance. With the global economy gradually
recovering and increasing consumption activities, the Group
aims to explore new business opportunities while conducting
prudent internal credit assessments and closely monitoring the
market.

The Group will also focus on expanding its quality client base
and strengthening relationships with major institutional clients
by offering comprehensive and tailor-made financial products
and services. This includes providing general corporate
financial advisory services for IPOs, share placings, rights
issues, corporate restructuring, and mergers and acquisitions.
The Group will actively provide underwriting services and other
related services when suitable opportunities arise.

For our asset management business, the Group will enhance
its services and provide customised discretionary investment
management services to high-net-worth clients. Efforts will
be made to further enhance brand awareness and market
reputation.

Principal investment business. The Group’s investment
portfolio comprises a combination of diversified investment in
funds, bonds and equity investments, both listed or unlisted.
The Group will periodically review its investment portfolio. If
the investment team identifies suitable opportunities that can
benefit the Group and improve its overall profitability and
returns, the Group may consider investing in such investment
products.

Real property business. The Group will continue to seek
investment opportunities for quality and upscale commercial
properties, as well as other types of real properties. Since the
lifting of restrictive travel measures and the reopening of the
China-Hong Kong border in 2023, the Group has been active
in exploring real property investment opportunities locally and
internationally that can provide a higher yield as well as good
potential for capital appreciation in the future. In 2023, the
Group invested in a quality commercial property in Canada
which is expected to generate stable income and long-term
capital appreciation through operational enhancement.
The Group will continue to diversify its property portfolio
geographically and will conduct all necessary and proper
assessments if it intends to acquire any new properties or
property investments.
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Looking-forward. The global economy is expected to
continue its recovery as all borders, including those of
Mainland China and Hong Kong, have reopened in 2023.
Hong Kong is gradually returning to normalcy. Capitalising
on the improving global markets, the Group will uphold a
balanced and prudent approach to asset allocation and will
actively seize all possible opportunities to foster the further
development and expansion of our businesses.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 42 employees in
Hong Kong. Employees are remunerated at a competitive level
and rewarded according to their performance. The Group’s
remuneration packages include salary, medical scheme, group
insurance, mandatory provident fund, performance bonus and
share options for our employees.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Board is not aware of any significant events that have
occurred subsequent to 31 December 2023 and up to the date
of this annual report.
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The Board is pleased to present their report and the audited
financial statements for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

In the course of the Year, the principal activities of the
Company are financial services business, principal investment
business, money lending business and real property business.
The principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries as at
31 December 2023 are set out in note 36 to the financial
statements contained in this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A business review of the Group is set out on pages 11 to 27 of
this annual report.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS OF THE GROUP’S
BUSINESS PROSPECTS

Details of the business’ s future prospects are set out in the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis -
Business Outlook” on pages 25 to 27 of this annual report.

DIVIDENDS

The Board has proposed a final dividend of HKDO0.12 (2022:
HKDO0.12) per share for the Year. Subject to the approval of
the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) at
the forthcoming annual general meeting (the “AGM”), the
proposed final dividend will be payable to Shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company on
10 July 2024 (Wednesday).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For ascertaining Shareholders’ right to attend and vote at the
AGM:

Latest time to lodge transfers
4:00 p.m. on 24 June 2024 (Monday)

Closure dates of register of members (both days inclusive)
25 June 2024 (Tuesday) to
28 June 2024 (Friday)

Record date
28 June 2024 (Friday)

AGM
28 June 2024 (Friday)
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For ascertaining Shareholders’ entitlement to the proposed
final dividend*:

Latest time to lodge transfers
4:00 p.m. on 5 July 2024 (Friday)

Closure dates of register of members (both days inclusive)
8 July 2024 (Monday) to
10 July 2024 (Wednesday)

Record date
10 July 2024 (Wednesday)

Proposed final dividend payment date
18 July 2024 (Thursday)

(* subject to Shareholders’ approval at the AGM)

During the periods of the closure of register of members, no
share transfers will be registered. For registration, all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar
in Hong Kong, Union Registrars Limited, at Suites 3301-04,
33/F., Two Chinachem Exchange Square, 338 King’'s Road,
North Point, Hong Kong before the relevant latest time to lodge
transfers.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the past five financial years is set out on page 196 of
this annual report.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during
the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity on page 87 of this annual report. Details of the
reserves available for distribution to Shareholders as at 31
December 2023 is set out in note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’'s share capital and
share options during the Year are set out in notes 26 and 27
to the financial statements contained in this annual report,
respectively.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the Year are set out in note 14 to the
financial statements contained in this annual report.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this annual
report are:

Non-Executive Director

Li Zhongye, Cindy (Chairperson)

Executive Directors

Leung Oi Kin
Leung Wai Yiu, Malcoln

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Lo Wa Kei, Roy
Chen Gong
Martin Que Meideng

In accordance with Bye-law 99 of the Company’s Bye-laws,
at each AGM, one-third of the Directors for the time being,
or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then
the number nearest but not less than one-third, shall retire
from office by rotation. Accordingly, Ms. Li Zhongye, Cindy
and Mr. Leung Wai Yiu, Malcoln will retire by rotation at the
forthcoming AGM, and both of them, being eligible, have
offered themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS OF THE
RETIRING DIRECTORS

The term of office of Ms. Li Zhongye, Cindy is three years
commencing from 24 June 2021 and will be subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the AGM in
accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws.

Mr. Leung Wai Yiu, Malcoln has entered into a service
agreement with the Company. This service agreement shall
be valid unless terminated by either party by giving a three
months’ written notice.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors proposed for
re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a service contract
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities.
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DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS’
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors and executive
officers of the Company (“Executive Officers”) or their
respective associates had any interests and short positions in
the shares, underlying shares, convertible notes or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO or otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by directors
and chief executives of the Company (“Model Code”) required
to be disclosed in accordance with the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”).

SHARE OPTION

Particulars of the share option scheme of the Company are set
out below and in note 27 to the financial statements contained
in this annual report.

Share Option Scheme

In order to continue to provide incentives and rewards to the
eligible employees and participants, the Company adopted a
share option scheme pursuant to a resolution passed by the
Shareholders on 18 June 2014, of which the general scheme
limit has been revised pursuant to a resolution passed by
the Shareholders on 15 June 2018 (the “2014 Share Option
Scheme”) which will remain in force for ten years from the date
becoming effective.

An offer of the grant of an option may be accepted by an
eligible participant within twenty-eight days from the date
upon which it is made. A consideration of HKD1 is payable
on acceptance of the offer of grant of an option. The period
within which the options must be exercised will commence
from the date of acceptance of the offer for the grant of options
but shall end in any event not later than 10 years from the
date of grant of the option subject to the provisions of early
termination thereof. The subscription price shall be determined
by the Board, but shall not be lower than the highest of (i)
the closing price of shares at the date of grant which must
be a business day; (ii) the average closing price of shares
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of
grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a share. Subject to the
requirements of the Listing Rules, unless the Board otherwise
determined and stated in the offer of the grant of options to an
eligible participant, there is neither any performance targets
that needs to be achieved by the grantee before any options
can be exercised nor any minimum vesting period for which
the option must be held before it can be exercised.
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As at 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023, the number of
options available for grant, and the total number of shares of
the Company issuable, under the 2014 Share Option Scheme
was 22,540,703, representing 5.0% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at the date of this annual report and there
was no share option granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed
under the 2014 Share Option Scheme as at the date of this
annual report. Save for the 2014 Share Option Scheme, the
Company does not have any other share scheme. The number
of shares of the Company that may be issued in respect of
options granted under all share schemes of the Company
during the Year divided by the weighted average number of
shares of the Company in issue for the Year was nil.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

Details of the Group’s retirement benefit scheme for the Year
are set out in note 33 to the financial statements contained in
this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS’
RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year was the Company or its subsidiaries
or jointly controlled entity a party to any arrangement that
enabled any Director or Executive Officer to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

None of the Directors or Executive Officers or their spouses
or children under the age of 18 had any right to subscribe for
the securities of the Company or had exercised any such right
during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and
in which a Director, any entity connected with a Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the Year or at any time during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the Year and up to the date of this annual report, except
otherwise disclosed herein, none of the Directors, or any of
their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules)
had any material interest in a business that competes or may
compete with the business of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company was entered into or existed during the Year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

There was no equity-linked agreement entered into by the
Company that will or may result in the Company issuing shares
or that require the Company to enter into any agreements that
will or may result in the Company issuing shares during the
Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of its independent
non-executive Directors (“INED(s)”) written confirmation of their
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

DISCLOSEABLE INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS OF PERSONS OTHER THAN
DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

As at 31 December 2023, so far as known to the Directors
or Executive Officers, the following persons/entities are the
Shareholders (other than the Directors or Executive Officers)
who had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, or be directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of
the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to
vote in all circumstances of general meetings of the Company
or who were recorded in the register of substantial shareholders
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO
or had otherwise notified the Company.
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Long positions in shares and underlying shares of
the Company

REASKRBREBRKRGZEFR

Approximate

Number % of the
of shares/ issued share
underlying  capital of the
Name of shareholders Capacity shares (Note 1) Company Notes
30 v ] ERAT
BRHBHE EBBTREZ
BEZHE & (Bt =E1) ‘mLantt Bt
Elvin Alan Ortiz Espinosa Interest of a controlled corporation 127,939,100 (L) 28.38% 2
PRl ZB 2w
Sprout Wings Limited Interest of a controlled corporation 127,939,100 (L) 28.38% 2
PRl ZB 2w
PX Capital Partners L.P. Beneficial owner 127,939,100 (L) 28.38% 2
EREAA
John Paul Buckley Interest of a controlled corporation 81,774,809 (L) 18.14% &
PRzl o EZB 2
Zhang Zheng Interest of a controlled corporation 81,774,809 (L) 18.14% &
PRzl o EZB 2
19 Growth Capital Fund GP, Inc. Interest of a controlled corporation 81,774,809 (L) 18.14% 3
PRl e 2B R
19 Growth Equity Fund, LP Beneficial owner 81,774,809 (L) 18.14% 3

EDBEAA

Notes:

1. “L” denotes long position.

2. Sprout Wings Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. Elvin Alan Ortiz
Espinosa. PX Capital Partners L.P. is wholly-owned by Sprout
Wings Limited. Under Part XV of the SFO, Mr. Elvin Alan Ortiz
Espinosa and Sprout Wings Limited are deemed to have interest
in the shares of the Company held by PX Capital Partners L.P..

&k Mr. John Paul Buckley and Mr. Zhang Zheng indirectly own 60%
and 40% equity interests of 19 Growth Capital Fund GP, Inc.,
respectively. 19 Growth Equity Fund, LP is wholly-owned by 19
Growth Capital Fund GP, Inc.. Under Part XV of the SFO, Mr.
John Paul Buckley, Mr. Zhang Zheng and 19 Growth Capital
Fund GP, Inc. are deemed to have interest in the shares of the
Company held by 19 Growth Equity Fund, LP.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified
by any person (other than the Directors or Executive Officers)
who had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or be directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more
of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances of general meetings of the
Company or who were recorded in the register of substantial
shareholders maintained by the Company pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO or had otherwise notified the Company as at 31
December 2023.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate revenue attributable to the five largest
customers accounted for approximately 83.8% of the Group’s
total revenue for the Year, and the revenue attributable to the
largest customer included therein amounted to approximately
60.6% of the Group's total revenue for the Year. The Group is a
provider of financial services. In the opinion of the Board, it is
not meaningful to disclose details of the Group’s suppliers.

At no time during the Year, none of the Directors, their
associates or the Shareholders, which to the knowledge of the
Directors owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital, had any interests in the above customers.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws or the applicable laws of Bermuda, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata
basis to the existing Shareholders.

RELIEF OF TAXATION

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the shares.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision under the Company’s
Bye-laws and for the benefit of the Directors is currently in
force and was in force throughout the Year. The Company has
also purchased and maintained Directors’ liability insurance
throughout the Year, which provides appropriate coverage for
the Directors.

RISK FACTORS
Market Risk

Market risk refers to the risk that a change in the level of one
or more market prices, rates, indices, implied volatilities (the
price volatility of the underlying instrument imputed from option
prices), correlations or other market factors, such as market
liquidity, will result in losses for a position or portfolio owned by
us.
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Our results of operations may be materially affected by market
fluctuations and by global and economic conditions and other
factors.

The Group’s results of operations may be materially affected by
market fluctuations due to global and economic conditions and
other factors. Our results of operations in the past have been,
and in the future may be, materially affected by many factors,
including the effect of economic and political conditions and
geopolitical events; the effect of market conditions, particularly in
the global equity, fixed income, currency, credit and commodities
markets, including corporate and mortgage (commercial and
residential) lending and commercial real estate; the impact of
current, pending and future legislations, regulations (including
but not limited to capital, leverage and liquidity requirements),
policies (including but not limited to fiscal and monetary), and
legal and regulatory environment in Hong Kong and worldwide;
the level and volatility of equity, fixed income and commodity
prices, interest rates, currency values and other market
indices; the performance of our acquisitions, divestitures, joint
ventures, strategic alliances or other strategic arrangements;
our reputation and the general perception of the financial
services industry; inflation, natural disasters, pandemics and
acts of war or terrorism; the actions and initiatives of current
and potential competitors, as well as governments, regulators
and self-regulatory organisations; the effectiveness of our risk
management policies; and technological changes and risks
and cybersecurity risks (including cyber-attacks and business
continuity risks); or a combination of these or other factors. In
addition, legislative, legal and regulatory developments related
to our businesses are likely to increase costs, thereby affecting
the results of operations. These factors also may have an adverse
impact on our ability to achieve our strategic objectives.

We may experience declines in the value of our financial
instruments and other losses related to volatile and illiquid
market conditions.

Market volatility, illiquid market conditions and disruptions in
the credit markets make it extremely difficult to value certain of
our financial instruments, particularly during periods of market
displacement. Subsequent valuations, in light of factors then
prevailing, may result in significant changes in the values of
these instruments in future periods. In addition, at the time of
any sales and settlement of these financial instruments, the
price we ultimately realise will depend on the demand and
liquidity in the market at that time and may be materially lower
than their current fair value. Any of these factors could cause
a decline in the value of our financial instruments, which may
have an adverse effect on our results of operations in future
periods.
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In addition, financial markets are susceptible to severe events
evidenced by rapid depreciation in asset values accompanied
by a reduction in asset liquidity. Under these extreme conditions,
hedging and other risk management strategies may not be as
effective at mitigating trading losses as they would be under
more normal market conditions. Moreover, under these conditions
market participants are particularly exposed to trading strategies
employed by many market participants simultaneously and on
a large scale. Our risk management and monitoring processes
seek to quantify and mitigate risk to more extreme market moves.
However, severe market events have historically been difficult to
predict, as seen in the last several years, and we could suffer
significant losses if extreme market events were to occur.

The Group is required to reassess the fair value of its
investment properties at every balance sheet date to
which financial statements are made up. Based on the
valuation conducted by independent property valuer, the
Group recognises investment properties at fair value in
the consolidated statement of financial position, while the
variation in changes in fair value of investment properties are
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
Notwithstanding any variations in profit, fair value gains and
losses are not cash items and will not increase or decrease
cash and cash equivalent. The amount of revaluation
adjustment has been and will continually be subject to
changes in market conditions. As such, there can be no
assurance that changes in market conditions will continue
to generate gains from fair value changes in investment
properties at similar level or at all, or there will be no decline in
the fair value of the Group’s investment properties.

The Group faces market risk due to market movement which
may cause a fall in the value of principal investments. In view
of the increased volatility in the stock and other financial
markets, this may impact the fair value of the investments and
add unpredictability to the Group’s profits and investment
revaluation reserve.

Currency fluctuations may affect our results of businesses
adversely.

The results of the Group are presented in US dollars, but the
Company and its various subsidiaries may receive revenue,
incur expenses and make investments in other currencies.
Any currency fluctuations on translation of the accounts of the
Company and these subsidiaries and also on the repatriation
of earnings and equity investments may therefore impact on
the Group’s businesses. Exchange rate of US dollars against
other foreign currencies is affected by, among other things,
changes in the political and economic environment of the
issuing jurisdictions of the currencies. The appreciation or
depreciation in US dollars against other foreign currencies may
materially affect the Group’s businesses, financial condition,
results of operations and growth prospects.
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Holding large and concentrated positions may expose us to
losses.

Concentration of risk may reduce revenues or result in losses
in our market-making, investing, block trading, underwriting
and lending businesses in the event of unfavourable market
movements. We commit substantial amounts of capital to these
businesses, which often results in our taking large positions in
the securities of, or making large loans to, a particular issuer or
issuers in a particular industry, country or region.

Technological changes and risks and cybersecurity risks may
affect our businesses to a certain extent.

Notwithstanding the appropriate measures adopted to protect
the Group’s computer system and information, the Group
cannot assure that there will be no occurrence of unlawful
break-ins or misuse with rapid technological advancement,
which may affect our businesses to a certain extent.

Credit Risk

Credit risk refers to the risk of loss arising when a borrower,
counterparty or issuer does not meet its financial obligations to
us.

We are exposed to the risk that third parties that are indebted
to us will not perform their obligations.

This risk may arise from a variety of business activities,
including but not limited to entering into swap or other
derivative contracts under which counterparties have
obligations to make payments to us; extending credit to
clients through various lending commitments; providing short
or long-term funding that is secured by physical or financial
collaterals whose value may sometimes be insufficient to
fully cover the loan repayment amount; posting margin and/
or collateral and other commitments to clearing houses,
clearing agencies, exchanges, banks, securities firms and
other financial counterparties; and investing and trading in
securities and loan pools whereby the value of these assets
may fluctuate based on realised or expected defaults on the
underlying obligations or loans.

Although we regularly review our credit exposures, default
risk may arise from events or circumstances that are difficult
to detect or foresee. We use an internal credit assessment
process to assess the potential borrower’s credit quality and
define credit limits granted to borrowers. We may suffer loss
on loans receivable if the repayment of principal and/or interest
is not paid on due date and/or the market value of collaterals,
such as shares in companies listed on the Stock Exchange or
certain properties in Hong Kong, fluctuate below the principal
of the loans receivable and/or interest.
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Legal, Regulatory and Compliance Risk

Legal, regulatory and compliance risk includes the risk of
legal or regulatory sanctions, material financial loss including
fines, penalties, judgments, damages and/or settlements, or
loss to reputation we may suffer as a result of our failure to
comply with laws, regulations, rules, related self-regulatory
organisation standards and codes of conduct applicable to
our business activities. This risk also includes contractual
and commercial risk such as the risk that a counterparty’s
performance obligations will be unenforceable. In today’s
environment of rapid and possibly transformational regulatory
change, we also view regulatory change as a component of
legal, regulatory and compliance risk.

The financial services industry is subject to extensive
regulation, which is undergoing major changes that will impact
our business.

The Group oversees potential compliance risks, such as
insider dealing and money laundering, on a regular basis.
With the support of external professional advisers where
appropriate, the Group monitors whether and the extent to
which additional regulatory requirements apply as a result of
the growth or expansion of our business and operations in
financial services business.

Similar to other major financial services firms, we are subject
to extensive regulations, which significantly affect the way
we do business and can restrict the scope of our existing
businesses and limit our ability to expand our product offerings
and pursue certain investments. The Group is and will continue
to be subject to a more complex regulatory framework, and
will incur costs to comply with new requirements as well as to
monitor for compliance in the future.

The above risk factors should be read in conjunction with
financial risk management objectives and policies as set out in
note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to building an environmental-friendly
corporation that pays close attention to conserving natural
resources. The Group strives to minimise its environmental impact
by saving electricity and encouraging recycling of office supplies
and other materials.

In accordance with Rule 13.91 of the Listing Rules, the
Company will publish an Environmental, Social and
Governance (the “ESG”) Report at the same time as the
publication of this annual report in compliance with the
provisions set out in the ESG Reporting Guide in Appendix C2
to the Listing Rules.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group is not aware of any instances of material breach of
or non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations
such as the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Chapter
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Listing Rules, and other
applicable local laws and regulations in various jurisdictions
during the Year and up to the date of this annual report.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The sustainability of the Group’s business relies on the
growth of the Group’s employees. Remuneration packages
of the employees are generally structured with reference to
prevailing market terms and individual qualifications. Salaries
and wages are normally reviewed on an annual basis based on
performance appraisals and other relevant factors.

Apart from salary payments, there are other staff benefits
including mandatory provident fund, medical insurance
and performance related bonus. Share options may also be
granted to eligible employees by the Group.

Relationships are the fundamentals of business. The Group
fully understands this principle and thus maintains a good
relationship with its stakeholders, including but not limited to
our customers, borrowers and tenants.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set
up by the Board on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence. The emoluments of the Directors are decided by
the Board duly authorised by the Shareholders in the AGM,
having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics. The Company
has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
Directors and eligible employees, details of which are set out
in note 27 to the financial statements contained in this annual
report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

From information publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules at all times
during the Year and as at the date of this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information set out on pages 42 to 74 of this annual report
and information incorporated by reference, if any, constitutes
the corporate governance report of the Company (“Corporate
Governance Report”).
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee (“Audit
Committee”) with written terms of reference based upon
the recommendations set out in A Guide for Effective Audit
Committees published by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (as defined below). The duties
of the Audit Committee include, inter alia, reviewing the
Company’s annual reports and interim reports and providing
advice and comments thereon to the Directors. The Audit
Committee is also responsible for reviewing and supervising
the financial reporting, risk management and internal control
procedures of the Group.

As at the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee
comprised three INEDs, namely, Mr. Lo Wa Kei, Roy, Mr.
Chen Gong, and Mr. Martin Que Meideng, with Mr. Lo Wa Kei,
Roy being the chairman of the Audit Committee. The audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year
have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

AUDITORS

Moore CPA Limited was appointed as the auditor of the
Company on 3 January 2020.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Year have been audited by Moore CPA Limited who shall retire
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment in the
forthcoming AGM. A resolution for their re-appointment as
auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming
AGM.

In order to maintain the independence and objectivity of Moore
CPA Limited, the Group has been monitoring the use of the
auditor for non-audit services and the balance of audit and
non-audit fees paid. The Audit Committee has pre-approved
the engagement of Moore CPA Limited to provide the
non-audit services and any other non-audit services must be
specifically pre-approved by the Audit Committee.

On behalf of the Board

Li Zhongye, Cindy
Chairperson
Hong Kong, 27 March 2024
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The Company strives to be a GREAT (i.e. Growth, Respect,
Excellence, Action, Transparency) company in all of its
operations and dealings with people. The GREAT values
are the foundation of the Company, and provide a core
commitment to achieve the best the Company can for all of the
stakeholders.

The culture of the Group is that the directors and management
of the Group are required to develop its business and
operation within the boundary of the applicable laws and
regulations and the general standards and expectations of
the business community and society. The Group is required to
operate based on sound governance and utmost integrity and
prohibit all kinds of damaging, corruptive, collusive, unethical
and discriminative acts.

FEEBEERABRER - AQRUKE—
&l GREAT (BN & (Growth) + B & (Respect) »
& # (Excellence) + 1T &) (Action) & & B
(Transparency)) AR ABE - GREATEER
RARIMER - TRERMOZLEE - 244
TAMENSIHBERESH  HMIST -
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ERZERERARERAME R —RIZEA
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EREERMBAEE E*”J:@f’ﬁ ZIEREH
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ORGANISATION CHART OF THE GROUP AND VARIOUS BOARD COMMITTEES
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
BEzg

Audit Committee
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Remuneration Committee
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1 Nomination Committee
Executive Committee REZRE
BITEEE
Management
=g
The Group is committed to maintaining a high standard of ZAEBH OEEFESKFEZLEEARLEMNA

corporate governance and enhancing its transparency so as
to protect shareholders’ interests in general. The Group will
continue to raise the standard by formalising the best practices
of corporate governance as far as possible.

The Company has adopted the principles and complied
with all the applicable code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (“Corporate Governance Code”) as set out
in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules for the Year.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprised one
non-executive Director, two executive Directors and three
INEDs.

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual
report, there is no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship between the Directors and the Board, which
comprised the following:

Non-Executive Director

Li Zhongye, Cindy (Chairperson)

Executive Directors

Leung Oi Kin
Leung Wai Yiu, Malcoln

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Lo Wa Kei, Roy
Chen Gong
Martin Que Meideng

The principal functions of the Board are to supervise the
management of the business and Company’s affairs; to
approve the Company’s strategic plans, investment and
funding decisions; to review the Group’s financial performance
and operative initiatives.

The role of the INEDs is to bring an independent and
objective view to the Board’s deliberations and decisions.
The INEDs must have appropriate professional qualifications,
or accounting or related financial management expertise, so
that they are of sufficient calibre and number for their views
to carry weight. Each Director may also take independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense in carrying out
their functions. The Board has reviewed and considered the
said mechanism to be effective in bringing independent views
and input are available to the Board.

The Board considers the current board size as adequate for its
present operations. The day-to-day running of the Company
is delegated to the senior management team, with divisional
heads responsible for different aspects of the business. The
Board is characterised by significant diversity, whether in
terms of gender, nationality, professional background and
skills. The Board has adopted the board diversity policy
(the “Board Diversity Policy”). The nomination committee
of the Company (“Nomination Committee”) is responsible
for reviewing and assessing Board composition and its
effectiveness on an annual basis.
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The Company has received from each of the INEDs an annual
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the INEDs to be
independent.

The Board is responsible for overseeing the development of
good corporate governance practice of the Group.

Role and Function on Corporate Governance

° to develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board

° to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management

° to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements

° to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors

o to review the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code and disclosure in this Corporate
Governance Report

° to review the implementation and effectiveness of the
Board Diversity Policy

Summary of work during the Year

° reviewed and monitored the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements

° reviewed the terms of reference of the Audit Committee
and Nomination Committee

o reviewed and updated the terms of reference of the
remuneration committee of the Company (“Remuneration
Committee”)

o reviewed the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code and disclosure in this Corporate
Governance Report

° reviewed the dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”)

o reviewed the Board Diversity Policy and its implementation
and effectiveness

o reviewed and updated Shareholders’ right

° reviewed and updated shareholders communication
policy

° reviewed and updated climate change policy

o arranged suitable training for Directors, placing an
appropriate emphasis on the roles, functions and duties
of a listed company director

° reviewed and approved the financial results of the
Company and announcements thereof

° approved the amendments of Bye-laws
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BOARD COMMITTEES
Executive Committee

The Board has delegated the management of the daily
operation and investment matters of the Group to the Executive
Committee. As at 31 December 2023 and up to the date of
this annual report, the Executive Committee comprised two
members, both being executive Directors, namely:

Executive Committee Members

Leung Oi Kin
Leung Wai Yiu, Malcoln

Audit Committee

As at 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee comprised
three members, all of whom are INEDs, namely:

Audit Committee Members

Lo Wa Kei, Roy (Chairman)
Chen Gong
Martin Que Meideng

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and
supervise the financial reporting process and internal control
procedures of the Group.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee have been
reviewed with reference to the Corporate Governance Code.
The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are posted on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange and are
also available from the company secretary of the Company
("Company Secretary”) on request.

In accordance with the terms of reference of the Audit
Committee, the Audit Committee meets at least twice a year to
review the interim results and the final results of the Company.
The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are aligned with
the recommendations set out in A Guide For Effective Audit
Committees issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code.
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Role and Function

to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment, reappointment and remova
of the external auditor, and to approve the remuneration and
terms of engagement of external auditor, any questions of its
resignation or dismissal

to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process
in accordance with applicable standards. The Audit
Committee should discuss with the auditor the nature and
scope of the audit and reporting obligations before the
audit commences

to develop and implement policy on engaging an external
auditor to supply non-audit services

to monitor integrity of the Company’s financial statements
and annual report and accounts, half-year report and, if
prepared for publication, quarterly reports, and to review
significant financial reporting judgments contained in
them

to review the Group’s financial controls, and unless
expressly addressed by a separate board risk committee,
or by the board itself, to review the Group's risk
management and internal control systems

to discuss the risk management and internal contro
system with management to ensure that management has
performed its duty to have an effective systems

to consider major investigation findings on risk
management and internal control matters as delegated
by the Board or on its own initiative and management’s
response to these findings

where an internal audit function exists, to ensure co-
ordination between the internal and external auditors, and
to ensure that the internal audit function is adequately
resourced and has appropriate standing within the
Group, and to review and monitor its effectiveness

to review the Group’s financial and accounting policies
and practices

to review the external auditor’'s management letter, any
material queries raised by the auditor to management
about accounting records, financial accounts or systems
of control and management’s response

to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to
the issues raised in the external auditor's management
letter

to report to the Board on the matters contained in code
provision of the Corporate Governance Code

to consider other topics, as defined by the Board

46 G-RESOURCES GROUP LIMITED 2023 ANNUAL REPORT

A 5 e

TERAMIIERBENERE EFZ
EThRRAEZSRMER  HEINE
A2 BB B 3 B K B AR GR - Ko BR 3R A
B B % 1% SR B BB SRR X R A A
]

128 AR R R B RN A BED 2
BEIEBLIEBREFREAER - BXK
Z B e RN 2 BUT {5 R 4R AT 55 B A% BED
MM EREEURAERRET

B 5N B 2 BUE HR 42 3 B B BRAS 1 R TR K
At F BT

ERAAFACHBRE  FERERE
B ERBERFRRE (ERTE) Y
A 1A D ECEE FE PR
5 1 17

A AEENPTBERE  ARERIEES
BRNEEEETAREZEESEHEZTEAR
FHERE) RIAEENRREERA
BEE RS

HER B wEREENMABEIERR -
BREEECETHRERLAMHEAR

ITHPXREEFTSRR LEBERARER
EAMEREENEERNEHERRER
BYHAETHERWLOEETHR

MARRAEANBEZINEE - ARERAI
Ko SN BE Kz BUAD B9 T E 15 B 167 38 - b 78
RALEZNEELSAEBEALEEHE
REME - W EBBEENMA A RIRET K
ERERK
BEHASENTERETBERRER

BENBZBMGETEEBN(ERE
SRR A G R AL - BT
FREIAMEERNEREERINEMNE
REFEAREEREFLOEE
BREFERFEERINEZBEEG T
BEEMNC(ERBARARM) RO
E =
REREBTUZTUNRXAATEEER
FEEEER
MRAETCHEFERTHRE



° to review arrangements employees of the Company can
use, in confidence, to raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or
other matters

° to establish a whistleblowing policy (“Whistleblowing
Policy”) and system for employees and those who deal
with the Group (e.g. customers and suppliers) to raise
concerns, in confidence and anonymity, with the Audit
Committee about possible improprieties in any matter
related to the Group

° to act as the key representative body for overseeing the
Company’s relations with the external auditor

Summary of work during the Year

° reviewed and made recommendation for the Board’s
approval of the draft 2023 interim report, 2022 annual
report and accounts

° reviewed management letter, tax issues, compliance and
salient features of 2023 annual accounts presented by
Moore CPA Limited, the external auditor

o reviewed the enhancements to the 2023 audit planning
process

° approved the audit services provided by Moore CPA
Limited

o reviewed the fees proposal of Moore CPA Limited for the
2023 audit work for the Group

o discussed, examined and reviewed 2023 annual
accounting and financial reporting issues

o reviewed and monitored the external auditor’s
independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of
the audit process

o reviewed the terms of reference of the Audit Committee

° reviewed the Whistleblowing Policy

o discussed, assessed and reviewed the reports, on
internal control and risk management system and its
effectiveness for the Year
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Remuneration Committee

As at 31 December 2023, the Remuneration Committee
comprised three members, all of whom are INEDs, namely:

Remuneration Committee Members

Lo Wa Kei, Roy (Chairman)
Chen Gong
Martin Que Meideng

The primary function of the Remuneration Committee is to
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management. The remuneration packages include benefits in
kind, pension rights and compensation payments, including
any compensation payable for loss or termination of their office
or appointment.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee have
been reviewed with reference to the Corporate Governance
Code. The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
are posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange and are also available from the Company Secretary
on request.

The details of the remuneration payable to the Directors and
members of senior management are set out in note 11 to the
financial statements contained in this annual report.

Role and Function

° to make recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all directors
and senior management's remuneration and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policy

° to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals
and objectives

o to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors
and senior management which include benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments (including
any compensation payable for loss or termination of their
office or appointment)

o to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of non-executive Directors

° to review the proposals for the award of share options to
executive Directors and senior management based on
their performance and contribution to the Company from
time to time
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to recommend to the Board the structure of long-term
incentive plans for executive Directors and certain senior
management

to consider salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities and employment
conditions elsewhere in the Group

to review and approve compensation payable to
executive Directors and senior management for any loss
or termination of office or appointment to ensure that it
is consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise fair
and not excessive

to review and approve compensation arrangements
relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for
misconduct to ensure that they are consistent with
contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and
appropriate

to ensure that no Director or any of their associates is
involved in deciding that director's own remuneration

to review and/or approve matters relating to share
schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules

Summary of work during the Year

reviewed the remuneration packages of individual
executive Directors and senior management

conducted an annual review of the remuneration
packages for executive Directors, non-executive Directors
and senior management based on their performance
reviewed and updated the terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee in accordance with the
amended Listing Rules

reviewed the 2014 Share Option Scheme and considered
whether a new share option scheme shall be adopted

Nomination Committee

As at 31 December 2023, the Nomination Committee
comprised three members, including the chairperson of the
Company and two INEDs, namely:

Nomination Committee Members

Li Zhongye, Cindy (Chairperson)
Chen Gong
Martin Que Meideng

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to
develop and maintain a formal and transparent process for the
appointment and re-appointment of members of the Board.
The Nomination Committee also reviews and assesses Board
composition and its effectiveness on an annual basis.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee have
been reviewed with reference to the Corporate Governance
Code. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
are posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange and are also available from the Company Secretary
on request.
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Role and Function

o to review the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board
at least annually and make recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company'’s corporate strategy

° to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships

° to assess the independence of INEDs

° to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or reappointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors, in particular the
chairman and the chief executive

o to review the policy concerning diversity of Board
members

Summary of work during the Year

° reviewed the Board Diversity Policy

o reviewed and assessed the structure, size and
composition (including the skills, knowledge and
experience) of the Board and its effectiveness

° assessed the independence of INEDs and confirmed that
all INEDs are considered independent

o reviewed the terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee

o proposed the Directors for re-election at AGM

o reviewed the nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”)

50 G-RESOURCES GROUP LIMITED 2023 ANNUAL REPORT

A 5 e

s EAEBERUVEZTENRE RELA
ROBEXRE MBER&RTE) X3
ERAAEAARBAMNARKEMEHE
EEFHNEBRIER

s VEAEESCEEMUETEREMHAL
THERZEBALTEEESS R UD
ExeRHER

s HERBUFRTEFHNHEULM

s UEFZAREHFZEUREF(LER
TERTRAR)EEFIRNEESRY
e

s RUEHMEFENEZTILZER

FHTHERE

s RNEFEXBEZTLHERE

s RULKFZEFTEMNRE  REBRRAMK
(BREKE  MELRERTE)AREK
5

s HRBUFANTEFHNBILIENERN
BBIUATEETZH LM

s RINREZEENBERE

s EREEABMRAFASERER
s mFEEREBRR(RERBRR]D



NOMINATION POLICY

1.

Purpose

The Nomination Policy sets out the process and criteria
of identifying potential candidates of the Company. The
Nomination Committee should ensure that the Board
has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the
Company'’s business.

Selection Criteria

The Nomination Committee shall consider the following
selection criteria in evaluating and selecting candidates
for directorships:

° character and integrity;

° qualifications including professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience that are relevant to
the Company’s business and corporate strategy;

o willingness to devote adequate time to discharge
duties as a Board member and other directorships
and significant commitments;

° requirement for the Board to have INEDs in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the
candidates would be considered independent with
reference to the independence guidelines set out in
the Listing Rules;

° succession planning or strategies for the ongoing
effective performance of the Board as a whole;

o Board Diversity Policy and any measurable
objectives adopted by the Nomination Committee
for achieving diversity on the Board; and

° such other perspectives appropriate to the
Company’s business.

These factors are for reference only, and are not meant to
be exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee
has the discretion to nominate any person, as it considers
appropriate.
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3.

Nomination Process

(a)

Appointment of New Director

(i)  The Nomination Committee shall, upon
receipt of the proposal on appointment of
new director and the biographical information
of the candidate, evaluate and assess such
candidate based on the selection criteria
as set out in section 2 above to determine
whether such candidate is suitable for
directorship.

(if)y  If there is more than one desirable candidates,
the Nomination Committee shall rank them
by order of preference based on the needs
of the Company and reference check of each
candidate (where applicable).

(iiiy The Nomination Committee shall then
recommend appointing the appropriate
candidate for directorship.

(iv) For any person that is nominated by a
shareholder for election as a director at
the general meeting of the Company, the
Nomination Committee shall evaluate such
candidate based on the criteria as set out in
section 2 above to determine whether such
candidate is suitable for directorship and
where appropriate, the Nomination Committee
and/or the Board shall make recommendation
to shareholders in respect of the proposed
election of director at the general meeting.

Re-Election of Director at General Meeting

(a)

52

The Nomination Committee shall review the overall
contribution and service to the Company of the
retiring director, including his/her attendance of
Board meetings and, where applicable, general
meetings, and the level of participation and
performance on the Board.

The Nomination Committee shall also review and
determine whether the retiring director continues to
meet the criteria as set out in section 2 above.

The Board, with the recommendation from
Nomination Committee, shall then make a
recommendation to shareholders in respect of the
proposed re-election of director at the general
meeting.
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Ultimate Responsibility for Selection and
Appointment

The nomination of directors is also subject to any
restrictions under the Bermuda law, the Listing Rules and
the Company’s Bye-laws. The Board shall have the final
decision on all matters relating to its recommendation of
candidates to stand for re-election at any general meeting.

Monitoring and Reporting

The Nomination Committee will disclose the Nomination
Policy and the progress made towards achieving the
objectives set out in the Nomination Policy in this
Corporate Governance Report.

Regular Review of the Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee will monitor and review the
Nomination Policy periodically to ensure that it remains
relevant to the Company’s needs and reflects both
current regulatory requirements and good corporate
governance practice.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

1.

Vision

The Company sees diversity at the Board level as an
important element in maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance. The Company is committed to a
diverse Board, so directors from diverse backgrounds
could present the Company effectively to various
constituencies, and to bring different and inspiring
perspectives into the boardroom.

Policy Statement

(@) The Company aspires to maintain an appropriate
range and balance of skills, experience and
background on the Board. In determining the
optimal composition of the Board, diversities
in skills, knowledge, regional and industry or
professional experience, background, ethnicity,
gender, age, cultural and educational background
and length of service and any other factors that
the Board may consider relevant and applicable
from time to time shall be considered. All Board
appointments are made on merits, in the context of
the skills and experience that the Board as a whole
requires to be effective, with due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board.

(b) The Nomination Committee will review and assess
the Board composition and its effectiveness on
an annual basis. When there is a vacancy on the
Board, the Nomination Committee will recommend
suitable candidates for appointment to the Board
on merits, based on the terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee, with due regard to the
Company’s specific circumstances.
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3. Measurable Objectives

(a)

Selection of candidates will be based on a range
of diversified perspectives, taking into account the
Board Diversity Policy. The ultimate decision will be
based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board, having due
regard to the benefits of diversity on the Board and
also the needs of the Board without focusing on a
single diversity aspect.

The Board would ensure that appropriate balance
of gender diversity is achieved with reference
to stakeholders’ expectation and international
and local recommended best practices, with the
ultimate goal of bringing the Board to gender parity.
The Board also aspires to have an appropriate
proportion of Directors who have direct experience
in the Group’s core markets, with different ethnic
backgrounds, and reflecting the Group’s strategy.

4. Monitoring, Reporting and Disclosure

(a)

54

The Nomination Committee will report annually
in this Corporate Governance Report, on the
composition of the Board (including gender, age,
length of service, education background and
working experience). The Nomination Committee will
discuss any revisions to the Board Diversity Policy
that may be required and make recommendation to
the Board for approval.

The Nomination Committee will monitor the
implementation of the Board Diversity Policy by
conducting review of the Board’s composition
at least once annually taking into account the
benefits of all relevant diversity aspects, and
adhering to the Board Diversity Policy when making
recommendation on any Board appointments. The
Nomination Committee will also ensure that diversity
is considered as part of the evaluation of the
Board'’s effectiveness.
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The Nomination Committee reviewed the Board's composition
and considered the Board Diversity Policy during the Year. The
Board Diversity Policy was amended on 27 March 2024. The
Board currently comprises experts from diversified professions
such as accounting, finance and management, and is
diversified in terms of gender, age, and duration of service,
which has effectively improved the effectiveness of the Board
in decision-making and strategic management.

The Board already have female director in place, achieved
board diversity and will continue to expand and ensure that
the Company fulfils the Board Diversity Policy and the Listing
Rules. The Company had a total of 6 Board members and 1
members of senior management, and the ratio of males to
females was 6:1.

DIVIDEND POLICY

1. The Dividend Policy sets out the structure of dividend
payout to the Shareholders.

2. Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as
amended), the contributed surplus account of the
Company is available for distribution. However, the
Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a
distribution out of contributed surplus if:

(a) itis, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its
liabilities as they become due; or

(b) the realisable value of its assets would thereby
be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its
issued share capital and share premium accounts.

3. The Company may distribute dividends by way of (1)
cash; (2) shares.

4.  The Board may from time to time pay to the Shareholders
such interim dividends as appear to the Board to be
justified by the position of the Company.

5. According to the Company’s Bye-laws, the Company in
general meeting may declare dividends in any currency
but no dividends shall exceed the amount recommended
by the Board.

6. The Company’s ability to pay dividends is also subject
to the requirements of the Listing Rules and all relevant
applicable laws, rules and regulations in Bermuda, Hong
Kong and the Bye-laws of the Company.
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7. In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall also 7.

take into account, inter alia:-

(a) the Company’s actual and expected financial
performance;

(b) retained earnings of the Company and each of the
members of the Group;

(c) the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return
on equity and the relevant financial covenants;

(d) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may
be imposed by the Group’s lenders, if any;

(e) the Group's expected working capital requirements
and future expansion plans;

(f)  general economic conditions and other internal or
external factors that may have an impact on the
business or financial performance and position of
the Company; and

(g) any other factors that the Board deem appropriate.

8.  Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to 8.

Shareholders’ approval.

9. The Board will continue to review the Dividend Policy 9.

(and its results) annually to ensure the Dividend Policy
remains relevant and useful over time.
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COMPANY SECRETARY ATHE

The Company Secretary, Mr. Leung Oi Kin, plays the role in

RAMERERELECBESRMBESTS

supporting the Board by ensuring good information flow within B RESZEKE  BRENMEEEZHEEANR
the Board, as well as communications with our Shareholders TR - AalMEZBRESRAFRIEEN

and management. The Company Secretary’s biography is set
out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors

SREREEEEHBI—HAR BEAFE -
REWMECRE LMRAEI G 2RE - &

and Senior Management” of this annual report. For the Year, S15/NEFEFEEF| - DAL E T GER A -

the Company Secretary undertook 15 hours of professional
training to update his skills and knowledge as required under
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

56 G-RESOURCES GROUP LIMITED 2023 ANNUAL REPORT



ATTENDANCES OF MEETINGS

The Board will also conduct meetings on a regular basis and
on an ad hoc basis, as required by business needs. The
Company’s Bye-laws allow Board meetings to be conducted
by way of telephone or video conference. The Board held a
total of four Board meetings during the Year.

Details of Directors’ attendance at the AGM, Board and Board
committees’ meetings held during the Year are set out in the
following table:
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Meeting Attended/Held
i/ Brz8;
Board of Audit Remuneration Nomination 2023
Directors Committee Committee Committee AGM!
—BC-=f
Name of Directors EEkE EEE EREES FMEET REEET RFEEERT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FHTEE
Li Zhongye, Cindy T 4/ N/A R & N/A R & 1M 1
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS BTEE
Leung Oi Kin Rl 4/4 N/A T8 75 N/A T8 7 N/A T8 75 1/1
Leung Wai Yiu, Malcoln RlEE 4/4 N/A R 8 N/A R 8 N/A R 8 1"
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE BiEHITES
DIRECTORS
Lo Wa Kei, Roy EEH 414 2/2 1/1 N/A T8 1/1
Chen Gong B 4/4 2/2 1/1 1/1 111
Martin Que Meideng HigE 4/4 2/2 1/1 1/1 1/1
Note: B 3 -
1. 2023 AGM was held on 16 June 2023. 1. CECCFRRBERENR_E=_=FA
+RB8T -

SUPPLY AND ACCESS TO INFORMATION EMiRHERER

All Directors have timely access to relevant information prior
to each Board meeting. Directors are provided with monthly
reports, covering financial and operating highlights and are
entitled to have access to board papers and related materials
to allow them to make informed decisions on matters arising
from Board meetings. Minutes of Board meetings and other
committees’ meetings are kept by the Company Secretary and
are open for inspection by the Directors.
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CHAIRPERSON AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Under code provision C.2.1 of Part 2 of the Corporate
Governance Code, the roles of chairman and chief executive
officer should be separated and not performed by the same
individual. Currently, the Company does not have a chief
executive officer. Meanwhile, Ms. Li Zhongye, Cindy, a
non-executive Director and the chairperson of the Company,
is responsible for the management of the Board. The
Executive Committee, comprising of two executive Directors,
is responsible for the day-to-day management of the business.
This clear division of responsibilities ensures a balance of
power and authority, preventing concentration of power in any
one individual.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code contained in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules, as the code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having made a
specific enquiry of all Directors, the Company confirmed that
all Directors have complied with the required standard set out
in the Model Code throughout the Year.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare
financial statements for each financial year which give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of
the results of its operations and its cashflows. In presenting
the interim and annual financial statements and results
announcements to Shareholders, the Directors aim to present
a balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s
position and prospects. The Directors are not aware of any
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as
a going concern, therefore the Directors continue to adopt the
going concern approach in preparing financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the Year, the Group engaged Moore CPA Limited as
auditors of the Company to perform audit service. Their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the
Group are set out in the Independent Auditor's Report on
pages 75 to 82 of this annual report.

The services provided by Moore CPA Limited and the fees
thereof were as follows:
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Nature of services RS IEEE

UsSD’000

FEx

Audit services ZER® 134
Non-audit services in relation to tax return HEEMBRANEEEER
preparation and other professional and advisory AR B2 IEZEARTE

services 19

153

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining a sound
and effective risk management and internal control system
for the Group. The Group’s system of internal control, which
includes a defined management structure with limits of
authority, is designed to help the achievement of business
objectives, safeguard assets against unauthorised use or
disposition, ensure the maintenance of proper accounting
records for the provision of reliable financial information
for internal use or for publication, and ensure compliance
with relevant legislations and regulations. The system is
designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance
against material misstatement or loss and to manage rather
than eliminate risks of failure in operational systems and
achievement of the Group’s objectives.
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The Board is responsible for the Group’s risk management
and internal control system and for reviewing its effectiveness
at least annually, in particular, considered those areas as
detailed in the code provision D.2.3 under Part 2 of the
Corporate Governance Code. The Board adopts a “top-down”
and “bottom-up” approach on the Group’s risk management.
The Audit Committee supports the Board in monitoring the
Group’s risk exposures, the design and implementation
effectiveness of the current risk management and internal
controls systems. Management assesses and presents
regular reports at the meetings of the Audit Committee for its
assessments of key risks, the strengths and weaknesses of the
overall risk management and internal controls systems, with
action plans to address the weaknesses. The Group does not
specifically have an internal audit department but engaged
an independent internal control consultant to provide internal
control review annually, which is responsible for carrying out
an independent review for parts of internal control processes
and activities, including action plans to address any identified
control weaknesses to the Audit Committee. External auditors
also report on any control issues identified in the course of
their work.

As part of the risk management and internal control systems,
executive Directors and the senior management would
regularly and closely review the financial and operating
performance of each department. The senior management
of the key operating subsidiaries is also required to keep
executive Directors informed of material developments of
the business of the department and implementation of the
strategies and policies set by the Board on a regular basis.
The processes for identifying, evaluating and managing
significant risks by the Group are summarised as follows:
Risk Identification e identifies risks that may potentially
affect the business and operations of
the Group
Risk Assessment ® assesses the risks identified by
using the assessment criteria
formulated by the management; and
o considers the impact of the risks on
the business and the likelihood of
their occurrence
Risk Response ° prioritises risks by comparing the
results of the risk assessment; and
° determines the risk management
strategies and internal control
procedures to prevent, avoid or
mitigate the risks
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Risk Monitoring °
and Reporting

performs ongoing and periodic

monitoring of the risk and ensures

that appropriate internal control
procedures are in place;

° revises the risk management
strategies and internal control
procedures in case of any significant
changes; and

. reports the results of risk monitoring

to the management and the Board

regularly

The abovementioned system enables the Group to (i)
systematically and thoroughly identify and assess all major
risks which threaten the achievement of business objectives,
(ii) optimise business opportunities and secure continuation
of business, (iii) recognise and identify uncertainties and
subsequently develop the identification of risks and measures
needed to manage the same, (iv) ensure the compliance with
relevant rules and regulations, and (v) be cost-effective in
risk management to avoid adopting unnecessary control and
management procedures.

The Company has implemented proper procedures and
internal controls for the handling and dissemination of
inside information to ensure that all current and prospective
investors of the Company and public are provided with
appropriate information relating to the Group in a timely and
simultaneous manner. The Group has a set of control process
for management of communications with Shareholders
and investors and prohibition of the unauthorised use
of confidential or non-public information. In general, the
authorised spokespersons only make clarification and
explanation on information that are available on the market,
and avoid providing or divulging any unpublished inside
information. Before conducting any external interview, if
the authorised spokespersons have any doubt about the
information to be disclosed, they will seek verification from
the relevant staff or the person-in-charge of the relevant
department, so as to determine if such information is accurate.
In addition, discussions on the Company’s key financial data
or other financial indicators are prohibited during the blackout
periods under the Listing Rules.
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Taking these into consideration, the Audit Committee reviews
the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal controls and
reports to the Board on such reviews. The Board, through the
Audit Committee, has effectively assessed the internal controls
and risk management system in place for the Group and the
Board is satisfied that the Group has fully complied with the
code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code on internal
control during the Year.

During the Year, the Group engaged an independent internal
control consultant to review and assess its internal control
system for the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 December
2023. The review covered parts of the system including risks,
operational, financial and compliance controls. The Board
and the Audit Committee are of the view that the Group’s
current internal control system is adequate and effective, and
will perform periodic reviews to improve and safeguard our
internal control system. If material internal control defect was
noted, the Company conducted continuous tracking for the
improvement of internal control defects, and counseled and
supported the persons in charge of internal audit function to
ensure good rectification results.

The Audit Committee has established and adopted an anti-
corruption policy and Whistleblowing Policy. Honesty and
integrity of conduct is paramount to the Group. Bribery, fraud,
and corruption are dealt with severely by our management to
keep unethical practices at bay. All personnel are required
to follow all applicable laws and regulations, including
the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Chapter 201 of the
Laws of Hong Kong). Our staff is required not to engage in
inappropriate behavior or malpractices that may endanger
interests of our customers and other stakeholders. To
identify and investigate unethical behaviours effectively,
the Whistleblowing Policy is set up by the Audit Committee,
encouraging employees, customers, suppliers and other
stakeholders of the Group to raise concerns and report any
suspected misconducts related to corruption to the Company
in a confidential manner. If the case is found to involve criminal
offence, it is referred to the Independent Commission Against
Corruption for further investigation. The Whistleblowing Policy
is posted on the websites of the Company and is also available
from the Company Secretary on request.
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INTERNAL CONTROL PROCEDURES FOR
CREDIT AND MONEY LENDING SERVICES

The subsidiaries of the Company, Global Access Development
Limited and Funderstone Finance Limited, are licensed money
lenders in Hong Kong under the Money Lenders Ordinance
(Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and are engaged in
money lending business for the purpose of generating interest
income for the Group. Risk management department of the
Group (“Risk Management Department”) is responsible to
determine an appropriate risk indicator and parameter for each
type of loans, including, inter alia, the tenor, principal amount,
LTV ratio, etc..

Loan portfolio and major terms and conditions

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had granted one secured
loan to one corporation with a carrying amount of USD5.0
million.

The secured loan interest rate is 13% per annum. The loan
tenor is twelve months.

Loans with a carrying amount of USD5.0 million will be due
within 1 year, and no loans will be due over 1 year.

The nature of the collateral for the loans granted by the Group
is as follows:
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The credit policies and internal controls procedures are in
place covering the entire life cycle of money lending operation,
which are summarised as follows:

Loan assessment

Credit committee of the Group (“Credit Committee”) or the
Board would assess the following factors in considering the
loan application:

(a)

(b)

Assessment on the potential borrowers

In conducting a series of know-your-client procedures
and credit assessment, the background, financial
position, integrity, cashflow and debt-serving capability
of the potential borrower under normal and stressed
conditions, the capacity of the potential borrower to
manage its business, the purpose and usage of the
loans, the financial source for repayment, the outlook
of the industry which the potential borrower is engaged
in, the valuation of the collaterals, other credit facilities
provided by third parties to the potential borrower will be
considered.

If the loan transaction involves guarantors, the guarantors
shall be subject to similar assessment. The guarantees
shall (i) represent a direct claim against the guarantor;
and (ii) be unconditional and irrevocable.

Assessment on the collaterals

The quality and value of collaterals are crucial for the loan
transactions. Collaterals acceptable to the Group mainly
include real properties, listed or unlisted securities,
financial products and valuable liquidity assets, etc.. All
secured loans are usually required to satisfy the LTV ratio,
i.e. the outstanding loan amount divided by the valuation
of the collaterals, of not over 100%.

In general, the Group will only accept collaterals which
satisfy the following criteria: (i) the market value of the
collaterals are readily determinable or can be reasonably
established or verified; (ii) there exists a readily available
secondary market for the collaterals; (iii) the right of
the Group to repossess the asset is legally enforceable
in all relevant jurisdictions without impediment; (iv) the
Group can have sufficient control over the collaterals,
if necessary; and (v) the Group possesses the relevant
expertise and knowledge and appropriate systems to
manage the collaterals.

If a collateral which its value has a material positive
correlation with the credit quality of the borrower (e.g.
securities issued by the borrower or related group entity),
it will not be heavily relied upon for credit risk mitigation.
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In conducting valuation on the collaterals, a formal
valuation report is usually required, unless such
collaterals are marketable securities with readily
determinable fair value.

Loan approval

All loans with applicable percentage ratios (as defined in
the Listing Rules) of less than 5% require the approval of all
members of the Credit Committee while those equal or more
than 5% require the approval of the Board.

If the Credit Committee or the Board approved the loan
application, a set of loan documents together with the loan
agreement are prepared and arranged among the borrower,
the guarantor (if any) and the Group. Once the loan is properly
documented and executed, the borrower can request for loan
drawdown in accordance with the loan agreement.

Loan monitoring and repayment collection

(a)

(b)

()

Periodic review of value of collaterals

The Risk Management Department will perform a periodic
review to determine whether there is any significant
change in the market value of the collaterals held by the
Group. If the LTV ratio of any loans increase significantly,
we may request the relevant borrower to make partial
repayment in advance or provide additional collaterals.

Stress testing on borrowers’ repayment ability and value
of collaterals

The Risk Management Department conducts stress
testing on the repayment capability of the borrowers at
regular intervals, taking into account potential downturn
of industry outlook, fluctuation in interest rate and/
or exchange rate. The results of the stress test will be
submitted to the Credit Committee for monitoring the risk
exposure of the loan portfolio.

If the stress testing results indicate that the risk exposure
has exceeded the risk tolerance level, the Credit
Committee may consider adjusting the credit indicator,
such as decreasing the maximum acceptable LTV ratio or
the debt-to-income ratio or execute any credit migration
action.

Loan management and monitoring and watch list
mechanism

The account manager of the Group monitors potential
problematic loans through direct business contact with
borrowers and other channels such as market information
and public announcement. The Credit Committee may
consider risk mitigation actions or place the loan on
watch list whenever necessary.
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Loan impairment

In the event that any borrower fails to make timely payment
for more than thirty days, the account manager of the Group
will inform the Credit Committee to consider whether further
actions are required to be taken for loan collection.

The Company adopted the requirements in respect of
expected credit loss assessment set forth in HKFRS 9 issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
in determining the impairment loss allowance for its loan
receivables. The impairment loss allowance is reviewed by
the Credit Committee and the Board from time to time. The
details of the accounting policies in respect of the impairment
assessment of financial assets are set out in note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements of the Group in this annual
report.

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023, no
impairment has been made for loans in the money lending
business.

Compliance with applicable laws and regulations

The Group has complied with all applicable laws and
government guidelines applicable to its money lending
business, including but not limited to the Money Lenders
Ordinance, Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist
Financing Ordinance, the Guidelines on Compliance of
Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing
Requirements for Licensed Money Lenders and the Listing
Rules.

DIRECTORS’ COMMITMENTS

The Company has received confirmation from each Director
that he/she has given sufficient time and attention to the affairs
of the Company for the Year. Directors have disclosed to the
Company the number and nature of offices held in Hong Kong
or overseas listed public companies or organisations and
other significant commitments, with the identity of the public
companies or organisations and an indication of the time
involved. Directors are also reminded to notify the Company
Secretary in a timely manner and bi-annually confirm to the
Company Secretary any change of such information. In respect
of those Directors who stand for re-election at the AGM in
2024, all their directorships held in listed public companies
in the past three years (if any) will be set out in the circular of
AGM in 2024.
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PARTICIPATION IN CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME
IN 2023

During the Year, Directors received regular updates and
presentations on changes and developments to the Group’s
business and to the legislative and regulatory environments in
which the Group operates. All Directors are also encouraged
to attend relevant training courses at the Company's expenses.
With effect from 1 January 2012, all Directors are required to
provide the Company with his or her training record.

During the Year, the Company arranged a seminar on 15
December 2023 on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements to the Directors. The seminar covered updates
and explanations of certain specific aspects of the regulatory
frameworks for listed issuer. All Directors have attended the
seminar.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR EBITES
Li Zhongye, Cindy Eee) v v
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS BITES
Leung Qi Kin 215 @& v v
Leung Wai Yiu, Malcoln RIEZ v v
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS Bk HITES
Lo Wa Kei, Roy EEE v v
Chen Gong 5% v v
Martin Que Meideng R iR v v
INSURANCE ARRANGEMENT TR HE

Pursuant to the code provision C.1.8 under Part 2 of the
Corporate Governance Code, the Company should arrange
appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal action against
its Directors. The Company has renewed its corporate liability
insurance purchased for its Directors and senior management.

TERM OF APPOINTMENT OF NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

All non-executive Director and INEDs have signed the letters
of appointment with the Company for a term of three years,
provided that they continue to be subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at AGM under the Bye-laws of the
Company.
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MEMORANDUM OF ASSOCIATION AND
BYE-LAWS

During the Year, the Company made amendments to its
Bye-laws to, among other things, (i) ensuring that the
Bye-Laws complies with the latest requirements of the Listing
Rules (including without limitation the Core Shareholder
Protection Standards as set out in Appendix A1l to the Listing
Rules) and the applicable laws of Bermuda; (ii) providing for
procedures for conducting and holding general meetings of
the Company by way of physical meetings, hybrid meetings
and electronic meetings, and (iii) making certain minor
housekeeping amendments to the Bye-Laws, which was
passed by the Shareholders by a special resolution at the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 16 June
2023. Details of the amendments are set out in the Company’s
circular dated 27 April 2023. The latest versions of the
Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws of the Company is
available on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange at
www.hkexnews.hk and the Company at www.g-resources.com.

Save as disclosed above, there has been no other significant
changes in the constitutional documents of the Company
during the Year.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT AND COMMUNICATION

We have been reporting our financial and non-financial results
in a transparent manner. Besides the annual report and the
interim report, we published and released, from time to time,
announcements and press releases.

The Company’s corporate website — www.g-resources.com,
provides an excellent channel for our Shareholders and other
interested parties to access information about the Company.
Shareholders can find from the website all key corporate
information and information of the Company including but not
limited to:

° Financial Reports

° Announcements and Press Releases

o Information on Change of Share Capital
o Circulars

o Terms of Reference of the various Board Committees
o Shareholders’ Rights

o Shareholders Communication Policy

° Whistleblowing Policy

° Board Diversity Policy

° Anti-corruption Policy

° Dividend Policy

° Nomination Policy

Shareholders are encouraged to attend all general meetings

of the Company and have the right to convene special general
meetings, if Shareholders consider necessary.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS ON CONVENING A
SPECIAL GENERAL MEETING

Bye-laws of the Company

Bye-law 62 of the Company’s Bye-laws sets out the position
where a requisition is made by Shareholders. Bye-law 62
provides that the Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene a
special general meeting (the “SGM”), and subject as otherwise
provided by the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (the
“Bermuda Companies Act”), the SGM shall also be convened
on the requisition of one or more Shareholders holding,
at the date of the deposit of the requisition in aggregate,
shares that represent not less than 10% of the voting rights
at general meeting of the Company, on a one vote per share
basis, in the share capital of the Company as at the date of
the deposit. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the
Board or the secretary for the purpose of requiring a SGM
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
or resolution specified in such requisition. Such requisition
must state the objects of the meeting and must be signed by
the requisitionists and deposited at the registered office of
the Company at Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street,
Hamilton HM 10, Bermuda (“Registered Office”). If the Board
does not within twenty-one days from the date of the deposit
of such requisition proceed duly to convene the SGM, the
requisitionists themselves or any of them representing more
than one half of the total voting rights of all of them may
convene a physical meeting at only one location which will be
the principal meeting place in accordance with the Bermuda
Companies Act.

Bermuda Companies Act

1. Pursuant to Section 74 of the Bermuda Companies Act,
the Directors, notwithstanding anything in its Bye-laws
shall, on the requisition of members of the Company
holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of such of the paid-up capital of the
Company as at the date of the deposit carries the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company, forthwith
proceed duly to convene a SGM of the Company.

2. The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting,
and must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited
at the Registered Office, and may consist of several
documents in like form each signed by one or more
requisitionists.

3. If the Directors do not within twenty-one days from the
date of the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to
convene a meeting, the requisitionists, or any of them
representing more than one half of the total voting rights
of all of them, may themselves convene a meeting, but
any meeting so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of three months from the said date.

4. A meeting convened under this section by the
requisitionists shall be convened in the same manner, as
nearly as possible, as that in which meetings are to be
convened by Directors.
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PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS
AT SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING BY A
SHAREHOLDER

1.

Sections 79 and 80 of the Bermuda Companies Act
allow certain shareholder(s) to make a requisition to the
Company to move a resolution at an AGM or circulate a
statement at any general meeting of the Company.

Under section 79 of the Bermuda Companies Act, it
shall be the duty of the Company on the requisition in
writing of such number of members, at the expense of the
requisitionists unless the Company otherwise resolves:

(a) to give to members of the Company entitled to
receive notice of the next AGM notice of any
resolution which may properly be moved and is
intended to be moved at that meeting;

(b) to circulate to members entitled to have notice of
any general meeting sent to them any statement of
not more than one thousand words with respect to
the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or
the business to be dealt with at that meeting.

The number of members necessary for a requisition
under paragraph 2 above shall be:

(a) either any number of members representing not less
than one-twentieth of the total voting rights of all
the members having at the date of the requisition a
right to vote at the meeting to which the requisition
relates; or

(b) not less than one hundred members.

Notice of any such intended resolution shall be given,
and any such statement shall be circulated, to members
of the Company entitled to have notice of the meeting
sent to them by serving a copy of the resolution or
statement on each such member in any manner permitted
for service of notice of the meeting, and notice of any
such resolution shall be given to any other member of
the Company by giving notice of the general effect of the
resolution in any manner permitted for giving him notice
of meetings of the Company, provided that the copy shall
be served, or notice of the effect of the resolution shall
be given, as the case may be, in the same manner and,
so far as practicable, at the same time as notice of the
meeting and, where it is not practicable for it to be served
or given at that time, it shall be served or given as soon
as practicable thereafter.
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5. Section 80 of the Bermuda Companies Act sets out the
conditions to be met before the Company is bound to
give notice of any resolution or to circulate any statement.
Pursuant to section 80 of the Bermuda Companies Act,
the Company shall not be bound to give notice of any
resolution or to circulate any statement as mentioned in
paragraph 2 above unless:

(a)

a copy of the requisition signed by the
requisitionists, or two or more copies which between
them contain the signatures of all the requisitionists,
is deposited at the Registered Office:

i) in the case of a requisition requiring notice of
a resolution, not less than six weeks before the
meeting; and

i) in the case of any other requisition, not less
than one week before the meeting; and

there is deposited or tendered with the requisition
a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s
expense in giving effect to the procedures in
paragraph 2 above.

Provided that if, after a copy of the requisition requiring notice
of a resolution has been deposited at the Registered Office,
an AGM is called for a date six weeks or less after the copy
has been deposited, the copy though not deposited within the
abovementioned time shall be deemed to have been properly
deposited for the purposes thereof.

SHAREHOLDERS’ COMMUNICATION POLICY

1. General

(a)

The Shareholders’ Communication Policy sets out
the standard and requirement of the Company in
relation to communication with its shareholders,
both individual and institutional (collectively,
“Shareholders”), and the Company’s potential
investors, analysts reporting and analysing
the Company’s performance (the “Investment
Community”).

The Company is committed to provide timely,
accurate and compliant information to its
Shareholders about the Company to enable them to
exercise their rights as Shareholders in an informed
manner.

The Board has approved the Shareholders’
Communication Policy. The Board shall maintain
an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and will
review the Shareholders’” Communication Policy on a
regular basis to ensure its effectiveness.
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Information shall be communicated to Shareholders
and the Investment Community mainly through the
Company’s financial reports (interim and annual
reports), AGMs and other general meetings that may
be convened, as well as by making available all the
disclosures submitted to the Stock Exchange and
its corporate communications and other corporate
publications on the Company’s website.

Effective and timely dissemination of information to
Shareholders and the Investment Community shall
be ensured at all times. Any question regarding
the Shareholders’ Communication Policy shall be
directed to the Investor Relations Department or the
Company Secretary.

2. Communication Strategies

Shareholders’ enquiries

(a)

(b)

72

Shareholders should direct their questions about
their shareholdings to the Company’s Registrar.

Shareholders and the Investment Community may
at any time make a request for the Company’s
information to the extent such information is publicly
available.

Shareholders and the Investment Community
shall be provided with designated contacts, email
addresses and enquiry lines of the Company
(and such other communication channels as may
be made available by the Company from time to
time) in order to enable them to make any query in
respect of the Company.

Enquiries, comments and suggestions to the
Board or the Company are welcome and can be
addressed to the Investor Relations Department by
mail to Room 1801, 18/F, Capital Centre, No. 151
Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong or by email
at investor.relations@g-resources.com.

Questions about the Company’s activities may be
directed to information@g-resources.com.

G-RESOURCES GROUP LIMITED 2023 ANNUAL REPORT

ARBRABREEEALTHEEZER
MEIEREBERARAUKRE (PH
REEHRE) RRBFRERHEE
AREARMBRRAE  YHMAR
RTMRXAOBEEER  URAF
BRALREEEREARBABFEM ZA

ATy -

P B 2 AR 7 R B 16 R R
BEATHEEN - MUBREBEA
B AR BRREEBR
BRAFWERE -

i 5 SR B
BERE#

(a)

(b)

BRERMBEZTHRHREEMER - &
RAARFBNRNBEERERED

BREREREALAI B E
RANAFEHR -

KRB

EERREREKEANLTRBEARFE
EREEA SHpIERERET
(ARARB T RIRHAOETE
BEE) UEMMARLEEFMBEER
NAINER o

BOmEEeAQAREER -

EANMEZ NUBFTEEBET
& T ITE15158 B A 01811801
=% & & B R 5 E # Zinvestor.

relations@g-resources.com °

BERARBEHNEEN BEZEER

£ information@g-resources.com °



Corporate Communication*

(f)

Corporate communication will be provided to
Shareholders in plain language and in both English
and Chinese versions to facilitate Shareholders’
understanding. Shareholders have the right to
choose the language (either English or Chinese) or
means of receipt of the corporate communications
(in hard copy or through electronic means).

Shareholders are encouraged to provide, amongst
other things, in particular, their email addresses
to the Company (and such other communication
channels as may be made available by the
Company from time to time) in order to facilitate
timely and effective communications.

Corporate Website

(h)

A dedicated Investor Relations section
is available on the Company’'s website
http://www.g-resources.com. Information on the
Company’s website is updated on a regular basis.

Information released by the Company to the
Stock Exchange is also posted on the Company’s
website immediately thereafter. Such information
includes financial reports, results announcements,
circulars and notices of general meetings and other
regulatory disclosures.

All press releases, corporate presentation and
quarterly update, etc. (if any) issued by the
Company or its subsidiaries will be made available
on the Company’s website.

Shareholders’ Meetings

(k)

Shareholders are encouraged to participate in
general meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and
vote at meetings for and on their behalf if they are
unable to attend the meetings.

Appropriate arrangements for the AGMs and other
general meetings shall be in place to encourage
Shareholders’ participation. Shareholders are also
encouraged to speak at the meetings.

The process of the Company’s general meetings will
be monitored and reviewed on a regular basis, and,
if necessary, changes will be made to ensure that
Shareholders’ needs are best served.
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(n) Board members, in particular, either the chairman
or vice-chairman of Board committees or their
delegates, appropriate management executives and
external auditors will attend AGMs and (if relevant)
other general meetings to answer Shareholders’
questions.

(0) Shareholders are encouraged to attend
shareholders’ activities organised by the Company,
where information about the Company, including but
not limited to its latest strategic plan, products and
services etc., will be communicated.

3. Shareholder Privacy

The Company recognises the importance of
Shareholders’ privacy and will not disclose Shareholders’
information without their consent, unless required by law
to do so.

4. Publication and Review of the Shareholders’
Communication Policy

The Shareholders’ Communication Policy is available
on the website of the Company. The Board will review
the Shareholders’ Communication Policy on a regular
basis and update the same if necessary to ensure the
Shareholders’ Communication Policy remains relevant
and useful over time.

#  Corporate Communication refers to any document issued or to be
issued by the Company for the information or action of holders
of any of its securities, including, but not limited to, the directors’
report and annual accounts together with a copy of the auditor’s
report, the interim report, a notice of meeting, a circular and a
proxy form.

The Board conducted a review of the implementation and
effectiveness of the Shareholders’ Communication Policy
during the Year and the Board is satisfied with the results
thereof given the above measures.

SUBMISSION OF ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Enquiries, comments and suggestions to the Board or the
Company are welcome and can be addressed to the Investor
Relations Department by mail to Room 1801, 18/F, Capital
Centre, No. 151 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong or by
email at investor.relations@g-resources.com.

Questions about the Company’s activities may be directed to
information@g-resources.com.

74 G-RESOURCES GROUP LIMITED 2023 ANNUAL REPORT

(n) %%@WE(%%‘J%%%AETié
BEgmMEREHBETFHIERRK)
EaE’Jﬁﬁﬁlﬁﬁi)\é!&ﬁl\ﬁﬂ?%lﬁﬂ%
HERRBEFRER(MER EE
RERRE  UEIERFEM -

(0) BBRRHFEARREWHBREE
B UKMBERARANBERL B
BARREAORERE  Emk

BHEE -

3. BRRWLE

ARABHARERRLENEZNE &K
EOIREIN FTEEESRRRAEAE
BRERREN -

4. R RRE G WK RY 3 M A0 AR BE

BRRBABRKRAIEARR M SR -
EEeRENRERRABAREK X HE
VEREHHEAST  ABREKRREM
BREERBRFBABERERML

* LNBJBE SRR A EAE A A F ] 75 AR

BIA 1 55 ZF LA H 2 B3 SRRIT B 49 1 (] XA
BEETRR)EEFEHRERFRKAZRNE
B RS  FTHHES SHBL BRIRAE
ZEXRTS -

EEeNFRAERIRRBARKNERE
MR ER LR EESERAT
DME °

MESFERXEN

MARmEBESRARAAERER Tk
FOBOREEEERBES U AFEE
&5 T BI515R E AR R L18E1801E = & #

Zinvestor.relations@g-resources.com °

FERAARAEHcHEBEITERER =

information@g-resources.com ©


mailto:investor.relations%40g-resources.com?subject=
mailto:information%40g-resources.com?subject=
mailto:investor.relations%40g-resources.com?subject=
mailto:information%40g-resources.com?subject=

B 75 3% FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

K| MOORE

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF G-RESOURCES GROUP LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of G-Resources Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set
out on pages 83 to 195, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
material accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BBk &

Key audit matter

HEEREE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BREERPZERSE

Valuation of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss classified as level 3 under fair value hierarchy

PEBATEERE-REAFENBARE DA ANER ENEEZHE

We identified the valuation of financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVTPL’) classified as level 3 under the fair value hierarchy (the
“Level 3 financial instruments”) as a key audit matter due to the significance
of the balance to the consolidated financial statements as a whole, the
complexity involved in valuing the instruments and the significance of the
judgments required and estimates made by management. In particular, the
determination of unobservable inputs is considerably more subjective given
the lack of availability of market-based data.

The Level 3 financial instruments mainly include (i) unlisted private equity
funds; (ii) unlisted hedge funds; and (iii) unlisted equity investments, with
carrying amounts at 31 December 2023 of USD256,951,000, USD5,048,000,
and USD53,398,000 respectively.

The details of the valuation techniques and unobservable inputs of the Level
3 financial instruments are set out in notes 17 and 29 to the consolidated
financial statements.

MO BARTEERE-R(F=ReRTA)RATFHIEAAE
ARG (RATEASAEZHHARR )2 eREEZ BRI AAIR

BREE RARZAESKUNGAMBRRBEM=AEN AIAMGEMR
BRMEREARERBMIERMHB A - LER  ARNRZERTS
MERE EETTERGAUBRRMSENIBREES -

E-REBTAFERREOFELTAREREES  ()FELTHRES R(i)
FETRARE  RZZE-ZF+-A=+—BMEEEH B A256,951,000
% 7T+ 5,048,000% 7T 53,398,000 T
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Our procedures in relation to the valuation of Level 3 financial instruments
included:

. Obtaining an understanding of the valuation methodologies and the
processes performed by management with respect to the Level 3
valuation of financial instruments;

. Agreeing the unlisted investments (including (i) unlisted private equity
funds; (i) unlisted hedge funds; and (iii) unlisted equity investments
on the number of fund units and shares of investments and other
relevant particulars of the investments held by the Group to the
confirmations received independently from the issuers or the fund
administrators;

o In respect of the unlisted private equity funds,

— checking the net asset value against financial information
provided by the fund managers or fund administrators;

S performing retrospective testing of the net asset value
statements provided by fund managers or fund administrators
against audited financial statements of the funds where these
were available; and

— evaluating the appropriateness of the methodologies, integrity
of assumptions and data used in determining the fair value of
certain investments.

. In respect of the unlisted hedge funds,

— checking the net asset value against financial information
provided by the fund managers or fund administrators; and

= obtaining the investment fact sheets and understanding
on the investment portfolio held by the hedge funds, and
evaluating the reasonableness of their performance based on
our industry knowledge;
BMEARE=RepIAMENRFBE:
. TRERERE-ReRIARERETORER ERERF
. BREFLTREBEOFLFAERERES  (VFLTHAES R
(NFETRARE)EBECENHEREGREAUR ESEMF
REMEWETALECERABUERNBERENEBFE:
. RELTASREEEME

— PEEFEHASKERESERARUNUBENENTR

4

— HBEAGEERUMBREWASG) BHAXESEBEIE
SEBARBNEEFERR K

— RETETREZLAVTERBZAERERE BRER™
BRETE -

o HELTHWELWE

— HNEEFESA
#iR

— DGREGNR TRUDELHABOREAS IRER
MEOTEABFERANGIE]E:

CEBRESEEARBNABERETR

G-RESOURCES GROUP LIMITED 2023 ANNUAL REPORT



B I3  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BB R E
KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) HAEEESEHE®
Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
HHRERER BMEERPZRER T

Valuation of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss classified as level 3 under fair value hierarchy (Continued)
NEBATEERREZARATEHAZEAHEH I ANERZEHEEZHE(E)

o In respect of unlisted equity investments,

S evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the
independent external valuation expert, taking into account its
experience and qualifications and business interests with the
Group;

— performing the following procedures, with the assistance of
our internal valuation specialists, where appropriate:

. evaluating the appropriateness of the methodologies
and valuation techniques used by management
for unlisted equity investments included in Level 3
financial instruments;

o assessing the reasonableness and relevance of
key assumptions and inputs based on our industry
knowledge; and

o checking the mathematical accuracy of the fair value
calculations.

° Reviewing and assessing the related disclosures made in the
consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BBk &

Key audit matter

HEEREE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BREERPZERSE

Valuation of investment properties

REMEZEE

We identified the valuation of investment properties as a key audit matter due
to the high level of estimation uncertainty and the significant assumptions
and judgments involved in the valuation.

As disclosed in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group’s
investment properties amounted to USD63,514,000 as at 31 December
2023. Loss on fair value change of investment properties of USD728,000 was
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year then
ended.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties was determined by
adopting the valuation techniques with significant unobservable inputs,
assumptions of market conditions and judgments on appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs adopted. The Group also worked closely with the
independent qualified valuer to establish and determine the appropriate
valuation techniques.
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Our procedures in relation to management’s fair value assessment included:

° Reviewing the valuation report from the independent qualified valuer
and holding discussion with management and the independent
qualified valuer to understand the valuation basis, methodology used
and underlying assumptions applied;

. Evaluating management’s process in respect of reviewing the
valuation performed by the independent qualified valuer;

° Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the
independent qualified valuer;

. Obtaining the underlying data including comparables of the market
transactions used by the independent qualified valuer and assessing
whether they are appropriate; and

. Performing market research and analysis to assess whether the
changes in fair value of investment properties resulted from the

valuation was reasonable and consistent with the market trends to our
knowledge.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B &3k &

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B &3k &

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Moore CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors

Lai Hung Wai
Practising Certificate Number: P06995

Hong Kong, 27 March 2024
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B 75 3% FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

GERBRR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T - =F+=-A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—EgE-= —E-F
NOTES USD’000 USD’000
83 FET FET
Revenue I &=
Interest income B WA 7 29,939 13,930
Dividend and distribution income B Kok A 7 56,711 10,107
Fee and commission income FEBRAHKA 7 957 1,388
Rental income He kA 7 1,452 1,448
89,059 26,873
Other income Epv kA 25,055 9,086
Administrative expenses THRAX (7,533) (10,878)
Gain/(loss) on disposal of investments HERBHEKATEZ
in debt instruments measured at BERETEREZWZE
amortised cost (E518) 6 (1,289)
Impairment loss on goodwill BB EEE 20 — (943)
Fair value changes of financial assets EAFEFEAEE
and investments in perpetual notes FAE R ((ERAFEE
at fair value through profit or loss EAHEFHFTABE]
(“FVTPL") LEBMEERXKARZR
"EZATEEY (100,528) (106,724)
Provision for expected credit losses on  BEc M EEBHEE
financial assets, net 518 F 58 (2,126) (2,643)
Decrease in fair value of investment BREMEZAFERD
properties 16 (728) (281)
Other gain/(loss) Helzm(E8) 3,882 (2,632)
Finance costs b & AR 8 — (3)
Profit/(loss) before taxation FATFE,(E8) 7,087 (89,434)
Taxation TIg 9 — =
Profit/(loss) for the year FRFE(EE) 10 7,087 (89,434)
Profit/(loss) for the year THANLTEEFERFE
attributable to: (E518) -
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIE =N 7,107 (89,927)
Non-controlling interests FEE AR B = (20) 493
7,087 (89,434)
Earnings/(loss) per share BRAEF (EE)
- Basic and diluted (US cent) — EARREE(EMN) 13 1.58 (19.95)
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B &3k &

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

GEERRATREMARR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE T - =F+=-A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—F-= —E-F
UsSD’000 USD’000
FER FET
Profit/(loss) for the year FANFE(E8) 7,087 (89,434)
Other comprehensive (expenses)/income: Hez2@Em(AX) kA
ltems that will not be reclassified to TEENITEZEEN
profit or loss: BHH:
Exchange differences on translation from HEREEERERZT
functional currency to presentation BEZE N ERE
currency (2,910) (147)
Gain on disposal of investments in HEETAEATFETE
perpetual notes designated as at BEZHFIAEEEZAEANK
fair value through other comprehensive Al AFEFTEEH
income (“FVTOCI") FHRAHEE2EKA D
ZKARBRE 2 W= — 8
Changes in fair value of investments in BEERELATETERHR
perpetual notes designated as at FVTOCI g AEEEZEREA
CKABZBREZRNF
BE# 196 (179)
ltem that may be reclassified subsequentlyto E TR EH D EEEHEN
profit or loss: HH:
Exchange differences arising on BMEBINERZ
translation of foreign operations e H =58 561 121
Other comprehensive expenses FRAEBEEEMAX
for the year (2,153) (197)
Total comprehensive income/(expenses) FRE2EE A (FAX)
for the year 4858 4,934 (89,631)
Total comprehensive income/(expenses) TIHATEEFAZE
for the year attributable to: WA/ (AX) e :
Owners of the Company KAREERA 4,954 (90,124)
Non-controlling interests JEIE R (20) 493
4,934 (89,631)
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B 75 3% FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

HEMBRRAR

At 31 December 2023 W=_Z—_=ZF+-_A=+—H

2023 2022
—EgE-= —_E-_F
NOTES USD’000 USD’000
k=3 F=Ex FEXT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Long-term time deposits R HEIE B F K 23 200,000 —
Property, plant and equipment Y BB M 14 28,753 29,572
Investment properties KEME 16 63,514 64,381
Financial assets at FVTPL BEAFEFEAEE
AABRCZEREE 17 324,361 418,585
Investments in associates REE QAR ZIEE = o
Investments in debt instruments BHHEEXNAGFEZEE
measured at amortised cost TAKE 17 82,972 36,396
Investments in perpetual notes BRAFEFEAHEEHE
at FVTPL ABRZKAREBRE 17 21,637 22,586
Investments in perpetual notes EBERZATEEER
designated as at FVTOCI HEHFAHETE2AE
WAZKABRBERE 17 3,017 2,821
Other receivables and deposits HEveRKEFRLRES 18 545 564
Intangible assets mEEE 19 1,746 1,746
Goodwill EES 20 17,029 17,029
743,574 593,680
CURRENT ASSETS MEBEE
Accounts and other receivables JE U & H v Uk BR 3K 18 39,888 14,807
Loans receivable JE U B 3 21 5,000 -
Investments in debt instruments RBERKATFEZES
measured at amortised cost TAEKE 17 26,119 20,111
Financial assets at FVTPL EATEF=AHES
AR eMEE 17 27,838 39,383
Time deposits with original maturities REBABRA=-MEAMN
over three months EBFR 23 567,231 30,000
Bank trust accounts balances RITELRFPE & 22 28,285 48,037
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEIER 23 130,308 854,253
824,669 1,006,591
CURRENT LIABILITIES nREERE
Accounts and other payables FER R EEEMERR 24 30,949 59,786
NET CURRENT ASSETS RENEEFE 793,720 946,805
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEMEARSHER
LIABILITIES 1,537,294 1,540,485
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 817 3 &

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
HERBRRR

At 31 December 2023 R—ET-=F+-_A=+—H

2023 2022
—_Eg-= —T-=

NOTES UsSD’000 USD’'000
K it F=3x FEx

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBERE
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIBE B E 25 288 288
Accrued expenses FEE X 24 42 66
330 354
1,536,964 1,540,131

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXEHE
Share capital fig A 26 598 598
Reserves it 1 1,536,197 1,537,599

Equity attributable to owners of the KATHEB ANEALEZE

Company 1,536,795 1,638,197
Non-controlling interests FE 12 I 2= 169 1,934
TOTAL EQUITY EREE 1,536,964 1,540,131

The consolidated financial statements on pages 83 to 195 EBIZ1BA Y GAVERRNR-_E_NF=
were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of A-t+t+tREEE=S ERERERZE  XHT

Directors on 27 March 2024 and are signed on its behalf by: NEERREE:
Leung Oi Kin Leung Wai Yiu, Malcoln
214 e RER
Director Director
EF EF
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Bf 1534 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GEERBER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B EZE T - =F +-_A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FATRFAEL
Financial
asset
designated
Capital as Non-
Share Share redemption Contributed  Exchange atFVTOCI  Retained controlling
capital  premium reserve surplus reserve reserve  earnings Total interests Total
EeB
BATE
HERR
28\
£E2E
&% BAZEH
ks BRiER HEEE G ARR  ERRE EEHE  REERW BE BRER ag
USD'000  USD'000  USD'000  USD'000  USD'000  USD'000 UsD’000 UsD'000 UsD'000 usD'000
iR TET TET TET TET FERT FER iR iR iR
(Note)
(i)
At 1 January 2022 “E--f-f-H 508 1,023,183 212 45,931 (4,265) o 569576 1,635,234 2553 1,637,787
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(EE) /R - - - - - - (89,927) (89,927) 493 (89,434)
Exchange difference arising on REERMEEZEREE
translation - - - - (26) - - (26) S (26)
Gain on disposal of investments in HEETARATEFEALEY
perpetual notes designated as at SARERERAZKARE
FVTOCI REZ W = o S S S 8 S 8 — 8
Changes in fair value of investments ErARATEFERAZHHA
in perpetual notes designated as at EUR2ENAZAAREREL
FITOC! ATESY = = = - - (179) - (179) - (179
Total comprehensive (expense)fincome  EA2E(RX) /WA LE
for the year - - - - 26) (171 (89927)  (90,124) 93 (89,631
Acquisition of non-controlling interests  WE SRR - - - - - - - - (1,112) (1,112)
Final 2021 dividend recognised as BRBARN-F--FREKE
distribution - - - - - - (6,913) (6,913) - (6,913)
At 31 December 2022 and RZBZZ#+-A=+-BR
1 January 2023 —%-zf-8-H 598 1,023,183 212 45,931 (4,291) (1) 472,735 1,538,197 1,934 1,540,131
Profit/loss) for the year ERFE/ (BB - - - - - - 7107 7107 (20) 7087
Exchange difference arising on BELRMEL BN ER
translation - - - - (2,349) - - (2,349) - (2,349)
Changes in fair value of investments KEARATEFERAEDHA
in perpetual notes designated as at EUR2ENAZKAZBREL
FVTOCI LTEES - = = = = 196 = 196 = 196
Total comprehensive (expenses)fincome  ER2E(FX)/ MAEE
for the year = = = - 3 19 707 4,954 @) 493
Acquisition of non-controlling interests ~ AUE IR - - - - - - 545 545 (1,745) (1,200)
Final 2022 dividend recognised as BABARN-ZZZFXBRE
distiouton = = = = = — o) (690 - M)
At 31 December 2023 SE-CE+CETt-F 598 1,023,183 M 45 (6,640) % 43486 1536795 169 1,536,964
Note: B it -
The contributed surplus includes the surplus arising from capital #SABKRBEER-_TTZNFAART_—FA

reorganisations in June 2009 and June 2021.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B &3k &

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GEHERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE T - =F+=-A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—F-= —E-F
USD’000 USD’000
FERT FET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES HEEE
Profit/(loss) before taxation RATFE,(&8) 7,087 (89,434)
Adjustments for: MTHIBEELHAE:
Interest income FE WA (53,476) (21,892)
Dividend income iz B A (626) (3,026)
Depreciation of property, plant and M- - BMERZEBITE
equipment 753 770
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZCTE = 60
Impairment loss on goodwill BB & 1 = 943
Fair value changes of financial assets and BRATHEFEEEES
investments in perpetual notes FFABERCERMEER
at FVTPL KARBREZ
NEEED 100,528 106,724
(Gain)/loss on disposal of investments in HERBHEKATEZ
debt instruments measured BEHRILAKREZ
at amortised cost (b z=) BB (6) 1,289
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME WMEMEKHEZ
equipment &5 18 2 —
Gain on disposal of interests in HER-—RWEAAH
a subsidiary 7z 2 W= (134) (120)
Provision for expected credit losses BEcnEECTEN
on financial assets, net FEEEBBRFE 2,126 2,643
Finance costs & K AR = 3
Decrease in fair value of investment WEME 2 ANFERD
properties 728 281
Operating cash flows before movements in EEESEHA
working capital BEBRME 56,982 (1,759)
(Increase)/decrease in accounts and other R EETERERE
receivables and deposits & GE M), m (1,038) 16,337
Loans advanced to money lender customer MBEARFPEMN ZER (5,000) —
Decrease/(increase) in financial assets BEAFEFEEEEHAA
at FVTPL BERzeRmEERDS
(3% hn) 1,725 (2,852)
Decrease/(increase) in bank trust accounts BT EAREF&SHRL
balances (3 ) 19,751 (8,639)
(Decrease)/increase in accounts and other ERRETEMERCRD),
payables 3N (21,617) 7,276
Cash generated from operations HETHRRZEE 50,803 10,363
Interest received B W F B 19,678 5,830
Dividend received 2R B 634 3,018
Net cash from Operating Activities KETHRBZHAEFE 71,115 19,211
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B 75 3% FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T - =F+=-A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—EgE-= —E-F
USD’000 USD’000
FERT FET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES ‘& EE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEME BELZE 1) (55)
Purchase of financial assets at FVTPL BERAFTEF=REZS
ARGz EmEE (62,340) (47,419)
Purchase of investments in debt instruments BEEREBHEKATEZ
measured at amortised cost EHLTAKE (82,446) (42,127)
Purchase of investments in perpetual notes BERTAEAYEF=Z
designated as at FVTOCI BEEZHHFAEEEZE
WAZXKARBRE — (3,992)
Proceeds from disposal and redemption of & K B (B 4% 8 A R
investments in debt instruments measured FFEvEBIAKRE
at amortised cost Fri§ k18 31,863 42,360
Proceeds from disposal and redemption of HERBELZRAFENTS
investment in perpetual notes at FVTPL BEEHHTFABERZ 2 KA
EBRREZMERA 1,900 3,390
Proceeds from disposal and redemption of HERERETAZATFE
investment in perpetual notes designated as FEBEEEHFAREE
at FVTOCI PHBAZKARBERE
Z T8 5k — 1,000
Proceeds from disposal of an unlisted equity  H &I F TR ARE 2
investments Fr 5 3R 272 —
Proceeds from redemption of unlisted hedge  [ELFE LR HmES ~
funds T 15 58 39,265 —
Proceeds from return of capital of financial EAFHEFERHEES)
assets at FVTPL ARGz emEEZE
ANE R 2 PSR 10,493 4,910
Proceeds on disposal of interests in HERWBRARIMNEZREY
subsidiaries FT 18 3B 396 148
Repayment of other payables EEH T ENRIE (7,200) —
Interest received 2 A E 19,921 11,700
Net placement of time deposits with original FERINSHABE-MEAN
maturities over three months FHEREEHEHER
and long-term time deposits F R (737,231) (30,000)
Net cash used in Investing BETBMAZHEEFHE
Activities (785,108) (60,085)
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 817 3 &

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE T - =F+=-A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—EZ= T
USD’000 USD’000
FERT FET
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEE

Acquisition of non-controlling interests W HE FE 150 IR & (1,200) (1,112)
Dividend paid to shareholders EEESENRES (6,901) (6,913)
Repayments of leases liabilities BREHEHEARE — (60)
Interest expense paid BENFBERX — (3)
Net cash used in Financing Activities REFHAZRESFE (8,101) (8,088)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents R&RRLLEEEBHREL
B (722,094) (48,962)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginningof £ #R&¢RWLZEEIER
the year 854,253 900,845
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes hEEREH zHE (1,851) 2,370
Cash and cash equivalents at end of theyear F£XRIE & BRI & Z{HIEH 130,308 854,253
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Bf 1534 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T - =F+=-A=+—HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

G-Resources Group Limited (the “Company”) is an
exempted company with limited liability incorporated
in Bermuda and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The address of the registered office and principal place
of business of the Company is disclosed in the Corporate
Information of the annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company.
The principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set
out in note 36.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
United States Dollars (“USD”), which is different from the
Company’s functional currency of Hong Kong Dollars
(*HKD"). The management adopted USD as presentation
currency as the management controls and monitors the
performance and financial position of the Group based
on USD. Each entity in the Group determines its own
functional currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS AND CHANGES IN OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICY

Amendments to Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
new and amendments to Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS”s) and Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRS”s) (hereinafter collectively referred
to as “New and Amended HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 for
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements.

1.
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FERHEEI REBTEERHR
SR RHAEEEFBREH

KEFEFEN Z2EEBITER
W& L
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 817 3 &

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 E T - =F+-_A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS FERFHI R EETEEURE
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING BEEXEARETCEABRES
STANDARDS AND CHANGES IN OTHER (%)

ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)

Amendments to Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

AEERHNERZEEBITEE
B3R E £ ()

HKAS 8 (Amendments) Definition of Accounting Estimates BAGHENFSR(BITA)  CHEHITE

HKAS 12 (Amendments) Deferred Tax Related to Assets and BB EHENSE125 HE-RHEENEE
Liabilities Arising from a Single (BATE) REERBNRE
Transaction HE

HKAS 12 (Amendments) International Tax Reform — Pillar Two BERHENFEFR (BT BRBHE —
Model Rules THTEHE

HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Disclosure of Accounting Policies BAGHENFINRER BHHRIBRE

Statement 2 (Amendments)

HKFRS 17 (including the October
2020 and February 2022 HKFRS
17 (Amendments))

Insurance Contracts

Except as described below, the application of the New
and Amended HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial performance
and positions for the current and prior years and/

VEREENEERE

F25 (BT F)
BRMBREENETH RBAHL

(BE-Z-ZF+AR

TR CEZRBRERE

REEUNETH (B X))

BRI XAt oh - MAFEE BRI RE
BRINEEMBRELNHAEENAK
FERBAEFEZUBRRRMR K,/
HEEMBBRRAEREETALEEX

or disclosures set out in the consolidated financial %

statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments FE & /& & 5t % Bl 55855k (18 3T
to HKAS 8 “Definition of Accounting X)NEH A ZERIZRE

Estimates”

The Group has applied the amendments for the first
time in the current year. The amendments define
accounting estimates as “monetary amounts in financial
statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty”.
An accounting policy may require items in financial
statements to be measured in a way that involves

AEBRAFEERERZER - &
AIREFRAEERIMBBRRPEAES
ETHEEMNERSE] - SHRARE

BRYBHRERFOIRB LSRG ET R
EMNTAAE -EUHBERT BEEE
HEGF BT AEIN ST RERAEZAE

measurement uncertainty. In such a case, an entity F- BESENESHR (BTN EBSE
develops an accounting estimate to achieve the objective FIEEEE 2 BRREHREBRELE

set out by the accounting policy. The amendments
to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes
in accounting estimates, and changes in accounting
policies and the correction of errors.

The application of the amendments in the current year

had no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
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B 75 3% FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T - =F+=-A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS AND CHANGES IN OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to
HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2
“Disclosure of Accounting Policies”

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time
in the current year. HKAS 1 “Presentation of Financial
Statements” is amended to replace all instances of the
term “significant accounting policies” with “material
accounting policy information”. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together
with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of the
related transactions, other events or conditions, even if
the amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting
policy information relating to material transactions, other
events or conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses
to disclose immaterial accounting policy information,
such information must not obscure material accounting
policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Making Materiality
Judgments” (the “Practice Statement”) is also amended
to illustrate how an entity applies the “four-step materiality
process” to accounting policy disclosures and to
judge whether information about an accounting policy
is material to its financial statements. Guidance and
examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance but has affected the disclosure of the
Group’s material accounting policy information set
out in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.
In accordance with the guidance set out in the
amendments, accounting policy information that is
standardised information, or information that only
duplicates or summarises the requirements of the
HKFRSs, is considered immaterial accounting policy
information and is no longer disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements so as not to obscure
the material accounting policy information disclosed in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

2.

FER M REETE R
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 817 3 &

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 E T - =F+-_A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS FE R #MT R EEER] E BN B
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING REZEARECETBREE
STANDARDS AND CHANGES IN OTHER ()

ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)
New and Revised Hong Kong Financial EEMERMKRERZHITRE
Reporting Standards in issue but not yet BTN EEMBHREER

effective

The Group has not early applied the following New and
Revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

HKAS 1 (Amendments) Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current and related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)'

HKAS 1 (Amendments) Non-current Liabilities with Covenants'

HKFRS 16 (Amendments) Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback'

HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7
(Amendments)

Supplier Finance Arrangements'

HKAS 21 (Amendments) Lack of Exchangeability?

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
(Amendments)

Sale or Contribution of Assets Between
an Investor and Its Associate or Joint
Venture?

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2025.

e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to
be determined.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all New and Revised HKFRSs will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements
in the foreseeable future.
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B 75 3% FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T - =F+=-A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS AND CHANGES IN OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)

Change in accounting policy on offsetting
arrangement in long service payment
scheme in HKSAR

In June 2022, the HKSAR Government enacted the
Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation
(Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022
(the “Amendment Ordinance”) which will be effective
from 1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date”). Under the
Amendment Ordinance, any accrued benefits attributable
to the employer’s mandatory contributions under
mandatory provident fund scheme (“MPF Benefits”) of
an entity would no longer be eligible to offset against
its obligations on long service payment (“LSP”) for the
portion of the LSP accrued on or after the Transition Date.
There is also a change in the calculation basis of last
monthly wages for the portion of the LSP accrued before
the Transition Date.

Prior to 1 January 2023, the Group applied practical
expedient in HKAS 19 paragraph 93(b) (the “Practical
expedient”) to account for the offsetable MPF Benefits
as deemed employee contributions to reduce the current
service costs in the period in which the related services
were rendered.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting
mechanism in HKSAR” (the “Guidance”) which provides
clarified and detailed guidance on the accounting
considerations relating to the abolition of the offsetting
mechanism. The Guidance clarified that following the
enactment of the Amendment Ordinance, LSP is no
longer a “simple type of contributory plans” to which the
Practical expedient had been intended to apply.

By following the Guidance, the Group has therefore
changed its accounting policy and ceased to apply the
Practical expedient and reattribute the deemed employee
contributions on a straight-line basis from the date when
services by employees first lead to their benefits in
terms of the LSP legislation in accordance with HKAS 19
paragraph 93(a). The cumulative effect of recognising
these adjustments as of 31 December 2022 or for the
year ended was not material and hence no adjustment
was made to the beginning retained earnings, or another
component of equity.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B &3k &

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE T - =F+=-A=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary users.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a historical cost basis except for certain
properties and financial instruments that are measured
at fair values at the end of each reporting period.
Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases, and measurements
that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair
value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories
or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
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B 75 3% FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T - =F+=-A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which
are transacted at fair value and a valuation technique
that unobservable inputs are to be used to measure fair
value in subsequent periods, the valuation technique is
calibrated so that at initial recognition, the result of the
valuation technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly,
for substantially the full term of the assets through
corroboration with observable market data.
Observable inputs generally used to measure the
fair value of financial assets classified as Level 2
include quoted market prices for similar assets in
active markets; quoted market prices in markets
that are not active for identical or similar assets and
other market observable inputs; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B &3k &

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE T - =F+=-A=+—HILFE

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

Allocation of total comprehensive income
to non-controlling interests

The total comprehensive income and expense of a
subsidiary is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests that entitle their holders to
a proportionate share of the relevant subsidiary’s net
assets in the event of liquidation. The non-controlling
interests are initially measured either at fair value or at
the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good and service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same.
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B 75 3% FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T - =F+=-A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

° the Group's performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for the
performance completed to date.

Asset management services on diversified and
comprehensive investment products are provided to
customers. Asset management fee income is charged at
a fixed percentage per quarter of the net asset value of
the managed accounts.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from financial services is recognised on the
following basis:

° Commission and brokerage income from dealing in
securities are recognised on a trade date basis;

° Underwriting commission income, sub-underwriting
commission income, placing commission and sub-
placing commission are recognised as income
in accordance with the terms of the underwriting
agreement or deal mandate when the relevant
significant acts have been completed; and

° Advisory, clearing and handling fee income are
recognised when the relevant transactions have
been arranged or the relevant services have been
rendered.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B &3k &

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE T - =F+=-A=+—HILFE

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue from dividend and distribution
income

Dividend and distribution income from investments
including financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL’) and fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI") are recognised when
the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been
established.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
the control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value
of the acquirer’'s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at the
acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net amount
of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree
and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.
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B 75 3% FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T - =F+=-A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the
business, which is described in the accounting policy
above, less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
(or groups of cash-generating units) that is expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination, which
represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purpose and not
larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently when there is
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units)
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less
than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill and
then to the other assets of on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group of
cash-generating units). Any impairment loss for goodwill
is recognised directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent
periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of
the cash-generating unit within group of cash-generating
units, the attributable amount of goodwill is included
in the determination of the amount of profit or loss on
disposal. When the Group disposes of an operation within
the cash-generating unit (or a cash-generating unit within
a group of cash-generating units), the amount of goodwill
disposed of is measured on the basis of the relative
values of the operation (or the cash-generating unit)
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
(or the group of cash-generating units) retained.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B &3k &

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE T - =F+=-A=+—HILFE

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date
(which is regarded as their cost).

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses. The
accounting policy in respect of impairment losses on
intangible assets is described below.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including land and
buildings held for use in the supply of services, or for
administrative purposes, are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of items of property, plant and equipment less their
estimated residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
asset is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and is
recognised in the profit or loss.
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B 75 3% FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T - =F+=-A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases
The Group as a lessee
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of land and buildings that have a
lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option. It also applies
the recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets.
Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

Except for short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets, the Group recognises right-of-use assets at
the commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from the commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of
right-of-use assets.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B &3k &

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE T - =F+=-A=+—HILFE

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified
as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating lease is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease.

Rental income which is derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business is presented as revenue.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

The Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers (“HKFRS 15”) to allocate consideration
in a contract to lease and non-lease components. Non-
lease components are separated from lease component
on the basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments from lessees.

Leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for a property
interest which includes both leasehold land and
building elements, the entire consideration is allocated
between the leasehold land and the building elements
in proportion to the relative fair values of the leasehold
interests in the land element and building element at
initial recognition.

When the payments cannot be allocated reliably between
the leasehold land and building elements, the entire
property is generally classified as property, plant and
equipment.
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B 75 3% FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T - =F+=-A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the
consolidated statement of financial position include:

(@) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and
demand deposits, excluding bank balances that are
subject to regulatory restrictions that result in such
balances no longer meeting the definition of cash;
and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprise of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments rather than
for investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and
cash equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation. Investment properties
are initially measured at cost, including any directly
attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at fair value. All
of the Group’s property interests held under operating
leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes
are classified and accounted for as investment properties
and are measured using the fair value model. Gains or
losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
properties are included in profit or loss for the year in
which they arise.

When an item of investment properties is transferred to
owner-occupied property, the deemed cost of a property
is its fair value at the date of change in use.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B &3k &

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE T - =F+=-A=+—HILFE

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Investment properties (Continued)

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal
or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use or no future economic benefits are
expected from its disposal. Any gain or loss arising
on derecognition of the property (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in the profit or
loss in the period in which the property is derecognised.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of each
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement and
retranslation of monetary items are recognised in the
profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purpose of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. USD) at the rate of exchange prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates for the
year. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in OCI and accumulated in equity (the exchange reserve),
attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable
assets acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign
operation are treated as assets and liabilities of that
foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in OCIl. Upon the
disposal of a foreign operation, the exchange reserve will
be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.
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B 75 3% FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T - =F+=-A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Retirement benefits scheme

The retirement benefits scheme contributions relating to
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme for all employees
in Hong Kong charged to profit and loss represent
contributions payable to the schemes by the Group at
rates specified in the rules of the schemes.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from 'profit before taxation’
as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss because it excludes items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary difference to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In
addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of
goodwill.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse
in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to be applicable in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are
presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless
the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted
when the investment property is depreciable and is held
within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment property over time, rather than through sale.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised
in OCI or directly in equity, in which case, the current
and deferred tax are also recognised in OCI or directly
in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred
tax arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.
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B 75 3% FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T - =F+=-A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instruments. All regular way purchases
or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts and payments (including all fees paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset and
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period,
to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income from a financial asset or margin
financing; and distribution and dividend income from
financial products which are derived from the Group’s
ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to hold financial assets in order
to collect contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms of the financial asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured as at FVTOCI:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial
asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment
in OCI if that equity investment is neither held for trading
nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer
in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.
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B 75 3% FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T - =F+=-A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised on an effective
interest basis for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of
the financial asset from the next reporting period.
If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.

Investments in perpetual notes designated as at
FVTOCI

Investments in perpetual notes designated as at
FVTOCI are subsequently measured at fair value
with gains and losses arising from changes in fair
value recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the financial asset designated
as at FVTOCI reserve; and are not subject to
impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss
will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal
of the equity investments, and will be transferred to
retained profits.

Interests from these investments in equity
instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the
Group’s right to receive the interests is established,
unless the interests clearly represent a recovery
of part of the cost of the investment. Interests are
included in the “Interest income from financial
products” line item in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE T - =F+=-A=+—HILFE

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

(iii) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with any
fair value gains or losses recognised in profit or
loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or
loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on
the financial asset and is included in the “fair value
changes of financial assets and investments in
perpetual notes at fair value through profit or loss”
line items.

Impairment of financial assets under expected credit loss
("ECL") model

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on
financial assets which are subject to impairment under
HKFRS 9 (including accounts and other receivables,
loans receivable, investments in debt instruments
measured at amortised cost, bank trust accounts
balances and cash and cash equivalents). The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes
in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
(“12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessments are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.
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B 75 3% FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T - =F+=-A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets under expected credit loss
(“ECL”) model (Continued)

The ECL on these assets are assessed individually for
debtors with significant balances.

The Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12m
ECL, unless there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases
in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets under expected credit loss
(“ECL”) model (Continued)

(i)

114

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

° an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at
the reporting date. A debt instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if i) it has a low risk of default,
i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term
and iii) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises
them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.
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B 75 3% FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T - =F+=-A=+—HILFE

4. EEGTHEER &)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets under expected credit loss
(“ECL”) model (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events of default that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence
that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

° a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

° the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider; or

° it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets under expected credit loss
(“ECL”) model (Continued)

(iv)

116

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate.
A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or
loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights.

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to
the Group in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition.
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B 75 3% FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T - =F+=-A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets under expected credit loss
(“ECL”) model (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or
cater for cases where evidence for impairment
measurement at the individual instrument level may
not yet be available, the financial instruments are
grouped on the following basis:

o Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group’s
accounts receivable, receivable from clients for
subscription of new shares in IPO, investments
in debt instruments measured at amortised
cost, other receivables and deposits, cash and
cash equivalents, time deposits with original
maturities over three months and bank trusts
accounts balances are each assessed as a
separate group);

o Past-due status; and
o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case the
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

Except for investments in debt instruments that are
measured as at FVTOCI, the Group recognises
an impairment charges, net of reversal in profit or
loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception of advances to
customers and investment securities at amortised
cost, where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.

4. EEGTHEER &)

TR
PREEE)

EHEEER(BHEEER)EET
Z B 18 (&)

(v) BEHEEBENAERERE)

78 0 5 B A R IR R A B
1615 T £ 8 1 0 390 (L T 22 58 R
AENER  AERIARAT =

EoM:

s TRMIAMEHAKERERK
R BRREPRBERAR
BHEFBOORR - REHK
R 22BEBIARE  He
RUEREZRE BHEehEE
FEBY  REHABE=EA
MEHFRRRITERERPE
7 BB SBIER)

. BT R
. HBEEFRUETES) -

DHEBEEEE SR UERE
118 48 31) B 58 A B 1) 4 48 BB R UUME
SRR -

MBI TR E S B A &N EES
BHYE BESBAEHBEER
B EFBRARREEERmAR
O PR A B o

BRREAFEFELEZFHFTAH
TEEABAZEHFTARESIN &
SEYUMEEMIARMELETA
B WAEBSPRERREMERRE G
BREE) BERTEFPNBRRIZE
HAARFTEZREZSFRBEOIIN
MitHELIRE  ARBEEEEIR
BRERTHERBEAE -

BpaReEm@aRAn 202388 117



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B &3k &

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE T - =F+=-A=+—HILFE

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification on debt or equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as
equity according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest
basis.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised only when the
contractual rights to receive cash flows from the assets
expire, or when it transfers the financial assets and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the financial assets to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the
asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have
to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the
Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivables is recognised in profit or loss.
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B 75 3% FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B EZE T - =F +-_A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Derecognition (Continued)

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument
which the Group has elected on initial recognition to
measure as at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss
previously accumulated in the financial asset as at
FVTOCI reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is
transferred to retained profits.

Financial liabilities are derecognised only when
the obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment, and intangible assets other
than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment, and intangible assets with finite useful lives
to determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amounts of property, plant and equipment,
and intangible assets individually, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.

When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to
individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an
indication that they may be impaired.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment, and intangible assets other
than goodwill (Continued)

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporates assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating units when a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit or group of cash-
generating units to which the corporate asset belongs,
and is compared with the carrying amount of the relevant
cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have not
been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating
unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in
the unit. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced
below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero.
The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro-rata
to the other assets of the unit. An impairment loss is
recognised as an expense immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
(or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised as income immediately in
profit or loss.

120  G-RESOURCES GROUP LIMITED 2023 ANNUAL REPORT

FEEBRREAEHR

ME - BERBEHEREER
EEmEERMNZEE®

RARREELBEUNRER MEA
BR—HZOREE CREEGDR
HEEREELEN  IUZAER—
H2oEEEBEDEAKNARNZER
CELABN A WEERREREEMN
BRELEABUIRSCELEVEMNE
oV EMERRSELAENRRASESL
B {748 Bl )RR E B AR L B -

AR EBEARKEERARNEZATE
HEREEMET 2RSS - EFME
REER BARRESRELERKE
BAFRERFREHLRE - ARREBF
MEHEEEZFHE  IZEE(KRE
ELBM)BEZRARRRREREZ
fBEr I Rttt FHE)

MEE(KREELBM) ZHFAITREE
BAREEREE MZBEEE(RREE
EBM)ZEEERREEATRDEE -
RARREBER BREBBELESER
MR EMmEzEEEGNER) &
BRESHREENREMNAZEEERL
PIPEERECEE BEEZKREETE
OB = AR 7 E AP AE R & RS (fis AT 5
B) HERAEBEEMWAET) T (UKD
ERE) PEEEEZREBRSEA
BUGIAEEBEUZECEE - BRIES
BARNERPERR/FAX -

WREBRERER  AEE(KRSE
EEM)REERIESEEEB® b
AREEE EERERSZEEETSE
BEEFEZREE(FIREELEMN)
EEERREBBRZBRATmMTAERE
ZEEHE - BEBRZBELCNKERER
R RBUA -



B 75 3% FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T - =F+=-A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to directors and employees of the
Company

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without taking
into consideration all non-market vesting conditions
is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period, based on the Group’s estimate of share options
that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase
in equity (share options reserve). For share options that
vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of the
share options granted is expensed immediately to profit
or loss.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises
its estimates of the number of options that are expected
to vest based on the assessment of all relevant non-
market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates during the vesting period,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the
cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to share options reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in share options reserve
will be transferred to share premium. When the share
options are forfeited or lapsed after the vesting date
or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be
transferred to retained earnings.

Share options granted to suppliers/consultants

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with
parties other than employees are measured at the fair
values of the goods or services received, except where
that fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which case
the goods or services received are measured at the fair
value of the share options granted, measured at the date
the entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders
the service. The fair values of the goods or services
received are recognised as expenses (unless the goods
or services qualify for recognition as assets.)
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Government Grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants relate to income that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Such grants are presented under “other
income”.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s major accounting
policies, which are described in note 4, the directors of
the Company are required to make judgments, estimates
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T - =F+=-A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Material judgments in applying accounting
policies

The following is the material judgment, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of
the Company have made in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the directors of the Company have reviewed
the Group’s investment property portfolios and concluded
that the Group’s investment properties are not held
under a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment properties over time. Therefore, in measuring
the Group’s deferred taxation on investment properties,
the directors of the Company have determined that the
presumption that the carrying amounts of investment
properties measured using the fair value model are
recovered entirely through sale is not rebutted. As a
result, the Group has not recognised any deferred taxes
on changes in fair value of investment properties as the
Group is not subject to any income taxes on the fair value
changes of the investment properties on disposal.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year.
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5.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires
an estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated,
which is the higher of the value in use or fair value less
costs of disposal. The value in use calculation requires
the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected
to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value,
taking into account other key assumptions including
discount rate, future growth rate and expected gross
margin. Where the actual future cash flows are less than
expected, or change in facts and circumstances which
results in downward revision of future cash flows, a
material impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of
goodwill is USD17,029,000 (2022: USD17,029,000).
Details of the recoverable amount calculation are
disclosed in note 20.

Fair value measurements and valuation processes

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair
value for financial reporting purposes.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is
available. Where Level 1 and Level 2 inputs are not
available, the Group engages an independent firm of
professional valuers to perform the valuation. In relying
on the valuation report, the directors of the Company
have exercised their judgment and are satisfied to
establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs
to the model. The fluctuation in the fair value of the assets
and liabilities is reported and analysed periodically.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Fair value measurements and valuation processes
(Continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs
that are not based on observable market data to estimate
the fair value of certain types of financial instruments.
Judgment and estimation are required in establishing
the relevant valuation techniques and the relevant inputs
thereof. Whilst the Group considers these valuations
are the best estimates, the ongoing changes in market
conditions that may result in greater market volatility
and may cause further disruptions to the investees’/
issuers’ businesses, which have led to higher degree of
uncertainties in respect of the valuations in the current
year. Changes in assumptions relating to these factors
could result in material adjustments to the fair value of
these financial instruments. Detailed information about
the valuation techniques, inputs and key assumptions
used in the determination of the fair value of various
assets and liabilities are set out in note 29(c).

Impairment loss on loans receivable, accounts
receivables from clients and investments in debt
instruments measured at amortised cost

The management of the Group estimates the amount of
loss allowance for loans receivable, accounts receivables
from clients and investments in debt instruments
measured at amortised cost based on the credit risk
of the respective financial assets. The loss allowance
amount is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows with the consideration of
expected future credit losses.

5.
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5.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Impairment loss on loans receivable, accounts
receivables from clients and investments in debt
instruments measured at amortised cost (Continued)

The assessment of the credit risk of loans receivable,
accounts receivables from clients and investments in
debt instruments measured at amortised cost involve high
degree of estimation uncertainty as the management of
the Group estimates the loss rates for debtors based on
historical data adjusted by forward-looking information.
When the actual future cash flows are less than expected
or more than expected, a material impairment loss
or a material reversal of impairment loss may arise
accordingly. As at 31 December 2023, the net carrying
amount of loans receivable, accounts receivables from
clients and investments in debt instruments measured
at amortised cost is USD5,000,000, USD1,182,000
and USD109,091,000 (2022: nil, USD1,521,000 and
USD56,507,000), respectively.

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair value based
on the valuation performed by an independent firm of
professional valuers. The determination of the fair value
involves certain assumptions of market conditions which
are set out in note 16.

In relying on the valuation report, the directors of the
Company have exercised their judgment and are satisfied
that the method of valuation is reflective of the current
market conditions. Changes to these assumptions,
including the potential risk of any market violation, policy,
geographical and social changes or other unexpected
incidents as a result of change in the macroeconomic
environment, travel restrictions implemented by many
countries, increased complexity in international trade
tensions geopolitics, changes in policy direction and/
or mortgage requirements, or other expected incidents
would result in changes in the fair values of the Group’s
investment properties and the corresponding adjustments
to the amount of increase or decrease in fair value
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of the
Group’s investment properties is USD63,514,000 (2022:
USD64,381,000).
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the
Company, being the chief operating decision makers,
for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment
of segment performance focuses on the nature of their
operations and types of products and services provided.
Each of the Group’s business segments represents a
strategic business unit that offers products and services
which are subject to risks and returns that are different
from those of the other business segments.

The Group has three (2022: three) operating business
units which represent three (2022: three) operating
segments, namely:

° financial services business — engaging in securities
trading and brokerage, margin financing, money
lending, and asset management;

° principal investment business — managing a
portfolio of investments in listed shares, listed senior
notes, listed perpetual notes, unlisted investment
funds, unlisted equity investments, unlisted hedge
funds and convertible notes; and

° real property business — leasing of office units
as well as car parks, and managing a portfolio of
foreign investment properties.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
(a) Segment revenue and results

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by

6. HHEEH®
(@) PHEHWERELS

REBREERAZRD

B

operating and reportable segment is as follows: mREHWNT:
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-FS-=%#+=-A=+-—HL
-5
Financial Principal
services investment  Real property
business business business  Eliminations Total
SHRBEE BEREEE RHEXH i o
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000
TER FER TER TERT TER
External revenue ek
Interest income FEWA 1,044 28,895 - - 29,939
Dividend and distribution RERAEEA
income - 56,711 - - 56,711
Fee and commission FEEBRES
income KA 957 - - - 957
Rental income el A - - 1,452 - 1,452
Segment revenue from REND AP E
external parties W& 2,001 85,606 1,452 - 89,059
Inter-segment revenue 7 EhE 2 303 — — (303) —
Segment revenue P BN 2,304 85,606 1,452 (303) 89,059
Segment profit/(loss) AEFE/ (BR) 11,025 (3,582) 1,488 - 8,931
Unallocated other gain AARMEThE 2,643
Unallocated corporate AOBRCERT
eXpenses (4,661)
Unallocated exchange gain A7 EM R BN H 902
Decrease in fair value of RENELATHE
investment properties Ho (728)
Profit before taxation BATFI B 7,087
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. FEEH
(a) Segment revenue and results (Continued) (a) PEWERESE®
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-_FT-__F+-_A=+—H1
FE
Financial Principal
services investment  Real property
business business business Eliminations Total
LRRBEE BEREEB  RFHEEH i B
USD'000 UsD'000 USD’000 UsD'000 UsD'000
TEn TEn TEL S FEL
External revenue bz
Interest income FEKA 646 13,284 — — 13,930
Dividend and distribution RERAEKA
income — 10,107 — — 10,107
Fee and commission FEBRESMA
income 1,388 — — — 1,388
Rental income EEXION — - 1,448 - 1,448
Segment revenue from RENBHHHE
external parties W& 2,034 23,391 1,448 = 26,873
Inter-segment revenue oL 439 - - (439) -
Segment revenue 7Bl E 2473 23,391 1,448 (439) 26,873
Segment results before BEREEBAN
impairment loss on goodwill £ & 1,764 (88,169) 1,485 — (84,920
Impairment loss on goodwill 75 & & & (943) — — — (943)
Segment profit/(loss) AEFE/ (BR) 821 (88,169) 1,485 = (85,863)
Unallocated other income RAEHEERA 80
Unallocated corporate AARCERT
expenses (4,762)
Unallocated exchange gain A2 RME AN E 1,392
Decrease in fair value of RENEZATE
investment properties W (281)
Loss before taxation HEE R (89,434)
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(a)

(b)

130

6. FEEHR

Segment revenue and results (Continued) (a) DEUWERES
The major accounting policy information of the LB EEGRIBEERHEN
operating segments are the same as the Group’s HAFTHARBZ FESREER
major accounting policy information described in — W NHEEHESHERD E
note 4. Segment results represent the profit or loss ERBEECFBREE  ERERD
earned, generated or incurred by each segment ARITEER - AOEMETIK
without allocation of central administration costs, AURKEMEZAFEEE o It
unallocated other income and change in fair value DRAARRMITESWMEZ TR
of investment properties. This is the measure AEE RSB R o BRIFFTME -
reported to the executive directors of the Company
for the purposes of resources allocation and
assessment of segment performance.
Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing 5 BF S BRI AT 5 N R ER -
market rates.
Segment assets and liabilities (b) PESEREIE
An analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by REBRKERAZEHR D BONE
operating and reportable segment is as follows: ERBENT:
At 31 December 2023 R-E-_=%+=-H=+—H
Financial Principal Real
services  investment property
business business business Total
&R BE
R %5 REXB EHEER Lk
usD’000 UsD’000 usD’000 UsD’000
TR TER FER TER
ASSETS BE
Segment assets NBPEE 319,556 1,147,167 72,697 1,539,420
Unallocated corporate assets APEGCEEE 28,823
Total assets BEE 1,568,243
LIABILITIES Bff
Segment liabilities nEakE 30,065 548 364 30,977
Unallocated corporate liabilities AOBRGEAE 302
Total liabilities Baf 31,279
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. FEEH
(b) Segment assets and liabilities (b) "ESEERBE®W
(Continued) MW—T——&+-—F=+—0
At 31 December 2022
Financial Principal Real
services investment property
business business business Total
PR % %% REXE RHEER ot
USD'000 UsD’000 USD’000 USD’000
TER T TERT FET
ASSETS BE
Segment assets NEEE 329,767 1,176,273 64,517 1,670,557
Unallocated corporate assets AOBMGEEE 29,714
Total assets BEE 1,600,271
LIABILITIES Bff
Segment liabilities NEAR 49,426 49 365 49,840
Liabilities relating to discontinued ~ AR KRt K& %K
operation HEmEaE 9,839
Unallocated corporate liabilities AOBRGEARE 461
Total liabilities FER=N 60,140
For the purposes of monitoring segment REZEIERRERSEHESEE
performances and allocating resources between IR

segments:

° all assets are allocated to operating segments
other than certain property, plant and
equipment and other receivables.

o all liabilities are allocated to operating
segments other than certain other payables.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
(c) Other segment information
For the year ended 31 December 2023

6. PE&EHE®
(c) HESHEEH

BE-—FE-=%#+=-A=+—HL

$£E
Financial Principal Real
services  investment property
business business business  Unallocated Total
&8 BE
PR 75 % 5 BREZXE EREHEER AR k]
usD’000 USD’000 UsD’000 USD’000 USD’000
TEL TERT FET FET FER
Amounts included in the BETENERES
measure of segment profitor S EEEM
loss or segment assets: &8
Additions to non-current assets  REFERHEE
(Note) () — - - 1 1
Additions to financial assets at ~ AERATEEE
FVTPL BEZEA
BaZeREE - 62,340 - - 62,340
Additions to investments in debt R E &% 5 &
instruments measured at STECEBIAR
amortised cost o - 82,446 — - 82,446
Depreciation of property, plantand #91% - BER R &
equipment nE (22) - - (731) (753)
Fair value changes of financial ~ RAFEFERE
assets and investments in BEHABRL
perpetual notes at FVTPL SREERKA
SBERECATE
g —  (100528) - - (10052)
Provision for expected credit BEEBEEY
losses on financial assets, net BHEEES
ek (544) (1,582) - - (2,126)
Exchange gain included in other ~ E X W% » stAET
gain/(loss) i/ (EE) 124 213 - 902 1,239
Gain on disposal of investments in £ & 1% & $4 5 &K
debt instruments measured at GECEBIAR
amortised cost E2WaE - 6 — - 6
Interest income from bank RITFHHEBA -
deposits, included in other SARERA
income 11,574 13,007 — — 24,581

132  G-RESOURCES GROUP LIMITED 2023 ANNUAL REPORT



B I3  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 EZ T - =F+-_A=+—HLFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. FEE&EHw
(c) Other segment information (Continued) (c) HEREEH
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BHE-_ZTZ-_—_F+=-HA=+—H1t
FE
Financial Principal Real
services investment property
business business business  Unallocated Total
REER REEER FHEEE AAR nm

USD'000 USD'000 USD'000 USD'000 USD'000
TXT TXRL Txn Y T

Amounts included in the aEFEFTERESS
measure of segment profitor ~ EEEMEHE:
loss or segment assets:

Additions to non-current assets  REFERHEE

(Note) (i) 52 — - 3 55
Additions to financial assets at ~ FERAFEFERH
FVTPL RN kX
BE - 47,419 - - 47,419
Additions to investments in debt ~ REREEK ARG EZ
instruments measured at EBRIERE
amortised cost — 42127 — — 42127
Depreciation of property, plantand 9%« BER R
equipment ik (36) — - (734) (770)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (£ BEEEHN & (60) = = = (60)
Finance costs BEKAK ) = = - (3)
Fair value changes of financial ~ BAFEFERE
assets and investments in BEHABREL
perpetual notes at FVTPL SREERKA
SEREZATE
2§ 74 (106,798) - = (106,724)
Provision for expected credit BEEREECRER
losses on financial assets, net EEBFE (739) (1,904) - = (2,643)
Exchange (loss)/gain included in [ 3% (&518) /I % -
other loss SARTER (76) (3,930) - 1,392 (2,614)

Loss on disposal of investments in  HEREHK AT E 2
debt instruments measured at EBIARECEE

amortised cost — (1,289) — — (1,289)
Interest income from bank ROFFHEKA
deposits, included in other SFAETHA
income 3,748 4,860 — — 8,608
Note: Non-current assets excluded financial assets at Mat: ERBEETERELATFETSE
FVTPL, investments in perpetual notes at FVTPL BEZH S AEZZ EHEE -
and designated as at FVTOCI, investments in debt RATEFEEHEHHAER
instruments measured at amortised cost and other RIEEREBEATEFEAHE
receivables and deposits. FAEEEERAZKARRE

- REBERATEZEBTA
RERHETEUERREZS -
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
(d) Geographical information

6. HHEEH®
(d) BEEF

The following table sets out (i) information about
the geographical location of the Group’s revenue
from external customers, determined based on
the location of financial products, the location of
financial services business operated and location
of properties in the case of rental income and
(ii) information of the non-current assets by the
geographical area in which the assets are located

are detailed below:

TREINZ(OHAEBERBINE T
ZWHEEIBUEER AR E
MEMBE SRMMBEEBLEN
e Rk(EESBRAMS)WELR
BT RMNREEMEMR DR
ZIkABEEMBUBEENFRN
T

Non-current assets excluding financial

Segment revenue instruments
BN TERESMIRZERDEE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—ECZE “ZE-CF —EC-ZE “E-C

UsD’000 USD’000 USD’000 UsD’000

TET TER TER S

Singapore ;s 2,884 2,162 - —
Hong Kong EE 24,234 14,832 111,042 112,728
People’s Republic of China REARERN 54,211 3,188 - =
United States of America ENBERE 589 2,888 - -
Europe B 6,445 2,663 - —
Others iy 696 1,140 - =
89,059 26,873 111,042 112,728
Note: Non-current assets excluded long-term time Wi ERBEETRERBATHT
deposits, financial assets at FVTPL, investments FRATFEFEEEZEFHHA
in perpetual notes at FVTPL and designated as at BERz2emEE KRQFER
FVTOCI, investments in debt instruments measured ERHEEHHABERETAIR
at amortised cost, and other receivables and ATFEFEEEEHFAHEESR
deposits. HWMAZKAZREZRE  EE
WA EZEBEIAKER

HoRBERRZS -
(e) Information about major customers e) EEEF&EH

For the year ended 31 December 2023, one
counterparty from principal investment business
segment (2022: nil) contributed over 10% of the total

revenue.
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7. REVENUE

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from
its major products and services:

7. W

AEE R AT EE SRR KD I
o

2023 2022
—g-= =T
USD’000 USD’000
F=E3x FETT
Interest income from financial products RKESRERNF B A 9,217 5,021
Interest income from money lending RERE =BT B A
business 565 —
Interest income from margin financing KERZFEMENF E WA 479 646
Interest income from financial institutions’ 2 8 4 &b # & 17 200 7 &
deposits A 19,678 8,263
Interest income B WA 29,939 13,930
Dividend and distribution income from RESRERMNEE R
financial products (Note) 2 ONC F:D) 56,711 10,107
Commission income and handling RKE2@ARBHAES
charges from financial services WARFEE 852 1,263
Asset management fee income EEEEBHRA 105 125
Fee and commission income FEEERAS WA 957 1,388
Rental income e A 1,452 1,448
89,059 26,873

Note: Included in dividend and distribution income from
financial products is distribution of investments in unlisted
investment funds classified as FVTPL which amounted to
USD54,398,000 (2022: USD5,446,000) for the year ended
31 December 2023.

The Group’s performance obligations in contracts with
customers in accordance with HKFRS 15 are set out
below:

Fee and commission income

The Group provides financial services to customers
which mainly include securities trading, underwriting and
placing services. Such service income is recognised at a
point in time when the performance obligation is satisfied.

Kt BE T _=F+_A=+—HItHF
E A ARBERERNKRBERDIK
WABWSBERBEATFEFERESY
B ABSZELIMBERS ZRE
2k A54,398,000% L (Z &2 =~ — 4
5,446,000k 7T) °

REZBVHERELENFISHRAKER
BEFAHAZBEHEEHIN DT

FHEERMAEWA

AEBRAEFPIRHESBRYE  T28%E
EHERXS  BHREERY - EASKE
5T P B 40 B TS R R AR B AR A LA ©
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7. REVENUE (Continued)
Fee and commission income (Continued)

Asset management services to customers are recognised
over time, the fee income is recognised as a performance
obligation satisfied over time.

W= @)
FEERAESWAN®

AEEREFPRHEEEEERGESRM
EREER  ZBRARARBHOEERE
Ry [ 32 K RF FE 2R o

8. FINANCE COSTS Al & R A

2023 2022
—E-=f —E-=
USD’000 USD’000
FERT FET
Interest expense on lease liabilities HMEABEMNERX = 38
Finance costs for the year FARE KR = 3
9. TAXATION HIE

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made
in the consolidated financial statements as the Group
has no estimated assessable profit for the year ended 31
December 2023 (for the year ended 31 December 2022:
nil).

The taxation for the year can be reconciled to the profit

RAKRERE-F-=E+-B=+—
B LR R S AR A R B R (R E B
SSFFSASH-ALEE R H
B2 BB R 0L AR T T B B
e

FARAEGEEBERRAI AT

before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or HEBRNT
loss as follows:
2023 2022
—EgE-= —E=-=
UsSD’000 USD’000
FET FEx
Profit/(loss) before taxation MATFE(E8) 7,087 (89,434)
Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5% & & 8 |18 516.5% 2
(2022: 16.5%) HEFE2HE
(ZEZ =% :16.5%) 1,169 (14,756)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax A~ 7] 1% B X 2
purpose Rk 26,112 18,268
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax A RBMA 2
purpose BeE (27,386) (5,551)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RARTHRBZMEBE
MR E 629 2,245
Utilisation of tax losses previously not BABATARTER
recognised MIEEE (524) (2086)
Taxation for the year FATIE = —
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10. PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

B 75 3% FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T - =F+=-A=+—HILFE

10. £RFE,(F18E)

2023 2022
—F=-= —F- -
UsSD’000 USD’000
FERT FETT
Profit/(loss) for the year has been arrived at F R FE (E#E)
after charging/(crediting): B0k, (5FA) -
Staff costs BIKA
— Directors’ emoluments -EEMe 1,101 1,024
— Other staff costs (Note (a)) - HEBIKAK
(K 7% (a)) 3,609 4,572
— Contributions to retirement benefits — R IRAE F & B
schemes, excluding directors (TBEES) 68 120
Total staff costs BT KA 4,778 5,716
Auditors’ remuneration % AN B & 134 158
Depreciation of property, plant and mME - BEREHEZ
equipment e 753 770
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE = 60
Exchange (gain)/loss, net, included in other [& % (U 25), & #
gain/(loss) FEEEAHETE
Wz, (E18) (1,239) 2,614
Interest income from bank deposits, |ITF KA B A -
included in other income FAEEBRA (24,581) (8,608)
Over-provision for liabilities arising from the Hi & % & % 7% Ff & 4 &Y
disposal of mining business, included in BEBEREETA
other gain/(loss) Helzm,(E8)
(Note 24(b)) (Ht it 24(b)) (2,639) =
Government grants, included in other BF®#B)  sTAHTE
income (Note (b)) W A (B &% (b)) = (216)
Notes: B iz
(a)  Other staff costs comprise salaries and other emoluments, (a) HEBIKABRREETCHE REIEEA -

discretionary bonus and commission paid to accounts
executives of the brokerage business (included in the

financial service segment).

(b) During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group (b)
recognised government grants of USD216,000. In the
opinion of the directors of the Company, the Group has

fulfilled all conditions attached to the grants.

NE N TFELEERGIASRRE D
BMEPHERANAE -

EE-__F+-A=+—HILFE "
7R & B 3R UMY i Bh216,0003€ T © AR
RAIEERE AKECEKRBYMET
WG -
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HEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 E T - =F+-_A=+—HILFE

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ AND
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ Emoluments

N EF - THAEREENE

(@) ESM=
FREMKENEEEZMEMT :

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the
directors for the year were as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-_F-=fF+-A=+—-HL

$£E

Contributions

Salaries to retirement

and other  Discretionary benefits
Fees  emoluments bonus scheme Allowances Total

§tk BHEH
e Heis ol 3N HEL:ES B &t
UsD’000 UsD’000 UsD’000 UsD’000 UsD’000 UsD’000

TR &R TER TR TR FER

Executive directors: (Moo ) BITES: (#it)

Leung Oi Kin 2eft - 307 166 2 - 475
Leung Wai Yiu, Malcoln 2Rz - 307 27 2 - 526
Non-executive director: EQTES: (Wio)
(Note ¢)
Li Zhongye, Cindy FhE k)| - - - - 3
Independent non-executive BUEHTES:
directors: (ot ¢/ (ic)
Lo Wa Kei, Roy EEE 31 - - - - 3
Chen Gong 3 19 - - - - 19
Martin Que Meideng Bigs 19 - - - - 19
100 614 33 4 - 1,101
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 EZ T - =F+-_A=+—HLFE

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ AND
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(@) Directors’ Emoluments (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

N EF - THAEREENE

(#8)
(@) EFWME e
HE-_Z-_—_F+=-A=+—HIE

FE
Contributions
Salaries to retirement
and other  Discretionary benefits
Fees emoluments honus scheme Allowances Total
EeR RIEH
e Hele MiERL FEE Y @it
USD00: UsD'000 UsD'000 USD'000 USD'000 USD'000
i1 i1 ix ix iR i1
Executive directors: Nore ) HiTES: (70)
Leung Oi Kin 2ER - 2 - 43
Leung Wai Yiu, Malcoln 2% - 2 - 488
Non-executive director: FUTES
(Note ¢)
Li Zhongye, Cindy IHE 31 - - - 31
Independent non-executive BUEHFTEE:
directors: (Nots ¢) )
Lo Wa Kel, Roy EEX 31 - - - 31
Chen Gong B 19 - - - 19
Martin Que Meideng Rigz 19 - - - 19
100 308 4 — 1,024
Notes: B &F -

(a)

Mr Leung Oi Kin and Mr Leung Wai Yiu, Malcoln
are the acting Chief Executives of the Company.
Their emoluments disclosed above include those for
services rendered by them as the Chief Executives.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the
Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ and non-
executive director’s emoluments shown above were
for their services as directors of the Company.

Bonuses which are discretionary are determined
with reference to individual performance. No
director waived any emoluments in the year. The
remuneration of directors is determined by the
remuneration committee having regard to the
performance of the individuals and market trends.

(a) RERELERREZXLER/AR
AIRITHRAE  EXHEREZH
BB 1R IREE R 1T BAAR IR
RG22

(b) LEXHTRBTEEFMIESR
RERERARARAEEER
Rz R -

() EXHMTRBIFRTESRIEH
TEEFHIERBFERAR
AERZRE -

BBRARTFEARREE - FR
BMEATCESRRECAMNE - EF
MERmFHEEERBEEARER
mEBEMmMEE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE T - =F+=-A=+—HILFE

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ AND

EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) ()
(b) 1& & % M

(b) Employees’ Emoluments

(iy Of the five individuals with the highest (i)
emoluments (excluding amounts paid or
payable by way of commissions on sales
generated by the employees concerned) in
the Group, two (2022: two) were executive
directors of the Company as at 31 December
2023. One (2022: none) of the remaining three
highest paid individuals is senior management
personnel as at 31 December 2023. The
emoluments of the individuals who were not
directors of the Company, were as follows:

N EF - THEASKRESMHE

RZZEZ=F+=A=+—H "
AEBREEaHMNUABEE
EBEHEMGRSNSTAER
HEMBRERINALAF
MEBE(ZEZZF :-WMA)BAR
NAIHITEE -RTZ=F
+=ZA=Z+—H HT=&&%
SHMALF —BAL(Z
T F BBRAEERE -
I FE AR B E =/ E A B BN
LU

2023 2022
—g,-= =T

USD’000 USD’000

F=3x FE

Salaries and other benefits FekEv@EH 441 442

Discretionary bonus (RPN 86 64
Retirement benefits scheme RKAE T FT B3R

contributions 7 7

534 513

The number of the highest paid employees
who are not the directors of the Company
whose remuneration fell within the following

bands is as follows:

WIEARREEN &S H A
TEVBHE B AT AR A

Number of Employees

HKD500,001(USD63,864) to
HKD1,000,000 (USD127,727)

HKD1,000,001(USD127,727) to
HKD1,500,000 (USD191,591)

HKD1,500,001 (USD191,591) to
HKD2,000,000 (USD255,455)

500,001/ 7t (63,864
% 7¢) 1,000,000
T (127,727% 7T)
1,000,001/%8 7t (127,727
% 7T) £1,500,00058
7t (191,591 1)
1,500,0017%8 7T (191,591
% JT) 2,000,000/
7T (255,455 7T)

BEAY
2023 2022
—E-= —E-—F
2 2
1 1
3 3
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N EF - THEASKRESMHE

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ AND
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Employees’ Emoluments (Continued)

(i)

The emoluments of senior management
personnel who are not directors of the
Company were within the following bands:

(&)

(b) 1B &% M=)

(i)

VHEAANEENEREEE
P B LAY LK

Number of Employees

BEE AN
2023 2022
—_8g-= —T- =
HKD500,001(USD63,864) to 500,001 7T (63,8643
HKD1,000,000 (USD127,727) 7T) 21,000,000 7T
(127,727% %) — 1
HKD1,000,001(USD127,727) to 1,000,001%8 7t (127,727
HKD1,500,000 (USD191,591) % 7t) £1,500,000%5
7t (191,591% 7T) 1 1
HKD1,500,001 (USD191,591) to 1,500,001 7T (191,591
HKD2,000,000 (USD255,455) % JT) 22,000,000/
7t (255,4553 7T) — —
1 2

The members of senior management of the
Group are solely determined by the directors.
The senior management personnel for 2023
is Chan Chun Fung (2022: Chan Chun Fung
and Lau Yue Wah, Brian). For the year ended
31 December 2023, one (2022: none) of the
senior management is included within the five
individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group.

(c) Save as disclosed above, no emoluments have
been paid by the Group to any directors or the
five highest paid individuals as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group, or as
compensation for loss of office for the year.

(€) BEXEEES -

AEBZESLEEERERE
E2EET MR-_ZE-_=F
BREEBEAREE(ZE
ZF REERREE) - &
EZE_=F+=ZA=+—H
IHFE - AEEREHRSHA
THR—BAT(ZEZ=F &)
BERMERE -

RER - KNEHE

MERNERNEZEER ISR HAL
SAHEAME  EAREZEAL
MBEXEENZEATMEREE
Brz 48E)  SKBEB 2 MME o

BREREEAR AT 20235
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12. DIVIDEND

During the year ended 31 December 2023, a final
dividend of HKDO0.12 per share in respect of the
year ended 31 December 2022 which amounted
to approximately USD6,901,000 (equivalent to
approximately HKD54,098,000) was paid to the owners
of the Company. Subsequent to 31 December 2023, a
final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December
2023 of HKD0.12 (2022: HKDO0.12) per share, totaling
approximately HKD54,098,000 (2022: HKD54,098,000)
has been proposed by the Board and is subject to the
approval by the shareholders of the Company at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

13. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings/(loss)
per share attributable to owners of the Company is based
on the following data:

12. kB

HE-_Z-_=F+-_A=Z+—HLHFE"
EMARBIHBEARNBE=ZZ=-_=F
T A=+ BLEFENREREER
01287t :./\,76901000%71@?‘75A
#754,098,000 L) e RZTEZ=F +=
A=+—RHz% EETggakHE=
TE o=+ - A=+—-BIFEXRH
1% B8 %0.12?&57‘1(:%:: D012
7E> 4 # 4954,098,000% T (ZE = =
F 154,098,000 L) + BB ET Y
BREBFASLEEARRBRRBBE
Al DK ©

13. BB (EE)

ARRFEAANREEREAREERT
(BR)TDIRBATEHEAE -

2023 2022
—E-= -
USD’000 USD’000
FERT FET
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to RABEERERAREE
owners of the Company, for the purposes %%ﬁl | (BR)ME -
of basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per AKRARHEBEAEMNER
share FE(E8) 7,107 (89,927)
Number of shares
a8 g=
2023 2022
—gE-= —E-F
Weighted average number of ordinary MAETRERAREE
shares for the purposes of basic and BF/(BBE)MEZ
diluted earnings/(loss) per share T3 AR 0 T B 450,814,079 450,814,079

No adjustment is made in arriving at diluted earnings/

(loss) per share for both 2023 and 2022 as there were
no potential ordinary shares in issue for both 2023 and
2022.
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

B I3  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 EZ T - =F+-_A=+—HLFE

14. Y% BERRHE

Furniture,
Land and Leasehold fixtures and
buildings  improvements equipment Total
HE 5
T REF MERE KERRE @t
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000
TET TET FET TET
COST BE
At 1 January 2022 R-F--#-A-H 32,270 571 240 33,081
Exchange realignments B X HE (3) — — (3)
Additions RNE — — 55 55
Written off ik — (12) (10) (22)
At 31 December 2022 and R-B-Z#+-A=+-8%

1 January 2023 —§-=%-f-H 32,267 559 285 33,111
Exchange realignments B X AR (69) () - )
Additions RE - - 1 1
Written off Hsa = = (17) (17)
Disposal e = - (7) (7)
At 31 December 2023 RZF-=%+-R=+-H 32,198 557 262 33,017
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION R RERAE

AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2022 R-F--%-A-H 2,224 390 172 2,786
Exchange realignments BHAE 3 — — 3
Provided for the year FERREE 643 83 44 770
Written off ik — (12) (8) (20)
At 31 December 2022 and R-B-Z#+-A=+-8%

1 January 2023 —§-=%-f-H 2,870 461 208 3,539
Exchange realignments BHAE (5) 1) - (6)
Provided for the year EREE 642 83 28 753
Written off Hisa = = (17) (17)
Disposal HE — - (5) (5)
At 31 December 2023 RZF-=%+-R=+-H 3,507 543 214 4,264
CARRYING VALUES REfE
At 31 December 2023 W-Z-=%+-A=+-H 28,691 14 48 28,753
At 31 December 2022 W-Z-—F+-A=+-H 29,397 98 77 29,572

BREREEAR AT 20235
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14.

15.

144

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% -BEREZH

(Continued)

The property, plant and equipment are depreciated W - BMEKZREEBEENFESEE 2

on a straight-line basis after taking into account their SRR EEE  BRTIFERUEREN

estimated residual value, at the following rates per E:

annum:

Land and buildings 2% T REF 2%

Leasehold improvements 10% to 20% or over the terms HEMEEE 10% £20% 3 R
of the leases whichever is RA(LBREER
shorter %)

Furniture, fixtures and 20% to 50% R REREZHE 20%%E50%

equipment

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 15. ERAEEE

2022
—_F-

USD’000

FET

Leased properties HEYE

At 1 January n—H—H

Carrying amount BRME 137

At 31 December R+=—A=+—H

Carrying amount REE —

For the year ended 31 December HE+-_A=+—BHLFE

Depreciation charge HEEA 60

Expense relating to short-term leases HEHAEsENT S 6

Written off i 55 77

Total cash outflow for leases HEZLRESTH 69

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the lease
agreements did not impose any covenants other than the
security interests in the leased assets that were held by
the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

The Group terminated all lease contracts during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

G-RESOURCES GROUP LIMITED 2023 ANNUAL REPORT

HE-_ES-_—_F#+-_A=+—RIEE
BREAAFMBHELEEMEREEN
BEWHEIENEAEZY - BEEBET
SREEFEE -

BE_T__F+-A=T-RLEFE"
AREERIEAAERERLD -



B 75 3% FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group leases out various offices under operating
leases with rentals payable monthly. The leases typically
run for an initial period of three years (2022: three years),
with unilateral rights to extend the lease beyond initial
period held by lessees only. The majority of the lease
contracts contain market review clauses in the event the
lessee exercises the option to extend.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as
a result of the lease arrangements, as all leases are
denominated in the respective functional currencies of
the group entities. The lease contracts do not contain
residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to
purchase the property at the end of lease term.

16. IR EYE

AEBRERAS ANOELAERALE
BEZEHAZE ZEHRE— RV AEH
SFE(CE - CF =) AR AEE
EEFTEAAPEREES -  KRBHZ
EHEANBEEMHBRITIKER - RFFE

MAITEELE -

HRAAEREANEEEESENINEE
R E AREYERNBAERFEM @
HoNKRER  HEAHNLEBRSHRER
RE/REBAREPEREBED X
R EEHE -

At fair value USD’000
/NS ] FET
At 1 January 2022 —E-_F—AF—H 64,669
Fair value change during the year FRNAFEEZS (281)
Exchange realignments ME 5, 58 B (7)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 RZBE-_—_F+-_A=+—HK
—E-_=%—H—H 64,381
Fair value change during the year FARFEZD (728)
Exchange realignments ME 8 B (139)
At 31 December 2023 R-ZE-_=%+-_H=+—H 63,514

The investment properties comprise commercial office
units and car park spaces situated in a commercial
building in Hong Kong on leasehold land under a
Government Lease for a term of 99 years commencing on
14 April 1928 (i.e. 2027). Under the Government Lease, it
is renewable for another 99 years upon the end of lease
term.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at
31 December 2023 has been arrived at on the basis
of a valuation carried out by Roma Appraisals Limited,
independent qualified professional valuers not connected
to the Group.

REVEBRUNETEREREAZE
EMANEEUREEM  ZREMLRK
FEENHEEL E 8- A /N\FHA
THAERBPIOF (AT _+F) - RIE
BNHEE  HRERKAIBEBEF -

R-ZZE-_=F+-"A=+—H8 K"&EFK
EWMEZAFEBIEAERNE SN HEH
B BIEEBRBEMBEMESHRF
HBERABIER ZHEERE °
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Roma Appraisals Limited has appropriate qualifications
and recent experience in the valuation of properties in the
relevant locations. The fair value is determined based on
direct comparison method that reflects recent transaction
prices for similar property units, adjusted for differences
in nature, timing and condition of the properties under
review. There has been no change from the valuation
technique used for both years.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest
and best use of the properties is their current use.

Details of the Group’s investment properties and
information about the fair value hierarchy as at 31
December 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

16. HEYE »)

ESERFIEARRBDEBEREERR
EEBUEMEGLEZORLR - 2F
BERERLEEET EHRBRALYE
B 2AMRIE ARIERDEZ
ME REAKKIEZRELHE - WF
EERNGEESEZLEEE -

REFZEVEZLAFER  WEZK
eEhkEERE/RRAERE -

RZE_=FR-_FE_—_F+-_A=+—
H AEBREMEZHFBRAEBEARATF
EERZEHNT:

Level 3 Level 3

EEHR E=4R

2023 2022

—E=-= —E-—F

UsSD’000 USD’000

FER FTET

Commercial office units in Hong Kong REBZEERREEN 60,314 61,175
Car parking spaces in Hong Kong REBZIZBEA 3,200 3,206
63,514 64,381

For the investment properties categorised into Level 3
of the fair value hierarchy, the valuation method used
is direct comparison method and the key inputs for
valuation technique of the commercial office units in
Hong Kong is price per square foot and the car parking
spaces in Hong Kong is price per car parking space.
The price per square foot is based on market direct
comparable and adjustments are made taking into
account of differences in other individual factors such
as floor range and change in market environment for the
timing differences of comparable transactions. The inputs
applied range from HKD18,102 to HKD18,863 (2022:
the range from HKD18,322 to HKD19,090) per square
foot and HKD2,500,000 (2022: HKD2,500,000) per car
parking space. A slight decrease in price per square foot
and price per car parking space will decrease the fair
value of commercial office units and car parking spaces.
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17. INVESTMENTS IN DEBT INSTRUMENTS
MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST/
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 EZ T - =F+-_A=+—HLFE

17. i%
&

MERAGTEZBEBIAR
SEBRAFEFEARBEH

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL/ ABRZEREE HRAFE
INVESTMENTS IN PERPETUAL NOTES STERERZEHFIABZZKX
AT FVTPL/INVESTMENTS IN PERPETUAL ERBE BEBRAFES
NOTES DESIGNATED AS AT FVTOCI EBRZFHFAAEEZEKRA
ZKAEEBKRSE
2023 2022
—EC-=E —E-C
UsD’000 USD’000
FER TEx
Investments in debt instruments measured at  HREHB A EZ
amortised cost BREIARE
Debt securities listed in Hong Kong EEEEMEBES
Fixed Rate Senior Notes (Notes a, b, ¢) EEBXBARBRHiEa b ¢ 4,535 8,887
Floating Rate Senior Notes (Notes a, b, 6) FUEXBEREB(WiHa b o) 1,531 —
Debt securities listed outside Hong Kong ERBBILITEBEH
Fixed Rate Senior Notes (Notes a, b, ¢) BEBXRBREE(MHa b o) 92,437 38,271
Floating Rate Senior Notes (Notes a, b, ) FHERBERER(WHa b o 12,705 11,110
Less: Expected credit losses w:EHREESE (2,117) (1,761)
109,091 56,507
Less: Investments in debt instruments measured at 5 : D AR BB E 2 R & HR K
amortised cost classified as current assets FECERIAKRE (26,119) (20,111)
Investments in debt instruments measured at NERERYEE  REENLHE
amortised cost classified as non-current assets JEBRIERE 82,972 36,396
Investments in perpetual notes at FVTPL BRAFHEFAEZEAEHTIANERZK
AEBRSE
Perpetual Notes, listed outside Hong Kong (Note ) E & BHEINETH KA ZE (B iFa) 21,637 22,586
Investments in perpetual notes designated ETBRAFESIEEEZHIAN
as at FVTOCI HE2ARAZKAERRE
Perpetual Notes, listed outside Hong Kong (Note ) E & B HINETEI KA Z B (HiFa) 3,017 2,821
Financial assets at FVTPL BRAFEF=EREHFANESZZ
SHBE
Unlisted investments FLEMRE
Unlisted investment funds (Note f) FEMBBES (Y 261,999 350,768
Unlisted equity investments (Note g) EEMBAKE M iHg) 53,398 36,966
Convertible notes (Note g) ARBRRE W Hg) — 24,096
Listed equity investments (Note h) TIRAEE (fitn)
Listed in Hong Kong EEBLEM 23,484 37,646
Listed outside Hong Kong EARBENED 13,318 8,492
352,199 457,968
Less: Financial assets at FVTPL classified as B DBARDEECRATETE
current assets BEEYHABR L EREE (27,838) (39,383)
Financial assets at FVTPL classified as NEBERDEECEATEME
non-current assets BEEYHABR L EREE 324,361 418,585
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17. INVESTMENTS IN DEBT INSTRUMENTS
MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST/
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL/
INVESTMENTS IN PERPETUAL NOTES
AT FVTPL/INVESTMENTS IN PERPETUAL
NOTES DESIGNATED AS AT FVTOCI
(Continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

148

The Group’s investments in debt instruments measured
at amortised cost mainly comprise instruments that have
a low risk of default or the issuers have a strong capacity
to repay (e.g. financial instruments that are of investment
grade or issuer with good credit history and capacity to
repay etc.). The details of the impairment assessment on
investments in debt instruments measured at amortised
cost with ECL model are disclosed in note 29(b).

During the year ended 31 December 2023, thirteen of the
Fixed Rate Senior Notes were matured, two of the Fixed
Rate Senior Notes were partially sold, eleven of the Fixed
Rate Senior Notes were sold, five of the Floating Rate
Senior Notes were being called, and three of the Floating
Rate Senior Notes were being matured. For the year
ended 31 December 2023, the gain on disposal including
early redemption of investments in debt instruments
measured at amortised cost was USD6,000. During the
year ended 31 December 2022, seven of the Fixed Rate
Senior Notes were matured, five of the Fixed Rate Senior
Notes were partially sold, nine of the Fixed Rate Senior
Notes were sold, two of the Fixed Rate Senior Notes were
being called and four of the Floating Rate Senior Notes
were being called. For the year ended 31 December
2022, the loss on disposal including early redemption of
investments in debt instruments measured at amortised
cost was USD1,289,000.

Senior Notes held by the Group bear fixed coupon interest
at rates ranging from 1.21% to 11.0% (2022: from 1.12%
to 7.88%) per annum and with maturity dates from 29
January 2024 to 18 July 2029 (2022: from 24 January
2023 to 9 February 2026). As at 31 December 2023,
three (2022: three) of the Senior Notes carrying a gross
amount of USD2,124,000 (2022: USD2,519,000) with
original maturity dates ranging from July 2024 to January
2026 (2022: July 2023 to May 2024) have a provision of
lifetime ECL of USD1,675,000 (2022: USD1,414,000). The
directors of the Company considered that the provision for
ECL was sufficient.
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AT FVTPL/INVESTMENTS IN PERPETUAL
NOTES DESIGNATED AS AT FVTOCI
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Perpetual Notes at FVTPL held by the Group bear
discretionary interests at the rates ranging from 5.25% to
6.38% (2022: from 5.25% to 6.57%) per annum and are
callable from 17 September 2024 to 16 May 2025 (2022:
from 19 July 2023 to 15 August 2027). The interest rates
are subject to change at reset day with reset rate ranging
from 3.05% to 4.37% (2022: from 2.76% to 4.98%) plus
USD5 years mid-swap rate or the prevailing yield for
U.S. Treasury Securities at a constant maturity having a
designated maturity of 5 years or semi-annual USD5 years
mid-swap rate. The reset dates are ranging from 3 months
to 5 years. During the year ended 31 December 2023, one
of the Perpetual Notes was being called and one of the
Perpetual Notes was sold.

Perpetual Notes designated as at FVTOCI held by the
Group as at 31 December 2023 bear a discretionary
interest at the rate of 8.0% plus the prevailing yield for
U.S. Treasury Securities per annum and are callable on
26 October 2027. The distribution of perpetual notes
is at the discretion of the issuer and the issuer has
the right to defer the payments of the distribution. The
redemption rights of the perpetual notes are at the option
of the issuers. Management of the Group made an initial
irrevocable election to designate the perpetual notes to
be measured at FVTOCI because the perpetual notes
are equity instruments of the issues and are held by the
Group for long term investment purpose. The interest rates
are subject to change at reset day with reset rate of 8.0%
plus the prevailing yield for U.S. Treasury Securities at a
constant maturity having a designated maturity of 5 years.

Senior Notes held by the Group bear floating rates ranging
from 1.81% to 7.33% (2022: from 3.89% to 6.33%) per
annum as at 31 December 2023 and with maturity dates
from 9 July 2024 to 15 March 2029 (2022: from 3 July
2023 to 18 October 2024). The interest rates are subject to
change at reset day with reset rate ranging from 0.32% to
3.05% (2022: from 0.32% to 1.6%) plus 3 months secured
overnight financing rate index or change in prevailing yield
for U.S. Treasury Securities at a constant maturity having a
designated maturity of 5 years.
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As at 31 December 2023, the unlisted investment
funds classified as FVTPL include unlisted private
equity funds and unlisted hedge funds with carrying
values of USD256,951,000 and USD5,048,000 (2022:
USD290,247,000 and USD60,521,000), respectively.

In accounting for the fair value measurement of
the investment in unlisted private equity funds, the
management of the Group has determined that the
reported net asset value of the unlisted private equity
funds provided by the general partners represented
the fair value of the unlisted private equity funds. The
general partners used methodology based on relevant
comparable data wherever possible to quantify the
adjustment from cost or latest financing price when an
adjustment is necessary, or to justify that the cost or
the latest financing price is still a proper approximation
of fair value of the underlying investments held by the
unlisted private equity funds in determining the net asset
value. The factors to be considered in general partners’
assessment may require the exercise of judgment. For
the unrestricted actively traded public equity and debt
instruments held in the unlisted private equity funds, the
fair value is determined based on closing price or bid
price as of measurement date.

As at 31 December 2023, four (2022: three) out of
these twelve (2022: nine) unlisted private equity funds
accounted for 74% (2022: 85%) of the aggregate carrying
value, with the investment portfolio of these three funds
being focused in listed and unlisted equity investments in
technology, media and telecommunications, commercial
property, and healthcare industry. During the year
ended 31 December 2023, the Group acquired certain
shareholdings from an entity and served as a general
partner for an unlisted private equity fund.
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®)

(Continued)

The Group invested in three (2022: ten) unlisted hedge
funds of carrying amount of USD5,048,000 (2022:
USD60,521,000) as at 31 December 2023 which are
managed by fund managers and invested in a variety of
global financial securities across a range of strategies.
The financial products include listed and unlisted equity
shares, government bonds, corporate bonds, convertible
bonds, options, futures, and swap contracts. As at 31
December 2023, the Group has fully redeemed seven
and partially redeemed three of the unlisted hedge
funds, of which, USD24,524,000 was included in other
receivables as at 31 December 2023. During the year
ended 31 December 2023, a decrease in fair value of
the redeemed unlisted hedge funds of USD217,000 (an
increase in fair value for the year ended 31 December
2022: USD549,000) was recognised in consolidated profit
or loss.

In accounting for the fair value measurement of the
investment in unlisted hedge funds, the management of
the Group has determined that the reported net asset
values of the unlisted hedge funds provided by fund
managers represented the fair value of the unlisted hedge
funds. Securities held by these funds which are listed or
quoted on a national or regional securities or commodities
exchange or market, are valued at their last sales price
on the day of determination. The fair values of securities
held by these funds which are not listed or quoted are
valued at the price of any recent transaction in issue with
adjustments or observable prices in the open market or
measured using techniques in which significant inputs
are based on observable market data. The fair value of
government bonds, corporate bonds, and convertible
bonds is generally based on quoted prices or last
reported sales prices when traded in active/observable
markets. The fair value of options, futures and swap
contracts is generally based on the last settlement price
or quoted market prices on the date of determination. The
factors to be considered in fund managers’ assessments
may require the exercise of judgment.
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(Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, a
decrease in fair value of unlisted investment funds of
USD82,208,000 (2022: USD86,523,000) was recognised
in consolidated profit or loss. During the year ended 31
December 2023, the Group received returns of capital of
USD10,493,000 (2022: USD4,910,000) plus distributions
of USD54,398,000 (2022: USD5,446,000) from two (2022:
four) of its unlisted investment funds, and redemption of
unlisted hedge funds of USD39,265,000.

The Group invested in six (2022: seven) unlisted equity
investments with the carrying amount of USD53,398,000
(2022: USD36,966,000), which three of them engaged
in financial technology, two engaged in information
technology, and one engaged in the business of electric
motor system innovations.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, an unlisted
equity investment was converted from convertible notes
to equity investments. As at 31 December 2023, the
carrying amount of the investment was USD22,920,000
(2022: USD24,096,000). The valuation method used was
the Guideline Public Company Method under Market
approach with Option-Pricing Method (OPM”) to allocate
the enterprise value (2022: Monte Carlo Simulations)
among different classes of shares. The significant
unobservable inputs are enterprise multiple of 3.9x (2022:
10.3x), risk-free rate of 4.25% (2022: 4.69%), expected
volatility of 40% (2022: 90%), expected initial public
offering probability of 80% (2022: nil), and expected
liquidation probability of 20% (2022: nil).

As at 31 December 2023, three (2022: three) unlisted
equity investments are with the carrying amount of
USD13,424,000 (2022: USD13,317,000). The valuation
technique adopted is the market approach (i.e.
comparable company approach). The valuation method
used was the Guideline Public Company Method under
Market approach. The significant unobservable inputs are
price-to-sales multiple of 4.3x and 18.5x (2022: 4.0x and
18.6x), and price-to-book multiple of 15.9x (2022: 19.8x),
respectively.
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(9)

(h)

(Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, two (2022: two) unlisted
equity investments are with the carrying amount of
USD17,054,000 (2022: USD16,075,000). The valuation
technique adopted is the market approach (i.e.
comparable company approach). The valuation method
used was the Guideline Public Company Method under
Market approach with OPM to allocate the enterprise
value among different classes of shares. The significant
unobservable inputs are price-to-sales multiple of 2.4x
and 15.0x (2022: 2.7x and 24.1x), risk-free rate of 4.86%
and 4.86% (2022: 4.49% and 4.75%), expected volatility of
120% and 95% (2022: 120% and 75.5%), expected initial
public offering probability of nil and 95% (2022: nil and
95%), and expected liquidation probability of nil and 5%
(2022: nil and 5%), respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
acquired additional equity interests of a subsidiary
that holds an unlisted investment from non-controlling
shareholders. The acquisition was made at a cash
consideration of USD1,200,000, based on the original
costs. As a result of the acquisition, the subsidiary
became wholly-owned by the Group. During the year
ended 31 December 2023, a decrease in fair value of
unlisted equity investments of USD4,216,000 (2022: an
increase in fair value of USD6,296,000) was recognised in
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The fair value is determined based on the closing price
per share quoted on the relevant stock exchanges and
quoted market bid price as at the end of the respective
reporting periods apart from the shares which the listing
of the shares had been cancelled by the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, the fair value remained of which is considered
by the management as nil.
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AND DEPOSITS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE T - =F+=-A=+—HILFE

18. B REERKMERRiZE

2023 2022
—¥-= —T-—F
USD’000 USD’000
FERT FET
Accounts receivables from the business of KBEFBEHFIFEBHZ
dealing in securities: JE U BR K
Clients (Note b) ®P (K iEb) 1,200 2,418
Clearing house and brokers EERRELH 925 279
Accounts receivables from the business of KEHEANRX FHEKEH
dealing in futures contracts: JE LT BR 3K
Clearing house and brokers HEHRRERLEY 288 316
Accounts receivables (Note a) FE W BR R (Y it a) 2,413 3,013
Other receivables and deposits (Note d) ErEKERRIES
(Bt 5ta) 38,038 13,255
Less: Impairment allowance (Note c) R BB (it e) (18) (897)
40,433 15,371
Less: Other receivables and deposits WD BERIERBEEZ
classified as non-current assets HeBWERKEZS (545) (564)
Accounts and other receivables classified DB AREBEE 2 EK K
as current assets H o e ER R 39,888 14,807
Notes: B A
(@) Accounts receivables from clearing house and certain (@) REBARGEBZERRLEERRET

clients from the business of dealing in securities is
repayable on the settlement date, which is two business

(b)

154

days after trade date, except for the remaining accounts
receivables from the business of dealing in securities and
futures contracts are repayable on demand. No ageing
analysis is disclosed as, in the opinion of the directors of
the Company, an ageing analysis does not give additional
value in view of the nature of these businesses.

The majority of the accounts receivables from clients are
secured by clients’ securities as collaterals with fair value
of USD64,346,000 (2022: USD24,453,000). A significant
portion of the collaterals are listed equity securities in
Hong Kong. These receivables are mainly repayable on
demand subsequent to settlement date and carry interest
typically at 3.8% to 9.5% (2022: 3% to 18%) per annum as
at 31 December 2023. The collaterals held can be sold at
the Group’s discretion to settle any outstanding amounts
owed by customers when the amounts become past due.
No ageing analysis is disclosed as, in the opinion of the
directors of the Company, an ageing analysis does not
give additional value in view of the nature of the business.
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18. B REERKMERRiZE

18. ACCOUNTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
AND DEPOSITS (Continued)

Notes. (Continued)

(©)

(d)

Impairment assessment on accounts and other
receivables with ECL model

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the
Group applied internal credit rating for its customers
and considers the fair value of its collateral. The Group
assessed the ECL for accounts receivables from clients
individually.

The Group held collateral of listed equity securities with
a fair value of USD64,346,000 (2022: USD24,453,000)
at the end of the reporting period in respect of accounts
receivables from clients. No impairment allowance has
been made for accounts receivables from clients with an
aggregate outstanding balance of USD1,072,000 (2022:
USD1,030,000), while parts of accounts receivables
from clients with an aggregate outstanding balance of
USD128,000 (2022: USD1,388,000) have a provision of
ECL of USD18,000 (2022: USD897,000) based on the
Group’s impairment assessment with ECL model. The
directors of the Company considered that the provision
for ECL was sufficient. The details of the impairment
assessment on accounts receivables with ECL model is
disclosed in note 29(b).

Included in other receivables and deposits are accrued
interest, sundry deposits, and receivables from hedge
funds for redemption amounting to USD12,556,000,
USD649,000 and USD24,524,000 (2022: USD3,700,000,
USD773,000 and USDS8,532,000), respectively.
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the
receivables from hedge funds for redemption were
partially settled with receipts of USD22,790,000 up to 27
March 2024. The details of the impairment assessment
on other receivables with ECL model is disclosed in note
29(b).

(&)

B et (&)

(c)

(d)

mH

REBER AR 2023F 3k

EHEERRERTREREERIA
B

ERAEENEERR E.E'EZ—*B
$E@§TE}5J§%W*BZ§E P E
BEERGBORFE- ZKEIME o FF

HEKEFPERZAHEEEE -

RBREBAAEEREREFPEE
BEEAEAMOLETRAZSZ
¥ & A64,346,000 T (= F = —
24,453,000 JT) ° $ETFZJSEI1§%%E
,Hﬁ:.,\ﬁéﬁa@%uzm@&«a fE W =

C1

XK B & 4 $1,072,000% T (=
-:__¢ 1,030, ooo%ﬁ)iﬁﬁiﬁifﬁﬁé

& mHBH ﬁéﬂﬂz%?}ﬂ%m BEEHE
51128,0003 7T (==& = =4 : 1,388,000
FIL)EATEHEE BB EE18,000%
T(=ZF = —4 :897,000FE jr) - XA T
EERABHEEEERERY ﬁﬁa
£ FATE B (= B 5 18 18 AL 8 B W AR 5K

THOREFHEFAEBEER W E29(0 )

HvERFRESHRBEREFE
BEEZRSNME HESEDRLE KRR

2 Bl A12,556,000% T - 649,000
E JT f24,524,000% w(=Z & = —
£ :3,700,000% JT * 773,000% T M
8,532,000 L) - MEHRE - BH Y
FESERBERFEEE  R-ZT N
EEH + -+ B8 A7 Uk E/22,790,0003
T BEFERABEHEEBREAYEY
EHQEHALTTE@/Wfﬁu:F1$u$|$EB§ZE§EQ
B 5E29(b) °
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19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19. B & &
Trading rights
X 5IE
usD’000
FTET
COST R A&
At 1 January 2022 R-_ZE-_—F—HF—H 2,262
Exchange realignments PE X 3B (1)
At 31 December 2022, 1 January 2023 and RZBEZZF+=ZRA=+—8"
31 December 2023 —EZ=F—H—Bk
—E_=F+=-A=+—H 2,261
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT ERAE
At 1 January 2022 R-_ZE-__—A—H 516
Exchange realignments ME 5, 58 B (1)
At 31 December 2022, 1 January 2023 and R-_B-_—_F+-_A=+—8"
31 December 2023 —E-=F—HA—8k
—T=Ft+ZA=+—H 515
CARRYING VALUES MR E
At 31 December 2023 RZEBE-_=ZF+=-_A=+—H 1,746
At 31 December 2022 R —F+-A=+—H 1,746
Trading rights confer a right to the Group to trade REBEBTAEEA N EBEEBRR
securities, options contracts and futures contracts on or FIRBEARERGFERARIEER S
through the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the Hong HMEAGHAKBESHNNEN  FXEH
Kong Futures Exchange Limited such that the Group AREBLFRBEENKLER BER
can conduct the business of brokerage of securities and BERE RE2HRE  BEE BEE
futures contracts, placing and underwriting services, BRMEES -

margin financing, advisory, assets management and
money lending.
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19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Trading rights are considered by the directors of the
Company as having indefinite useful life because there
is no foreseeable limit on the period over which the
trading right is expected to generate cash flows to the
Group. Trading rights are not amortised until its useful
life is determined to be finite. Instead, it is tested for
impairment annually and whenever there is an indication
that they may be impaired. For such purposes, trading
right is allocated to two cash generating units (“CGU"s).
The businesses of CGU 1 are brokerage of securities
and futures contracts, placing and underwriting services,
margin financing. The businesses of CGU 2 are
brokerage of securities and futures contracts, placing
and underwriting services, margin financing, asset
management and money lending.

For the purposes of impairment testing, trading rights
with indefinite useful lives have been allocated to the
CGU 1 and CGU 2. The cost of trading rights as at 31
December 2023 allocated to CGU 1 and CGU 2 are
USD516,000 and USD1,746,000 (2022: USD516,000
and USD1,746,000) respectively. For CGU 1, the cost of
trading rights was fully impaired in the year ended 31
December 2018.

The recoverable amount of the CGU 2 has been
determined based on a value in use (2022: value
in use) calculation. That calculation uses cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved by the
management covering a five-year period, and a pre-
tax discount rate of 14.7% (2022: 15.3%) for CGU 2. The
cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated
using a steady 3.0% (2022: 3.0%) growth rate for CGU 2.
This growth rate is based on past performance and the
management’s expectations for the market development.
Other key assumptions for the value in use (2022:
value in use) calculation relate to the estimation of cash
inflows/outflows which include budgeted revenue and
such estimation is based on the unit’s past performance
and the management’'s expectations for the market
development.

Further details of the impairment testing on intangible
assets with indefinite useful lives in CGU 2 are disclosed
in note 20.

19.

BREREEAR AT 20235

W& E®)

ARAEEBRRFEREBERIER
FH REABHRIEASAEBESL
BehoHEEEABLHR X5#
RAERFREESERAN - §TT#
MR XRHEBFREEDRRBRE
AIRERERETRERD - BtmE - X
ZEIEEMBERCELAEM(REE
ABM]D BREeELBN—ZEXEBRES
EEAHRKER KERBHRE
RECTHE ATELBEU_ZXBS
EFERMEAORER EERBHR
%oREZRE BEEERKE-

BEANHME - HEERERFHN
ROGBESPEIRSELEEN—KES
EXSEN_ -HRZE-_=F+-_A=+—
BAoRIIBRELELEN—NRESELSE
N ZHRZERK A5 R A516,000% 7T
1,746,000% ;o (= & — — 4 : 516,000
X T }1,746,000%7) - LIRS ELE BN
—ME RPEHNKAERBEEZZ—N
F+_A=+—BULHFE2HRME-

REEFBEN 2B SREREEA
BE(ZEZZF:THEB)GFEET °
ERAEERAREEEEMMERBER
FHOEBERRSELESEN - B14.7
B(ZZE-—F:153F) 2K H iR =R
BHZBEESREBAIEL - BeEEEN
—HBAFHE IR ERELRI0% (=
T F:30%BEEREHEESE -
ZEEERTBRERATRBLAEEEY T
LRREZEHETE - FRABE(ZZE=Z
FFEFRAEBEECECTFERI ISR
HIRERA/AHzHEs BEEER
A ERGAREEREMNBARBERE
BEYMBER2EH -

HESEABV _FPHAERAFERHF
HA B 4 B 1T A9 RE B B B B A B
5F20 e
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20. GOODWILL 20. BHE
CGU 3 CGU 2 Total
HEELE HEEE
BEf= B st
UsSD’000 USD’000 UsSD’000
FER FER FER
COST B &
At 1 January 2022 R-ZFE-—_F—H—H 1,473 17,972 19,445
Exchange realignments e W R (5) — (5)
Written off 1 85 (762) — (762)
At 31 December 2022 R-E—- —
and 1 January 2023 +—A=+—HK
—E-_=%—H—H 706 17,972 18,678
Exchange realignments PE X B 4) — (4)
Written off i 58 (702) — (702)
At 31 December 2023 RZE-=F
+=-—A=+—H — 17,972 17,972
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT Z:tifi{E
At 1 January 2022 R-_ZE-—F—HF—H 1,473 — 1,473
Exchange realignments E W & (5) — (5)
Written off 1 88 (762) = (762)
Impairment charge RN — 943 943
At 31 December 2022 A —
and 1 January 2023 +ZA=+—HK
—E-=F—H—H 706 943 1,649
Exchange realignments PE X 3B 4) — (4)
Written off i 58 (702) — (702)
At 31 December 2023 RZE-_=F
+=-—A=+—8 — 943 943
CARRYING VALUES AR (&
At 31 December 2023 RZE_=
+=—A=+—8” — 17,029 17,029
At 31 December 2022 RZEZ—F
+=—A=+—8 = 17,029 17,029
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20. GOODWILL (continued)

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill has
been allocated to CGU 2 and CGU 3. The business of
CGU 3 is brokerage of securities and futures contracts,
placing and underwriting services, margin financing,
advisory, asset management and money lending and the
business of CGU 2 is disclosed in note 19. CGU 2 and
CGU 3 are two groups of securities companies operating
in Hong Kong.

For CGU 3, the goodwill was fully impaired in the
year ended 31 December 2018. For the purposes of
impairment testing of the goodwill and trading rights
intangible asset belonging to CGU2, the basis of
the recoverable amounts of the CGU and their major
underlying assumptions are summarised below:

The recoverable amounts of the CGU have been
determined based on a value in use (2022: value in use)
calculation. The recoverable amounts were determined
with the assistance of an independent professional
qualified valuer not connected with the Group. That
calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by the management covering a five-
year period, and a pre-tax discount rate of 14.7% (2022:
15.3%) for the CGU. The cash flows beyond the five-
year period are extrapolated using a steady 3.0% (2022:
3.0%) growth rate. This growth rate is based on past
performance and the management’s expectations for the
market development. Other key assumptions for the value
in use calculation relate to the estimation of cash inflows/
outflows which include budgeted revenue and such
estimation is based on the unit's past performance and
management’s expectations for the market development
including the fluctuation in the current economic
environment.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no further
write-down of the assets of CGU 2 for impairment
loss is considered necessary. During the year ended
31 December 2022, the directors of the Company
had consequently determined impairment of goodwill
directly related to CGU 2 amounting to USD943,000.
The recoverable amount of the CGU 2 amounted to
USD45.7 million as at 31 December 2022 which was
lower than its carrying amount prior to the recognition
of this impairment loss for the year ended 31 December
2022 due to the deterioration in capital market conditions
in Hong Kong during that year. The impairment loss had
been included in profit or loss for the year ended 31
December 2022.

20.

mE

BRRENRNSE BECOIEEREE
EBERN_FMBRESEABU= -BHEeEL
BUZZEBRBEFLHPEEHLRE
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BERHE19 REELBEN _LRE
ELBN-"REREKENMEAEBESFQ
CIE S

RBELELBN=-—ME  BEREZE=Z
—NEFE+-_A=+—BUHEEFHRE -
MERBSEAEMN _HNRERXFH#
EREEMNRBEANATMS ReELS
AR EAEREFTZRBRE
e

ReEEXEBEN2KESETIIREFER
BE(ZCEZZF:FTHEBE)GFTEET °
AWESETHASEEFANE L HE
AERBEMNBEITET - BETE
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mIEAEL - BATFHEZRERE
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BEMRATEVENREEESMN N
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T F+ A=+ —RHLFE  KQH
EECRTHERSELEN _HEMABN
E BB A£943,000%% L - AREEZE
T CE+ A=+ —RAULFEEBEART
BRRRENL R —F+-A=+—
B ReELEN _MAKRO$3E 5457
BEERL BERZFERRRMEEIBEA
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21.

22.
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LOANS RECEIVABLE

21. B &=

2023
—®-=

UsD’000

FER

Fixed-rate loans receivable, current

As at 31 December 2023, the effective interest rate
(which are fixed rates, also equal to contractual interest
rates) on the Group’s loans receivable was 13% per
annum. The contractual maturity date of the loans
receivable was one year and is denominated in USD.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of loans
receivable amounting to USD5,000,000 was secured with
collateral of listed equity shares whose aggregate fair
value was USD5,423,000. The Group is not permitted to
sell or repledge the collateral in the absence of default
by the borrower. There had not been any significant
changes in the quality of the collateral held for the
loans receivable. The Group had not recognised a
loss allowance for loans receivable as a result of the
collateral.

The Group had not provided for impairment loss for
such loans receivable as at 31 December 2023 based
on the ECL model under 12m ECL as the fair value of
the collateral was are higher than the carrying amount of
loans receivable. The loans receivable of USD500,000
has been repaid, and the remaining balance has been
renewed for another one year in February 2024. The
details of the impairment assessment on loans receivable
with ECL model are disclosed in note 29(b).

BANK TRUST ACCOUNTS BALANCES

The Group maintains segregated trust accounts with
licensed financial institutions to hold clients’ monies
arising from the business of dealing in securities and
futures contracts. The Group has classified the clients’
monies as cash held on behalf of customers under the
current assets of the consolidated statement of financial
position and recognised the corresponding accounts
payables to respective clients on grounds that it is liable
for any loss or misappropriation of clients’ monies. The
Group is not allowed to use the clients’ monies to settle
its own liabilities.

G-RESOURCES GROUP LIMITED 2023 ANNUAL REPORT
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CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS/TIME 23. HeRFE&FEHEEH "RIHY
DEPOSITS WITH ORIGINAL MATURITIES HEB=EANEHER R
OVER THREE MONTHS/LONG-TERM HEHER
TIME DEPOSITS
Cash and cash equivalents include demand deposits ReEhkREFEEEBREAREAEE
and short-term deposits for the purpose of meeting the MRS ENERERREBRER -
Group’s short term cash commitments. Bank balances R_E-_=F+_-_A=+—8 K&EFHE
held by the Group with original maturity within three ERINPA=ZEARRZRRITTMBEFF
months and accrued interest at prevailing market rates ENTF0.22BE59EFB(ZE_F:
which range from 0.22% to 5.9% (2022: 0.001% to 6.2%) 0.001EE6.2E)MRITAETF o
per annum as at 31 December 2023
Time deposits with original maturities over three months REBABA=-EANER TR R
and long-term time deposits represent short-term and EHERERARRBPRITER - R
long-term bank deposits. These deposits have effective E_=F+ZA=1T—R0 " ZEHFXN
interest rates ranging from 4.3% to 6.0% (2022: 3.96%) ERFEMESRNF43EZ6.0E(ZF
and from 4.37% to 6.03% (2022: nil), respectively per T Z#F :3968)R4.37E E6.03EB(=ZF
annum as at 31 December 2023. ZZFF)e
ACCOUNTS AND OTHER PAYABLES 24. ERREEEMIRR
2023 2022
—F-= —F- =
USD’000 USD’000
FERT FE=x
Accounts payables from the REBHXHEHD

business of dealing in securities: FE A BR 3K

Clients NS 29,115 47,702

Clearing house and brokers EERRELR 25 88
Accounts payables from the business RKEBHEAARS

of dealing in futures contracts: EBHENERR:

Clients BF 447 1,010
Accounts payables (Note a) FETBR X (B ita) 29,587 48,800
Other payables and accrued EEREMER R EST

expenses (Note b) FX (4 iEb) 1,404 11,052

30,991 59,852
Less: Accrued expenses classified WD ERIERE

as non-current liabilities BEMNEITHX (42) (66)
Accounts and other payable DEAERDEBENER

classified as current liabilities N H T R ERR 30,949 59,786

BREREEAR AT 20235
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24. ACCOUNTS AND OTHER PAYABLES
(Continued)

Notes:

(@)

(b)

2023,

Accounts payables to clients mainly include money held in
banks, brokers and clearing house on behalf of customers
from the business of dealing in securities and futures
contracts. The majority of the accounts payables from the
business of dealing in securities and futures contracts
are repayable on demand except for certain accounts
payables from the business of dealing in securities, which
are repayable on settlement date, which is two business
days after trade date. No ageing analysis is disclosed
for the accounts payables from the business of dealing
in securities and futures contracts as, in the opinion of
the directors of the Company, the ageing analysis does
not give additional value in view of the nature of these
businesses.

As at 31 December 2022, included in other payables are
USD9,839,000 relating to the liabilities arising from the
disposal of mining business during the year ended 31
December 2016. During the year ended 31 December
the Group settled these other payables for an
amount of USD7,200,000.

25. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

The following is the major deferred tax liabilities

4. B RHEEEMERR @)

(a) REEPCZENERZTEZEBRERESFLHS
BEHARGEBHNELP NIRRT - L8
&%Z%%hﬁZﬁ%oK%ﬁ#&%
EERRGEBHEMNBRR R AR
AN R TREZESFRHEBRE
NEXRERGEEABIXZEEN®E
M%E)1E1<JL ZK T§$nu/ﬁj fﬁbﬁ/\
ﬂ%&%mAmi%ﬁﬁm&g IR B

DA T REEINMEE - FE UL I EF X
EEBIENERBEBRRE 2T

by RZE-_—_F+-_AFA=Z+—8"
9,839,000 T2 EHNEE_T—RF
+- A=+ BLHFEHERBELM
EEMAECEREEECENERRN -
BE-_ZT-_=F+-A=+—81L%FE "
AEBDEEZE S A7,200,000%
THRETEMERR -

25. BEBIFEAR

AEENBAEFECHERIETEREN

recognised and movements thereon during the current BREEREZHOT -
year and prior year:
Fair value
adjustment
on intangible
assets
BLEEN
AFEFAE
uUsD’000
FTER
At 1 January 2022, 31 December N-ZE-——F—f —F- =
2022, 1 January 2023 and +=—A=+—H T -_=F—H—H
31 December 2023 RZZT=Z=F+ =+—~H 288

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of USD130,636,000 (2022: USD130,003,000)
available for offset against future profits. No deferred
tax asset has been recognised in respect of unused
tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profits
streams. The tax losses may be carried forward

indefinitely.
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SHARE CAPITAL

26. g &

Number
of shares Value
% 3 88 BE
USD’000
FET
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of R EECOIE T ZE R
HKDO0.01 each
At 1 January 2022, R-ZE__F—H—H"
31 December 2022, —E-__Ff+=ZA=+—8"
1 January 2023 and —E-=F—A—8k
31 December 2023 —E=F+=ZA=+—H 1,000,000,000 1,282
Issued and fully paid: ERETRHRE:
Ordinary shares of FlREECOIE T ZE R
HKDO0.01 each
At 1 January 2022, R-_E__F—H—H"
31 December 2022, —E-__Ff+=ZA=+—8"
1 January 2023 and —E-=F—A—8k
31 December 2023 —E-=F+=ZHA=+—H 450,814,079 598

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopted a share option scheme pursuant
to a resolution passed by shareholders on 18 June
2014 (the “2014 Scheme”) for the purpose of providing
incentives or rewards to directors, employees, customers,
suppliers, providers of research, development or
technical support, shareholders and holders of securities
of the Group and its invested entities, in which the
Group holds not less than 10% equity interest (“Eligible
Participants”). Under the 2014 Scheme, the Board of
Directors may grant options to Eligible Participants to
subscribe for shares in the Company. The Company
revised the general scheme limit allowing the Company
to issue options representing no more than 22,540,703
shares under the 2014 Scheme for the option incentive
purpose of the Group and made certain amendments in
relation to the scheme limit which have been approved at
the annual general meeting of the Company held on 15
June 2018 (“Amendments to the 2014 Scheme”).

BREREEAR AT 20235

27. LIz BERBRZZMAXSH

BER-_ZE—WFNAT\BEREBEB
Z—ERFER AQRFEMN—IEBRE
FE(ZE—UFE D UmAEE S
=2 BB -BF - - HE® - HEIEM
STERREER BREEAEERHAELEE
BETLRI0%REC BB EFRFEA
([FEWR2HE)IRHEEE KR - B
BT —NFE ARREBEAUMRE
ER2HERLBRE URBAQF
B - RARIBERT —MATSIRE - A
ANRAB AR R —F — 00 F B8 IR A 5 &) B
THE R TR iB22,540,7030% % 17 &) &
RENCET—RETERE - TUIEAR
AEBHBERESBAR  YHRERE
HERBETET  HERZ-ZZT—\F XA
THEHHETHAQRARRBEFAS LB
BZZE—MNFr8 25T -
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27.

28.
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Upon the Amendments to the 2014 Scheme, the
maximum number of shares of the Company which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under 2014 Scheme or
any other share option scheme adopted by the Company
must not in aggregate exceed 15% of its issued share
capital from time to time. The total number of shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the 2014 Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Group must not in aggregate
exceed 5% of the shares in issue unless it is approved
by shareholders in a general meeting of the Company.
The maximum number of shares issuable under the
options to each eligible participant in any twelve-month
period is limited to 0.5% of the shares in issue unless it
is approved by shareholders in a general meeting of the
Company. Any grant of options under the 2014 Scheme
to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of
the Company or any of their respective associates must
be approved by independent non-executive directors
(excluding any independent non-executive director who
is the grantee of the options). Any share options granted
to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-
executive director of the Company or to any of their
respective associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares
in issue and with an aggregate value (based on the
closing price of the shares at the date of grant) in excess
of HKD5,000,000 (approximately USD641,000), in any
12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in
a general meeting of the Company.

No option was granted or outstanding during the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through
the optimisation of the debt and equity balances. The
Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from the
previous year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity

attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
share capital, reserves and retained earnings.
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 28. EAXMEEERE @)
Certain subsidiaries of the Company are licensed with ARalBTHMBRARESTEESRKH
Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong EEBERZER((FEGNER - K
(“SFC”). The Group’s licensed subsidiaries are subject to EENHERNBEAT AR EES TR
liquid capital requirements under Securities and Futures Mz BEBEPESTINE(ES RS (B
(Financial Resources) Rules (“SF(FR)R”) (Chapter 571N BER)BANKESZEBAE(MHEIR)
of the Laws of Hong Kong) adopted by the SFC. The BRADDHMRBHESE R - EEESHE
management closely monitors, on a daily basis, the liquid NERZEHENBRAR 2 REE 2K
capital level of those licensed subsidiaries to ensure T ARRRECEARBE (T ER)
compliance with the minimum liquid capital requirements BRADHEERBHESE K o
under the SF(FR)R.
The directors of the Company review the capital structure ARaEESTHERMEREE - FRE
regularly. As part of this review, the directors consider the BMez—Hn EFEEEAKARHAE
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class HRIERNEE R - RIBES &% -
of capital. Based on recommendations of the directors, AEERKBERINKRE  BTHEKR B
the Group will balance its overall capital structure through EIR% ek #T IS E 75 i F B E BB ERLE
the payment of dividends, new share issues, share buy- & -
backs or raising of new debt.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 29. £t TH
29a. Categories of financial instruments 29a. &R T R E 5l
2023 2022
—®¥== —FT- -
UsSD’000 USD’000
FERT FET
Financial assets EHMEE
Amortised cost B 58 B AR 1,080,161 1,003,991
Financial assets at FVTPL EAFTHEFEEEEY
AABGZEREE 373,836 480,554
Financial assets designated EErREAFEGFEAE
as at FVTOCI gHFAHREEZEEA
ZEREE 3,017 2,821
Financial liabilities eRAaHE
Amortised cost B A A 30,370 59,636
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
29b. Financial risk management objectives
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and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
financial assets at FVTPL, investments in
debt instruments measured at amortised cost,
investments in perpetual notes at FVTPL and
designated as at FVTOCI, accounts and other
receivables and deposits, loans receivable,
bank trust accounts balances, time deposits with
original maturities over three months, cash and
cash equivalents, accounts and other payables.
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed
in respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments and the policies on
how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk
(i) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate
risk in relation to fixed-rate Senior Notes and
cash flow interest rate risk in relation to bank
balances and variable-rate Senior Notes.

The interest income is derived from the
Group’s current and fixed deposits that carry
interest at the respective banking deposit
rate of the banks located in Hong Kong. The
Group’s bank deposits (set out in note 23)
carried interest at prevailing market rates.

The Group currently does not have an interest
rate hedging policy. However, the management
monitors interest rate exposure and will
consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

29b. Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Interest rate risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been
determined based on the exposure to interest
rates for bank balances and variable-rate
Senior Notes. The analysis is prepared
assuming the financial instruments outstanding
at the end of the period were outstanding for
the whole year. A 100 basis points (2022: 100
basis points) increase or decrease is used for
bank balances and variable-rate Senior Notes,
and when reporting interest rate risk internally
to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates respectively.

If interest rates had been 100 basis points
(2022: 100 basis points) for variable-rate
bank balances and Senior Notes higher/lower
and all other variables were held constant,
the Group’s profit for the year ended 31
December 2023 would increase/decrease
by USD1,303,000 and USD142,000 (2022:
post-tax loss would decrease/increase by
USD8,842,000 and USD111,000), respectively.
This is mainly attributable to the Group’s
exposure to interest rates on its bank balances
and variable-rate Senior Notes.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes
arising from investments in perpetual notes
at FVTPL and designated as at FVTOCI (note
17(d)) and unlisted investments (including
unlisted investment funds (note 17(f)), and
unlisted equity investments (note 17(g)) and
listed equity investments (note 17(h)) at FVTPL.

200 TS EIBE EEBE

(&)

SR BUK

45 BE (42 )
()  FIFEmEE(E)
BRE D

(ii)

BREREEAR AT 20235

TSR E DT IR ERITE
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Eﬁf‘ﬁﬂ}fﬁ%mmo{l%%ﬂi(:
T = —4F - 100fE E Bh) BNk
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fiw )2 BRI T B KRB IEF
REF TFE100EEZE(ZF
C100ME E 2 MATA
TREMHTIE  AEFEH
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Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

Other price risk (Continued)

The Group’s listed equity price risk is mainly
concentrated in equity instruments quoted on
the stock exchanges for which quoted market
bid price is available. The independent valuer
conducted researches and estimated the
liquidation value of the investee group, taking
into account the prolonged duration of the
suspension from trading of shares.

The Group maintains an investment portfolio
which comprises listed and unlisted equities.
Investments are chosen to enhance creation of
capital value for trading purpose as well as for
long term potential growth.

Equity investments are subject to asset
allocation limits to control appropriate risks.
The portfolio size is regularly reviewed and the
price movements are closely monitored by the
investment committee and the directors of the
Group, who will take appropriate actions when
required.

Sensitivity analysis

As at 31 December 2023, it is estimated that
an increase/decrease of 5% (2022: 5%) in
the fair value of the Group’s investments in
perpetual notes at FVTPL, unlisted investments
and listed equity investments at FVTPL, with
all other variables held constant, would have
decreased/increased the Group’s post-tax loss
by USD18,251,000 (2022: post-tax profit would
increase/decrease USD23,703,000).

As at 31 December 2023, it is estimated that
an increase/decrease of 5% (2022: 5%) in
the fair value of the Group’s Investments in
perpetual notes designated as at FVTOCI,
with all other variables held constant, would
have decreased/increased the Group’s total
comprehensive expense by USD151,000
(2022: USD141,000).
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20b. R EEBEHERBER

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
29b. Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued) (&)
Market risk (Continued) g ()
(iii) Currency risk (iii) B )E

Most of the Group’s financial assets and
liabilities are denominated in USD and HKD
which are the same as the functional currency
of the respective Group entities. In addition,
the Group has certain financial assets and
financial liabilities denominated in Australian
Dollar (‘AUD"), Chinese Yuan Renminbi
(“CNY?”), Pound sterling (“GBP”), and Swedish
Kronor (“SEK”).

In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, USD are stable with HKD under
the Linked Exchange Rate System, and
accordingly, the Group does not have any
significant foreign exchange risk in respect of
transactions or balances as denominated in
HKD. Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is
performed on HKD.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign
currency denominated monetary assets and
monetary liabilities at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

AEEzERMEERBEBEARS
D PASRTT K8 T (R AN 5% [ 3E
TEEBZHEER)E-
o AEBEEETEMEE
REBEMRT(GRIT) - AR
BIAR®ED  RE(RE])
K By 2 5o BA (T35 82 0 BA D) &1
8-

ARBEERR  RIBEBHERE
RHE RTHETHEXRR
A AREER KBTI
BENXZREFMS - LEL
AIEAIMNERER - At - X &
BB TTETTHRMEDA -

RBEHR - REBLAIMNE ST
BzEBEEREBEEERT
BHMT:

2023 2022
—E-= —ET=-=
USD’000 USD’000
FEx FExT
Assets BE
AUD ST 647 1,138
CNY ARE 6,727 9,297
GBP g 355 682
SEK T 42 %5 B 1,914 1,709
Liabilities =R
AUD MR IT 461 999
CNY AR 1,432 121
GBP o 249 626

7N & B 3R B 3 A S GE 0 I
ReRM AKEEEESE
FHMERR AR FBERHE
B ERSMNER B o

The Group currently does not have a foreign
exchange hedging policy. However, the
management of the Group monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign exchange exposure should
the need arises.
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and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(iii)  Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The Group’s foreign currency risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation among
AUD, CNY, GBP and SEK against USD. The
following table details the Group’s sensitivity
to a 7% (2022: 7%) increase and decrease in
the USD against the foreign currencies. 7%
(2022: 7%) is the sensitivity rate used when
reporting foreign currency risk internally to
key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates.
As at 31 December 2023, a positive/(negative)
number indicates and decrease/increase in
loss before taxation for the year where the
USD strengthens against the relevant foreign
currencies. For a 7% (2022: 7%) weakening
of the USD against the relevant foreign
currencies, there would be an equal and
opposite impact on profit before taxation.

29. €t T B (%)
200 A EBHERBER

(&)

7 45 ) g (#8)

(iii)

E#mE (&)
BRRE DT

AEBEBZIINEBRBRETEES
PROBRIT - ARM - e RInH
FARETZKE - TRFT
AEEETHIINE2HRER
FEEREEI% (ZE=-=
7%) 7% (ZEZZF :7%) B
MEZEEEANIBREINE
BEREMABZBHRE  BE
BEYIINKIERAGESIEE
Fram R TE-_=F+_
A=+—H XX E@EN
BAEBER E/(B)EERTRHR
RATFRE BRI - &
ETHABRBEINERBET% (ZF
ZZF 7% FE 2 Y BATF
HEARSIRER Z2ZE -

Loss before taxation

BRiEE

2023 2022

—g-= —E-—
USD’000 UsSD’000
FET FET
AUD T (13) (10)
CNY ARE (371) (642)
GBP i (7) (4)
SEK T B2 75 BA (134) (120)
(525) (776)
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9. M EGEEEHERBKE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
29b. Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)
Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the
event of the counterparties’ failure to discharge their
obligations in relation to each class of recognised
financial assets excluding equity investments are
the amounts stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position. In order to minimise the credit
risk, the management of the Group has determined
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In this regard, the
directors of the Company consider that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group has concentrations of credit risk
comprising time deposits placed at a financial
institution included in the Group’s bank balances of
USD294,740,000 (2022: USD335,360,000), which
represents approximately 33% (2022: 38%) of the
Group’s cash and cash equivalents, long-term time
deposits and time deposits with original maturities
over three months. The management considers the
credit risk on such balances held at the financial
institution is limited because the financial institution
is with high credit rating.

Impairment assessment under ECL model

As at 31 December 2022 and 2023, except for the
credit risks associated with accounts receivables
from clients from the business of dealing in
securities, which are mitigated by the security over
equity securities, the Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements to cover the
credit risks associated with other financial assets.
Those carrying amounts best represent the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk. In the event of
failure of the counterparties to discharge their
obligation, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk will be the financial loss of the carrying amount
of the respective financial assets recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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and policies (Continued) (&)

Impairment assessment under ECL model
(Continued) (%)

The Group's current credit risk grading framework

29. €t T B (%)
9. M EGEEEHERBKE

EHEEHEREBRETZHEFGE

AEBBAMNEERRFRERE

comprises the following categories under the —RAETEEUNTHHE:

general approach:

Loans receivable,
accounts receivables and
investments

Internal in debt instruments at
credit rating Description amortised cost
FEM B3R - FEWI AR =X &
BRBERAGEZ
PR {E B RE 4 1 it BHEIRRSE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and 12-month ECL
does not have any past-due amounts
15 [ Bz REEFHNENRRE X EEABBHRIE t_EAEHEERRE
Watch list A borrower frequently repays after due dates but usually 12-month ECL

settle after due date or extension of loan mutually agreed
by the Group and borrower (accounts receivables in
margin financing no shortfall)

ERARLERIBRER  HBERIHABAK
Zﬂ‘iléﬁﬂﬁ*ﬁ/\ﬁmmkﬁﬁ?ﬂ}%w@f BE
(RECHEEBKEN - EER)

4
i
i

Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk since
initial recognition through information developed internally
or external resources
(accounts receivables in margin financing:
shortfall outstanding between 1 and 30 days)

U 13 LR 2 D94 3B DA R 0 B 5T ¢
IBEENERMALREM (RESBAMBER

1230 KAKREZER)

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit impaired
(accounts receivables in margin financing: shortfall
outstanding for over 30 days)

B ARBRTEECHRGEERE
(RECHE YRS BBIORRERRER)

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the borrower is in severe
financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect
of recovery

i 84 Tfiﬁﬁﬂﬁ*/\ﬁﬁkﬁéﬁﬁﬁl% BEXEER
”51 W\& = w3
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
29b. Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Impairment assessment under ECL model
(Continued)

Accounts receivables

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and
other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts. Before
accepting any new client, the Group assesses the
potential customer’s credit quality and defines its
credit limit. Credit limits attributed to clients are
reviewed regularly. In this regard, the directors of
the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk
is significantly reduced. In addition, the Group
performs impairment assessment under ECL model
on accounts balances individually.

The management performs periodic evaluations on
clients to ensure the Group’s exposure to bad debts
is not significant. The experience in collection of
accounts receivables from clients from the business
of dealing in securities falls within the expectation
of the directors. The management has continued to
adopt business initiatives to enlarge the customer
base of business of dealing in securities in order to
reduce and also mitigate concentrations of credit
risk.

The accounts receivables from clients from
the business of dealing in securities have
been reviewed by the management to assess
impairment allowances which based on evaluation
of collectability and on management’'s judgment,
including the current creditworthiness and the
past collection statistics of individual account and
collateral held by the Group. ECL on accounts
receivables amounting to USD18,000 (2022:
USD897,000) was recognised as at 31 December
2023.
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and policies (Continued)

Impairment assessment under ECL model
(Continued)

Accounts receivables (Continued)

The credit risk for accounts receivables from
clearing houses and brokers is considered
as not material taking into account the good
market reputations and high credit ratings of the
counterparties.

Other receivables and deposits

In determining the ECL for other receivables and
deposits, the management of the Group has taken
into account the historical default experience,
for example, the Group has considered the
consistently low historical default rate in connection
with payments as adjusted by forward-looking
information, and concluded that credit risk inherent
in the Group’s outstanding other receivables and
deposits is insignificant.

Loans receivable

The Group has a policy for assessing the
impairment on loans receivable on an individual
basis. The ECL rates are estimated based on
historical observed default rates and the credit
quality classification and are adjusted for forward-
looking information, including but not limited to the
historical settlement patterns and financial status of
each borrower.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team to develop and
maintain the Group’s internal credit risk grading to
categories exposures according to their degree of
risk of default. Management uses publicly available
financial information and the Group’s own historical
repayment records to rate its borrowers.
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200 ARG EEBHERBRER

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
29b. Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued) (&)

Impairment assessment under ECL model BHEEEREETZREFGE
(Continued) (&)

Loans receivable (Continued) JEWKEF (E&)

In determining the ECL of the loans receivable,
the Group will consider the change in the credit
quality of the loans receivable, if any, from the date
the loans initially granted up to the reporting date.
This includes assessing the credit history of the
borrowers, such as past experience of financial
difficulties or default in payments, and current
market conditions. The Group will make specific
provision for loans receivable balances which
cannot be recovered. The credit risk is significantly
reduced.

The Group’s loans receivable was secured with
a collateral of listed equity shares with fair value
above the carrying value of the loans receivable.
The Group considered the default risk is low in this
regard.

Investments in debt instruments at amortised cost

The Group assesses the credit risk of the
investments in debt securities at the end of each
reporting period. The Group’s debt instruments at
amortised cost mainly comprise listed bonds that
are graded by credit rating agencies as per globally
understood definitions and some bonds without
external credit rating are assessed by internal credit
analysis.

The Group assessed the ECL for debt instruments
at amortised cost by reference to credit rating of
the bond investment by rating agencies, corporate
historical default and loss rate and exposure of default
of each bond investment. The Group also considered
macroeconomic factors and recent forward-looking
information affecting the respective region and industry
for each issuer in the assessment.
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
29b. Financial risk management objectives

176

and policies (Continued)

Impairment assessment under ECL model
(Continued)

Investments in debt instruments at amortised cost
(Continued)

The Group’s investments in debt instruments at
amortised cost mainly comprise instruments that
have a low risk of default or the issuers have a
strong capacity to repay (e.g. financial instruments
that are of investment grade or issuer with good
credit history and capacity to repay etc). As at 31
December 2023, three of the Senior Notes carrying
a gross amount of USD2,123,000 with original
maturity dates from July 2024 to January 2026
have a provision of lifetime ECL of USD1,675,000.
During the year ended 31 December 2023, ECL on
investments in debt instruments at amortised cost
increased by USD356,000 (2022: decreased by
USD1,391,000).

The management of the Group considers the bank
balances, bank trust accounts balances, long-
term time deposits and time deposits with original
maturities over three months that are deposited with
the financial institutions with high credit rating to be
low credit risk financial assets. The management
of the Group considers the probability of default is
negligible on the basis of high credit rating issuers,
accordingly, no loss allowance was recognised.
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 29. & T H ()
29b. Financial risk management objectives 200 B EIEEBERBK
and policies (Continued) (&)
Impairment assessment under ECL model BHEEEREETZREFGE
(Continued) (%)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of TRAMAEEAHHETELARF
the Group’s financial assets, which are subject to EEETHTNEREENEER
ECL assessment: %
Gross Gross
Internal carrying Loss carrying Loss
Nofes  credit ratings ~ ECL Model amount allowance amount  allowance
it RBEEFE  BHEHERED FEEE GREGE KESE BRER
2023 2023 2022 2022

—%-=§ C-¥-=f _-3--fF -Z--fF
UsD'000 UsD’000 USD'000 USD'000
FER GE T%n Tin

Financial assets at amortised cost

BESRAHEZEMEE
Investments in debt instruments measured 77 Low risk 12m ECL
at amortised cost 109,085 442 55,749 347
BEERAHEZEHIANRE (B e T-EARSEEER
Investments in debt instruments measured 77 Loss Lifetime ECL
at amortised cost — credit impaired 2,123 1,675 2519 1,414
BRERATEZBHRIANRE BB PHRAEEER
—fERE
Accounts receivables 18 Low risk 12m ECL 2,413 18 1,621 14
[ ET [ T-EARSEEER
Accounts receivables 18 Loss Lifetime ECL
— credit-impaired = = 1,392 883
&R B PHRAEEER
—fERE
Other receivables and deposits 16 Low risk 12m ECL 37,851 = 13,081 =
HvRMZERES (e T-EARSEEER
Loans Receivable 21 Low risk 12m ECL 5,000 - = =
EWEH {5 P2 T-ERARBEEER
Bank trust accounts balances 2 NJA 12m ECL 28,285 - 48,037 -
ROGEREPER TER TZEARSEEER
Bank balances (included in cash 23 N/A 12m ECL
and cash equivalents) 130,308 - 854,250 =
ROERGIARERREZERER) rER T-EREREERR
Time deposits with original maturities over 23 NJA 12m ECL
three months 567,231 - 30,000 -
RIBARA-EANTEHRER TER TZEARSBEEER
Long-term time deposits 23 NA 12m ECL 200,000 = = S
RBEHEH TER T-EARSEEER
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 29. & T H ()

29b. Financial risk management objectives 200. B EBEEREEERB K
and policies (Continued) (&)
Impairment assessment under ECL model BHEEEREETZREFGE
(Continued) (%)
The following table shows reconciliation of TR ERBREHAAAEZE
loss allowances that have been recognised for BTERKREREWRRRERDE
investments in debt instruments measured at BREEZHE -

amortised cost and accounts receivables.

Investments in debt instruments measured

at amortised cost Accounts Receivables
REERATRZEBIANRE TR 2%
Lifetime Lifetime Lifetime
ECL— ECL— ECL—
not credit- credit- credit-
12m ECL impaired impaired 12m ECL impaired Total
2HEH

tBA  GEFR  AMEM  t-BR 2MEM

EM -EEH  EHER BEW  GHEA
ERER RE -GHBE EEER - GHERE it
USD'000  USD'000  USD'000  USD'000  USD'000  USD'000
TER TER FER FER FER TER

At 1 January 2022 R-F--f-f-H 2,781 371 - 155 - 3,307
Impaiment allowance BEAHERE

recognised 649 = 1,285 9 730 2,643
Exchange realignments ERRE - - - 3 - 3
Transferred from 12m BT EARHEEFRE

ECL to Lifetime ECL BELHEHREEER (159) - 159 (13) 153 -
Write-offs Lk (2.924) (371) - - - (3,295)
At 31 December 2022 RZBZZE+ZR=+-HR

and 1 January 2023 —¥-Z5-f-H 347 - 1,414 14 883 2,658
Impaiment allowance BEAHERE

recognised 201 - 1,381 4 540 2,126
Transferred from 12m BT-BARHEEFEE

ECL to Lifetime ECL EE (16) - 16 - - -
Write-offs it (90) - (1,136) - (1,423) (2,649)
At 31 December 2023 RZ¥Z=%+ZR=+-BH 442 - 1,675 18 - 2,135
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29. €t T B (%)
200 ARG EEBHERBRER

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
29b. Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Impairment assessment under ECL model
(Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and
2022, there is no impairment allowance for other
receivables and deposits, loans receivable, bank
trust accounts balances, bank balances, long-
term time deposits and time deposits with original
maturities over three months. As at 31 December
2023, impairment allowances of USD2,117,000 and
USD18,000 (2022: USD1,761,000 and USD897,000)
were made for investments in debt instruments
at amortised cost and accounts receivables,
respectively.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by management to
finance the operations of the Group and to maintain
a balance between continuity of funding and
flexibility through the use of borrowings.

The following tables detail the remaining contractual
maturity for the non-derivative financial liabilities.
The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based
on the earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay. The table includes both interest and
principal cash flows.

(&)

BHEEEEREE TZREFG
(4&)
REBEE_E_=ZFR-_T-__F+=
A=+—HLFE  HeRWxEX
e EWER RITEARPE
t - RITHER  RHETHERER
NHBERB =@M T HE R E
TR ERE R TE-_=F1+=
B=Z+—8 AEBERZHEHEKKX
EZEBIAMNKEREWRER
7 Bl ¥E H2,117,0003 JT 18,0003
(=T = — 4% :1,761,000% 7T &
897,000 JT) K BB B # -

VA i

EEBERBESRRIE  AEH
EEERPAREEERR/ENZ
REeMREFEBERKFE  UKAX
SEzZ2ERHES  WEBRER
RITIEE EESZRHEMNERE)
M 2BRETE -

TRHAJETECRABZHTA
MEMA - ZRDRBAEEAX
NAMBRREREZEREBBE LR
EEMAEEMGH - LRBEF
ERAGEZBRERE °
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29. €t T (%)
20b. ARG EREEHERBE

and policies (Continued) (&)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REEZEEE)
Liquidity tables HEEZ XK
Weighted On
average  demand or Total
effective  less than 1-3  3months  More than undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 month months  to 1 year Tyear  cash flow amount
mERYy  EERE -z ZEA AERRE
ERiE -EAM ZfiR -5 BE-F RESHE kEE
USD'000  USD’000  USD’000 USD'000  USD'000  USD’000
Fin i i Fin Fin Fin
At 31 December 2023 RZF=Zf
tZA=+-H
Non-derivative FiEeMaR
financial liabilities
Accounts and ENRECER
other payables 3 - 30,370 - - - 30,370 30,370
At 31 December 2022 RZFZZ&
+ZA=t-H
Non-derivative FiESMBR
financial liabilities
Accounts and ENRECERKR
other payables = 59,636 = = = 59,636 59,636

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments

The fair value of financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis:

the fair values of the listed equity investments
were determined based on their closing
prices per share quoted on the relevant stock
exchanges and quoted market bid prices as
at the end of the respective reporting periods,
more details are stated in note 17;

the fair values of Perpetual Notes were
determined based on the quoted prices
provided by the financial institution supported
by observable inputs; and

the fair values of unlisted investments were
based on fair values of quoted prices in the
open market or observable prices or using
valuation techniques, more details are stated in
note 17.
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29c. ERITAZAFEE®)

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

29c. Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (Continued)

FEELHEELFELEERL
FEE:

ARFETYEEATEFEZE
EGETERE AKE -

Fair value of Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis:

The Company has closely monitored the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs for fair value
measurements.

TREINBHERAFEFEGAK
BeRBEREEERTeREE
RFENTEERRAERNGKE
Rt REABB)ARAFEFE
FrElD 2 R FERBREKFEZER -

The following table gives information about how the
fair values of these financial assets are determined
(in particular, the valuation techniques and inputs
used), as well as the level of fair value hierarchy into
which the fair value measurements are categorised
(Levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the
inputs to the fair value measurements is observable.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
-4 58 24 @t
UsD’000 UsD’000 USD’000 UsD’000
G T£n T£n G
At 31 December 2023 R-E-=£+ZRA=+-A
Financial assets SHEE
Unlisted investments (classified FITREDBERLTESE  (Mog
as financial assets at FYTPL) BEEDHABR EBEE) (WHa) - - 315,397 315,397
Listed equity investments (classified ~ ETRARE (PBARLATEHE Mo b
as financial assets at FVTPL) BESHINBHZERERE) (Wb 36,802 - - 36,802
Perpetual Notes (classified as KAZE(DEBELTEIER Mo
investments in perpetual notes HERITNBRIAARERE) (Wi
at FVTPL) - 21,637 - 21,637
Perpetual Notes (classified as KAZE(DBERTARLTE (Moo
investments in perpetual notes HERESHHALVRAMN Wi
designated as at FVTOCI) LXAZERE) - 3,017 - 3,017
36,802 24,654 315,397 376,853
At 31 December 2022 R-F--E+-A=t-A
Financial assets SHEE
Unlisted investments (classified FITREDBERLTEHE  (Mosg
as financial assets at FVTPL) BEBOIARG ERER) (Wia - - 411830 411,830
Listed equity investments (classified ~ FHIRARE (PBAERATEHE (Mot
as financial assets at FYTPL) BEBOHABR EREE) (Wi 46,138 - - 46,138
Perpetual Notes (classified as KARB(ABAEEATENEE (Moo
investments in perpetual notes ERHHABE L KARBRE) (Wi
at FVTPL) — 22,586 = 22,586
Perpetual Notes (classified as KABEDBEERARLATE (Moo
investments in perpetual notes TERERRHALCRERN (Wi
designated as at FVTOCI) LKARERE) - 2,821 - 2,821
46,138 25,407 411,830 483,375
ErgReEEgRAE 20238% 181



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M wE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE T - =F+=-A=+—HILFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

29c. Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (Continued)
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Fair value of Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis:
(Continued)

Notes:

(a)

As at 31 December 2023, the unlisted investments
classified as financial assets at FVTPL include
unlisted private equity funds, unlisted hedge funds
and unlisted equity investments.

In accounting for the fair value measurement of
the investment in unlisted private equity funds, the
management of the Group has determined that the
reported net asset value of unlisted private equity
funds provided by the general partners represent
the fair value of the unlisted private equity funds.
The general partners used methodology based on
relevant comparable data whenever possible to
quantify the adjustment from cost or latest equity
financing price when an adjustment if necessary,
or to justify that the cost or the latest financing
price is still a proper approximation of fair value
of the underlying investments held by the unlisted
private equity funds in determining the net asset
value. The factors to be considered in general
partners’ assessment may require the exercise
of the judgment. The underlying investments of
USD256,951,000 (2022: USD290,247,000) held by
the private equity funds were valued using cost or
latest equity financing price without adjustment,
except for eighteen (2022: six) of the underlying
investments of approximately USD69.3 million (2022:
USD42.2 million) which were valued under market
approach (i.e. comparable companies approach) by
the general partners.

For the underlying investments valued using cost
or latest equity financing price without adjustment,
there is no significant unobservable input. The
higher the reported net assets values of the unlisted
private equity funds are, the higher the fair value of
the unlisted private equity funds is.
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29. 2 T A

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

29c. Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (Continued)

Fair value of Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis:
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(a)

(Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, for the eighteen (2022:
six) underlying investments of the unlisted private
equity funds using the market approach, the general
partner adopts methodologies with judgment
in considering assumptions those marketplace
participants would utilise in their estimate of fair
value. The significant unobservable inputs involved
in the valuation of eighteen underlying investments
of the unlisted investment funds using the market
approach are the revenue multiples or gross
merchandise value multiples and discount of lack of
marketability. The valuation of eleven out of eighteen
(2022: five out of six) underlying investment of the
unlisted private equity fund adopted the revenue
multiples of ranging from 1.0x to 7.2x (2022: 2.2x to
8.7x), and one underlying investment of the unlisted
private equity fund adopted the gross merchandise
value multiples of 1.5x to 27.3x (2022:0.7x) and
discount of lack of marketability of ranging
from 10.7% to 48.0% (2022: 15.0% to 29.1%)
respectively. The higher the revenue multiples or
gross merchandise value multiples and the lower
the discount of lack of marketability are, the higher
the fair value of the unlisted private equity funds
is. The sensitivity analysis has been determined
based on the exposure to significant unobservable
inputs of revenue multiples or gross merchandise
value multiples and discount of lack of marketability.
If the revenue multiples or gross merchandise
value multiples has been 1% higher/lower, the fair
value would increase/decrease by approximately
USD665,000 (2022: USD337,000); if the discount
of lack of marketability has been 100 basis points
higher/lower, the fair value would decrease/increase
by approximately USD835,000 (2022: USD435,000).
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

29c. Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (Continued)
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Fair value of Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis:
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(a)

(Continued)

In accounting for the fair value measurement
of the investment in unlisted hedge funds, the
management of the Group has determined that the
reported net asset values of the unlisted hedge
funds provided by the by financial institutions
represented the fair value of the unlisted hedge
funds. The factors to be considered in financial
institutions’ assessment may require the exercise of
judgment. The higher the reported net assets values
of the unlisted hedge funds are, the higher the fair
value of the unlisted hedge funds is.

As at 31 December 2023, for the fair value
measurement of the investment in six (2022: six)
unlisted equity investments were determined by
market approach with a combination of observable
and unobservable inputs and arrived at a valuation
conducted by an independent professional valuer
not connected to the Group. For the three (2022:
three) unlisted equity investment with carrying
value of approximately USD39,974,000 (2022:
USD23,575,000) measured under Guideline Public
Company Method under Market Approach and the
OPM. If the price-to-sales multiple and price-to book
multiple, respectively, has been 100 basis point
higher/lower, holding other inputs as constant, the
fair value would increase/decrease by approximately
USD504,000 (2022: USD212,000 or USD200,000).
If the expected volatility has been 300 basis point
higher/lower, holding other inputs as constant, the
fair value would decrease/increase by approximately
USD275,000 or USD259,000 (2022: USD6,000 or
USD11,000). If the expected initial public offering
probability has been 100 basis point higher/lower
and it would result in decrease/increase in the same
100 basis point in expected liquidation probability,
holding other inputs as constant, the fair value would
increase/decrease by approximately USD308,000
(2022: USD35,000).
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29. 2 T A

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

29c. Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (Continued)

Fair value of Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis:
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(a)

(Continued)

For the remaining three (31 December 2022:
three) unlisted equity investments with carrying
value of approximately USD13,424,000 (2022:
USD23,025,000) measured under Guideline Public
Company Method under Market Approach. If the
price-to-sales multiple and price-to book multiple,
respectively, has been 100 basis points higher/
lower, the fair value would increase/decrease by
approximately USD334,000 (2022: USD139,000).

The other details of the unlisted investments are
set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The fair value of listed equity investments with
standard terms and conditions and traded in
active liquid markets are determined with reference
to quoted market bid prices; except for the
shares which the listing of the shares had been
cancelled by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, the
management considered that the fair value was
remained as nil.

The fair value of Perpetual Notes included in
investments in perpetual notes at FVTPL and
designated as at FVTOCI is determined based
on the quoted price from the financial institutions
supported by observable inputs.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, there is a
transfer of unlisted equity shares of USD7,500,000
from level 3 to level 1 as they became listed equity
investments during the year. For the year ended 31
December 2022, there was no transfer among level
1,2 and 3.

29c. ERITAZAFEE®)
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

29c. Fair value measurements of financial 29c.

186

instruments (Continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements
of financial asset

Unlisted investments (classified as financial assets
at FVTPL)

29. 2 T A

ERTARAZAFEFE®)
PHEELSRAFEHEZHE

HLETREDEREAFETE
BREBEGINERZZTHEE)

UsSD’000
FTET
At 1 January 2022 N-—ZTBE-—%F—H—H 469,177
Purchases EE 47,419
Redemption & [ (8,532)
Return on capital & A [6 5 (4,910)
Loss recognised in profit or loss REREREIR (91,324)
At 31 December 2022 and R-—E-—%+-A=+—HxR
1 January 2023 —®-=%—H—H 411,830
Purchases BE 62,340
Redemption f& o (55,256)
Disposal & (272)
Transfer to level 1 HWEE—4L (7,500)
Return on capital = W NEIE (10,493)
Loss recognised in profit or loss REREREIR (85,252)
At 31 December 2023 R-F=-Z=%+=-HA=+—H 315,397

The fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities that are not measured at fair value on a
recurring basis:

o the fair value of other financial assets and
financial liabilities (excluding financial assets
at FVTPL) are determined in accordance with
generally accepted pricing models based on
discounted cash flow analysis or quoted price
when applicable.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts
of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values.
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29. €t T B (%)
29d. SRS ERERMEBERE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
29d. Financial assets and financial

liabilities offsetting

The disclosures set out in the tables below
include financial assets and financial liabilities
that are subject to an enforceable master netting
arrangement or similar agreement that covers
similar financial instruments that are either:

o offset in the Group’s consolidated statement of
financial position; or

° not offset in the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position as the offsetting
criteria are not met.

Under the agreement of continuous net settlement
made between the Group and Hong Kong Securities
Clearing Company Limited (“HKSCC”) and brokers,
the Group has a legally enforceable right to set
off the money obligations receivable and payable
with HKSCC and the Group intends to settle these
balances on a net basis.

In addition, the Group has a legally enforceable
right to set off the accounts receivable and payable
with its same retail customers in the Group’s
brokerage business (“brokerage clients”) that are
due to be settled on the same date with reference
to the settlement method set by the HKSCC and
the Group intends to settle these balances on a net
basis.

Except for balances which are due to be settled on
the same date which are being offset, amounts due
from/to HKSCC, brokers and brokerage clients that
are not to be settled on the same date, financial
collateral including cash and securities received by
the Group and deposits placed with HKSCC and
brokers do not meet the criteria for offsetting in the
consolidated statement of financial position since
the right of set-off of the recognised amounts is only
enforceable following an event of default.

TERABZHEREZATRFI AT
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 2. £t T H»)
29d. Financial assets and financial W] eHEERSHEERS
liabilities offsetting (Continued) (%)
Gross Net

amounts of  amounts of
recognised financial

financial assets  Related amounts not offset in
Gross liabilities presented the consolidated statement of
amounts of  set off in the in the financial position
recognised consolidated consolidated LRRGEHBRARA
financial ~ statement statement REZARRE
assets after  of financial  of financial Financial Collateral Net
impairment position position  instruments received amount

REEME RESHE

KRRAKSE  HRRRA
REACHED ZCEILR 2524@
SHAESE ARBE AEZFE  RHMIR CHERE HH
USD'000  USD'0O0  USD'000  USD'000  USD'000  USD'000
TER TER TER TER TER TER

As at 31 December 2023 RZF-Z%
+-B=+-H
Accounts receivable from the REBHRAEHH
business of dealing in securities B B 2,545 (438) 2,107 - (1,182) 925
As at 31 December 2022 R-E-Z
t-A=t-H
Accounts receivable from the REBRRAEHN
business of dealing in securities U3 2,166 (366) 1800 - (1,176) 624

188  G-RESOURCES GROUP LIMITED 2023 ANNUAL REPORT



B 75 3% FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T - =F+=-A=+—HILFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 2. 2R T H %)
29d. Financial assets and financial W] eHEERSHEERS
liabilities offsetting (Continued) (%)
Gross Net

amounts of  amounts of
recognised financial

financial liabilities  Related amounts not offset in
assets  presented the consolidated statement of
Gross set off in the in the financial position
amounts of consolidated  consolidated LERGEHBRARR
recognised  statement  statement REZRRRE
financial  of financial  of financial Financial Collateral Net
liabilities position position  instruments received amount

REEME RESHE

KREA  HRRA

BED KHZEHD  2ietR
SHARLE SMAZLE ARIFE  GMIR CHENR HH
USD'000  USD'0O0  USD'000  USD'000  USD'000  USD'000
TER TER TER TER TER TER

As at 31 December 2023 RZBZZ%
+ZA=t+-H
Accounts payable from the REBHRAEHH
business of dealing in securiies BB 29578 (348) 29,230 - - 29,230
As at 31 December 2022 A
t-A=t-H
Accounts payable from the REBERHEBH
business of dealing in securities B B 3 48,156 (366) 47790 - - 47790
The gross amounts of the recognised financial EVREEBGZEET BRI RE
assets and financial liabilities and their net amounts BERLMRERRAZEHREREE
as presented in the Group’s consolidated statement kemBE s @8k FEREH
of financial position, both of which have been RATHEREWRNENCSLEBLE
disclosed in the above tables, are measured as P HERELAZSE -

accounts receivable from, or payable to brokerage
clients and clearing house and brokers at amortised
cost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 E T - =F+-_A=+—HILFE

30. OPERATING LEASES 30. EEHE
The Group as a lessor AEEEAHBEAN
Undiscounted lease payments receivable on leases are HEREWHARMIREENKAET:
as follows:
2023 2022
—EC-=HF —F-Z
UsSD’000 USD’000
FERT FET
Not later than one year THE—F 1,055 1,448
Later than one year and not R —FENBBRBATF
later than five years — 1,057
1,055 2,505
31. OTHER COMMITMENTS 31. HE®E
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the RBERR  RNEBBUATNEB&AE:
following other commitments:
2023 2022
—EZ=HE —_E-=
USD’000 USD’000
FERT FE=T
Other commitments contracted for but  #t3F F MR EH L E
not provided for in the consolidated (EmRAKRATE
financial statements in respect TERHEHTAER
of capital contribution in unlisted ZTREE)DIHNER
investments which will be recognised R M BmEREZ
as financial assets at FVTPL Hy e 107,699 94,278
32. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 32. AEANTIESE

Emoluments to directors (being the key management
personnel compensation) are disclosed in note 11(a).
They do not fall within the definition of connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

190

G-RESOURCES GROUP LIMITED 2023 ANNUAL REPORT

Exe(MEZEREHM) WERLK
dl@)  EEFMETBRCEMRADE

UAZERHB I HAFBERH I INTE
gE -



33.

34.
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES 33. & Kk & # 5t &l
The Group participates in a Mandatory Provident Fund REEAEMBEAEES HEIBIERG
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) established under the MABSFERAIR AR E SR8 (4
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, for all BEitdl)) 2ESHEZEERTR
its employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF AFMEBNESEE  EDNBEIURAE
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group, in BrEE RBERESFTEHAD  EE
funds under the control of trustees. Under the rules of LAREBAEZEZRMBANMAMTRAZEER
MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each RERETE MR  KEEMBRE S S
required to make contributions to MPF Scheme at rates ZHE—EXARBRBEABESHEIELAT
specified in the rules. The only obligation of the Group e RE BB ALY R AT AE
with respect to MPF Scheme is to make the required BAOTERFEIEL ZHR -
contributions under the MPF Scheme. No forfeited
contributions are available to reduce the contributions
payable in future years.
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the total BE-_ZT-_=F+-A=T—HIEFE -
amount contributed by the Group to the MPF Scheme REERAESHEELHRLBELE
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss BRXRNB 2B E£BAR72,000ET(ZE
was USD72,000 (2022: USD124,000). = =% 1 124,000% ) °
RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES 4. MEEEFEEMEFBZHIR
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities TREINAEBEREZHAMEENEER
arising from financing activities, including both cash LM BIERCRIIFREES -
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing BREETHMEEANBENDARAEBiR
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future EHReRERNEERAMEZYMES
cash flow will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated MIRERIBERESTMARRIFASR -
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing
activities.
Lease
liabilities
HEER
UsSD’000
FEXx
At 1 January 2022 R-_ZE-—_F—H—H 139
Financing cash outflows BmERS R (63)
Write off Hh 58 (79)
Interest expenses R ERX 3

At 31 December 2022, 1 January 2023
and 31 December 2023

R-ZEZ—F+=-A=+—H0"
—E-=F—HF—HK
S =F+-A=1+—H —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 20283 B ZE T - =F+-_A=+—HILFE

35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 35. KATI 2 BIRAFT

192

OF THE COMPANY

2023 2022
—F=-= —T-=

Notes UsSD’000 USD'000
K it F=3x FE

NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERHEE
Property, plant and equipment Wz BEREE 2 5
Investments in subsidiaries REB AR ZRE — —
2 5

CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Other receivables He R 112 209
Amounts due from subsidiaries EULHT B A A BR 3K 1,562,263 1,520,344
Cash and cash equivalents HehMIReEEER 5,626 10,391
1,568,001 1,530,944
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBRB

Other payables EvEMNER 302 460
Amounts due to subsidiaries FE 1 B B A R] BR X 176,682 130,048
176,984 130,508
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFE 1,391,017 1,400,436
1,391,019 1,400,441

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAREE
Share capital fix 2= 26 598 598
Reserves fi 17 a 1,390,421 1,399,843
Total equity s 1,391,019 1,400,441

The statement of financial position of the Company
was approved and authorised for issue by the Board of
Directors on 27 March 2024 and is signed on its behalf

by:

Leung Oi Kin Leung Wai Yiu, Malcoln
RIS 2 RIETE
Director Director

BE BF
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35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Note:

B 75 3% FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T - =F+=-A=+—HILFE

5. XABZ2MBHRRETR »

Bt -
(A) RESERVES (A) 8
Capital
Share redemption Contributed  Exchange Retained
premium reserve surplus reserve earnings Total
4
BHiaE BORE SABR EXfE 2 RIERN @t
usD’000 UsD’000 usD’000 usD’000 usD’000 usD’000
TER TER TER TER TER TER
At 1 January 2022 R-F-Z-%-H-H 1,023,183 212 57,891 (6,231) 327,747 1,402,802
Profit for the year FRFE — — — — 4,096 4,096
Exchange realignment  [& X & — — — (147) — (147)
Total comprehensive ~ £R2E(HX)/
(expense)/income ON-X
for the year — — — (147) 4,096 3,949
Final 2021 dividend BRAD K
recognised as T -ERERE
distribution — — — — (6,908) (6,908)
At 31 December 2022 RZTZZH
and 1 January 2023 +Z-HA=+-HEX
—¥-=%¥-F-H 1,023,183 212 57,891 (6,378) 324,935 1,399,843
Profit for the year FRFE — — — — 493 493
Exchange realignment  [E X J1 % — — — (3,005) — (3,005)
Total comprehensive ~ FRZE(F%),/
(expense)fincome WA BE
for the year = = = (3,005) 493 (2,512)
Final 2022 dividend BRBA KD
recognised as ZTZZEREBRE
distribution — — - - (6,910) (6,910)
At 31 December 2023 WRZ-F=-Z=%
+=A=+-8 1,023,183 212 57891 (9,383) 318518 1,390,421
The contributed surplus of the Company includes (i) the KRR Z BN BB EIE ()M E DR
difference between the consolidated shareholders’ funds of AREIRBEARGERRE S HER
the subsidiaries at the date at which they were acquired by —NNOAERRB R EWATKEEA
the Company, and the nominal amount of the Company’s BEWEMmMETZARAROEELE
shares issued for the acquisition at the time of the Group B(NE-NAANFETRESEME
reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s E BB RINR-ZEZAENART
shares in 1994; (ii) the surplus arising from the Group T FRNARANEHEE RS -
reorganisation in 1998; and (iii) the surplus arising from
capital reorganisations in June 2009 and in June 2022.
Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as BREEBRECAN-FREE)UER
amended), the contributed surplus account of the $) $’&ﬂ2%ﬁl)\§§ﬁ%ﬁ§ oIk -
Company is available for distribution. However, the R TIMER - M ARET5F
Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a &/)Eﬁl]x’* B RERMARKELD
distribution out of contributed surplus if: /JK
(a) itis, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its (@) AREBAERRDIKEELER
liabilities as they become due; or FEEME 5
(b) the realisable value of its assets would thereby (b) ARREEZAZREERDIK
be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its BRLOZERBERBEITRA
issued share capital and share premium accounts. EBRmDEER B -
The reserve available for distribution to shareholders R-ZZF_=F+_HA=+—0 Aty
at 31 December 2023 is USD376,409,000 (2022: E T IR R B %7%376,409@00%75(:
USD382,826,000). T~ — 4 :382,826,000%7T) ©

mH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMEN
GEUMBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 20283 B ZE T - =F+-_A=+—HILFE

36. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
General information of subsidiaries

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December
2023 and 31 December 2022 are as follows:

TS

36. T EMBAT

MEBASZ—REH

N
R
N

—E-ZF+ A=+ -HRZT=-Z

—_— =

Ft_A=+t—HAZZEWMBRRIFEN

T
Place of incorporation/ Issued and fully paid Proportion of ownership interests/
Name of subsidiary operation share capital voting power held by the Company Principal activities
EREL/ . %3
HEATEE BENY BEARYURRE BEEES /RERZUY TEEH
Directly Indirectly
EE k3
3142. @23 3112, ZO%é 3112.2023  31.12. 2022
=T Y R =T N
=[] =t-H =+-8 =t-H
% % % %
Abner Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands UsD1 - - 100 100 Real property
(“BVI")/Hong Kong
(HK) ,
ABRAHED 127 BiE
(XBRZEE])
Bl
Abundant Idea Limited BVIHK UsD1 - - 100 100 Real property
ARRRBER/ER 1%L BihE
Ace Emperor Limited BVI/HK USD1 - S 100 100 Real property
AERRBEE/ER E BiE
Alpha Trend International Limited BVI USD7,390 - - 97.6 97.6  Investment
ABRAES 730X T 53
Charming Ocean Investments Limited BVI USDeé,700 - - 100 100 Investment
ABRAES 6,700% T 53
Classic Idea Investments Limited BVI UsD1 - - 100 100 Fund investment
KREXES iEI HekE
Data Giant International Limited BVI USD1 - = 100 100 Fund investment
ABRAES 1% HeRE
Enhanced Securities Limited HK HKD80,000,000 - - = 100 Dealing in securities
EREEFARLA E) 80,000,000/ 7T BEHEE
Fabulous Stage Limited BVI USD8,200 - - 100 100 Investment
RERXES 8,200% T RE
Funderstone Asset Management (HK) Limited HK HKD400,000 - - 100 100 Asset management
R 4000007 1T RUEEEER
Funderstone Finance Limited HK HKD5,000,000 - - 100 100 Money lending
BE 5,000,000% 7T HiE
Funderstone Futures Limited HK USD2,000,000 - - 100 100 Dealing in futures contracts, advising on futures
. B contracts and asset management
i 2,000,000% 7T HEANRS RERAORHEAR
REEEER
Funderstone Securities Limited HK HKD2,000,000,000 - - 100 100 Dealing in securities, provision of securities
margin financing and advising on
securities and corporate finance, and asset
management ‘
R 2,000,000,000% 7T #8525 REBSRESHARRERR
BEBARMEARRHEAEEE
Funderstone Securities (Nominees) Limited HK HKD10,000 - - 100 100 Provision of trust and company services
BB 10,000 7T REEERAARE
GC HCM (BVI) Limited BVI USsD2,000 - - 100 100 Securities investment
KERXES 2,000% 7T BHRE
Global Access Development Limited HK HKD1 = S 100 100 Money lending
tEERERAT i BT Wi
Great Heart Holdings Limited BVI USD1 - = 100 100 Fund investment
ABRAES 1% HeR%E
Maximum Gains Group Limited BVI usD1 - - 100 100 Fund investment
ABRAES 1% HeR%E
Max Strength Holdings Limited BVI UsD1 - = 100 100 Investment
ABRAES E RE
Precise Prestige (HK) Limited HK HKD1 - - 100 100 Investment
B 1R RE
Prime Classic Holdings Limited BVI usD1 - - 100 100 Securities investment
RERZHES AEYH BHRE
Ravi Global Limited BVI/HK UsD1 - - 100 100 Securities investment
ABRRES/FE iEF EriE
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36. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 36. TEMBAT @)
General information of subsidiaries (Continued) MBASIZ—KREH @)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December RZEZ=F+_A=+—HARkR=ZFT==
2023 and 31 December 2022 are as follows: (Continued) EJF A=+—BHZFEWEBERRFBW
(#8)

Place of incorporation/  Issued and fully paid Proportion of ownership interests/
Name of subsidiary ?peralion share capital voting power heI;d\ lly the Company Principal activities
HEASER BENY ERTRURKRE ﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁ/hﬁﬁtzthﬂl TEEH

Diggly Indriﬂr;:lly

3112 2023 3112.2022  3112.2023  31.12. 2022

== —5-- —g-= —F--
b=t t=h +ZR =
=+-8 =t-H =+-H =t-AR

% % % %

Resilient Global Group Limited BVI usD1 - - 100 100 Fund Investment

ERRAES %7 ES3 e
Royal Glorious Limited HK HKD1 100 100 = - Treasury management
BEERAR B 17 HEER
Smart Blend Limited BVI usD1 - - 100 100 Fund investment

RERLHES 1% HeR%E
Smart Blooming Limited BVI UsD1 - - 100 100 Fund investment

EBRAES E3 EbRE
Smart League (Canada) Investments Limited Canada CADO.01 - - 100 100 Real property

ngx 00107 EiE
Smart League (HK) Limited HK HKD1 - S 100 100 Investment

Bk 7 8%
Starry View Global Limited BVIHK UsSD1 - - 100 100 Securities investment

ABRLBEE/EE 1% BEHRA
Summer Chance Limited (Note 17(g)) BVI USD1,700 - - 100 929  Investment
(I 17(g) EERANE 1,700% 7T %4
Sunshine Hero Global Limited BVIHK usD1 - - 100 100 Securities investment

ERRABS/ER %7 EHRE
Well Advantage Global Limited BVI UsD1 - = 100 100 Fund investment

KRELES 1% EERE
Win Genius Investments Limited HK HKD1 - - 100 100 Securities investment
KR EBRAF % T8 BHEBA
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, FREVWARNEETARAAETIEZTERE
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally B2 EREEZAEEWNB AT o ANA
affected the results or assets of the Group. To give details FEERAE EHETHBATZHE
of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors @SERANRILE - LI BEHBHEH
of the Company, result in particulars of excessive length. mIEITREREAREFRBE X - HIt -
Additionally, they believed that no non-controlling Ny SR IE I AR S o
interests were material to the Group, and therefore, the
non-controlling interests were not disclosed.
None of the subsidiaries of the Group had any debt ANEFWBATIHMENKEEHARKIERN
securities outstanding at the end of the reporting period FREEBEETRNREEERES -
or at any time during the year.
The zero balance in the investments in associates is for REENT IR BN EEHERZRA
identification purposes only. B oo
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AFERGBE

(A) RESULTS

(A) ¥4

For the year ended 31 December

BE+-A=t+-BL%E

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
ZE-NE ZECEE —Fz- —F-C —¥-=%
USD'000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 UsD’000
Tin TER TE TE TER
Revenue g 27,110 54,215 63,165 26,873 89,059
Profit/(loss) before taxation BEARE/(BB) 43492 73,167 69,917 (89,434) 7,087
Taxation iR 6 ) 4 = —
Profit/(loss) for the year ERFE/ (BR) 43,498 73,163 69,921 (89,434) 7,087
Profit/(loss) for the year THATEEER
attributable to; M/ (B8 :
Owners of the Company KAREEA 43,566 73,163 69,878 (89,927 7,107
Non-controlling interests FERER (68) — 43 493 (20)
43498 73,163 69,921 (89,434) 7,087
b ==
(B) ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (B) EER AR
As at 31 December
Rt=R=t+-8H
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
ZE-NF ZECEF ZEI-F - 2 —8C=%
USD'000 USD’000 USD’000 UsSD’000 UsD’000
Tin TER TETL TERL TER
Total assets BEE 1551417 1,631,361 1,690,826 1,600,271 1,568,243
Total liabilities BafE (57,745) (60,052) (53,039) (60,140) (31,279)
1,493,672 1,571,309 1,637,787 1,540,131 1,536,964
Equity attributable to owners of AR FEAHA
the Company iR 1,493,672 1571,309 1,635,234 1,538,197 1,536,795
Non-controlling interests FERER — — 2,553 1,034 169
1,493,672 1,571,309 1,637,787 1,540,131 1,536,964
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